

Bold Ideas for State Action

By the Center for American Progress

May 2018



Bold Ideas for State Action

By the Center for American Progress

May 2018

Contents

- 1 Introduction and summary
- 4 Economy
- 17 Education
- 30 Early childhood
- 36 Health care
- 43 Restoring democracy
- 50 Clean energy and the environment
- 57 Women and families
- 64 Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer rights
- 67 Immigration
- 72 Criminal justice
- 79 Gun violence prevention
- 84 Conclusion
- 85 Endnotes

Introduction and summary

The past several decades have not been kind to America's working families. Costs have skyrocketed while wages remain stagnant. Many of the jobs that have returned in the wake of the Great Recession have often offered lower wages and benefits, leaving Americans without college degrees particularly vulnerable. Fissures in the country are more apparent than ever, as access to opportunity is radically different between communities; the wealthiest grow richer while working families find themselves increasingly strapped. As a result of perpetual underinvestment in infrastructure, education, and other domestic priorities, the future for too many Americans looks increasingly grim, unequal, and uncertain.

Federal policies passed or implemented in the past year will largely result in expanded inequality, not in rebuilding the middle class. The new tax law, as pushed by the Trump administration and congressional leadership, gives billions of dollars in tax cuts to companies and the wealthiest Americans instead of providing further support to those who need it most. As was true in the 2000s and more recently in states such as Kansas, showering tax giveaways on the wealthiest individuals and corporations does not create jobs or raise wages. Rather, when the baseless promises of economic growth do not materialize, the result is lower revenues and, ultimately, major cuts to critical investments in areas such as schools, infrastructure, and public services. While efforts to completely repeal the Affordable Care Act (ACA) were blocked, the repeal of the individual mandate will drive up average premiums 10 percent for millions in 2019 and result in 13 million fewer people having health insurance by 2025.² The Trump administration has taken steps that increase costs for homeowners, weaken protections for workers, and make it harder for Americans to save for retirement. Across every federal department, this administration and its allies in Congress are rolling back the progress made over the past eight years to raise the wages of ordinary workers and rebuild middle-class wealth.

This profoundly misguided approach to governing is not simply limited to economic policy. Policies that protect clean air and water, improve educational outcomes from early childhood to college, ensure access to affordable health care, and much more have all been undone.

States will not escape the consequences of these unwise choices. Efforts by the Trump administration to sabotage the ACA could dramatically increase health insurance premiums in many states. Lost federal revenue and further attacks on federal fiscal investments will put greater strain on state and local government budgets, just as changes in the federal tax code could make it more difficult for states and local communities to raise revenue to meet their needs. In turn, this will only cause deeper cuts to education, health care, public safety, infrastructure, environmental protections, and programs that help families maintain basic living standards—especially because, unlike the federal government, states and localities must balance their budgets every year. They face strict tradeoffs, which are made even more challenging when the economy weakens and needs rise.

With the federal government currently mired in a state of dysfunction and reactionary politics, states must take the lead in repairing our economic system and helping people secure good jobs, good wages, and strong and healthy communities.

The good news is that Americans are ready for states to take the reins of leadership and offer a new vision for shared prosperity. States have long been conceptualized as the "laboratories of democracy," in the words of former U.S. Supreme Court Justice Louis Brandeis,³ and Americans have greater confidence in their state and local governments than they do in the federal government's legislative and executive branches.4

Americans understand that many of the policies they desire in terms of jobs and economic growth, public health, good schools, and a high standard of living with rising prosperity ultimately derive from the actions of state governments and their leaders. Likewise, when state leaders are not responsive to the needs of their citizens, they quickly find themselves facing angry and energized voters seeking to rectify the situation.

In showing that they can take action, states can help chart a pathway forward for all of America. They can again prove that government is essential to guarantee American workers middle-class opportunities, the promise of the American dream, and access to safer, healthier communities.

Indeed, many states and localities are already taking up such progressive policies on their own. Oregon has moved forward on a low-cost retirement savings plan for private-sector workers despite losing a federal blessing from the Department

of Labor. Massachusetts is one of several states banning questions about salary history during hiring as a way to reduce the likelihood of perpetuating pay discrimination.⁶ And over the past several years, numerous states and cities have raised their minimum wage even as congressional action has long been overdue.⁷

To that end, the Center for American Progress presents in this report a suite of bold policies that serve as a starting point for states and localities looking for progressive ideas in 2018 and beyond. Rather than a comprehensive list, this menu reflects new ideas that build on proposals already at the core of progressive governance across the country, such as raising the minimum wage and adopting the ACA's Medicaid expansion.

The following ideas focus on a series of straightforward goals in line with CAP's principles as a progressive organization. How do we create better paying jobs for more people? How do we provide more economic security and increase economic mobility for lower- and middle-income families? How do we reduce racial and ethnic divisions in our society and ensure that all people are treated fairly and equitably with full protection of our nation's civil rights laws? How do we build cleaner and healthier communities and reduce our overall impact on the planet?

We at CAP harbor no illusions that it will be quick or easy for state governments to enact all of these policies immediately. But we believe that the American people will support an agenda and state leadership that focus on improving the economy and putting communities and states on a more sustainable path to growth and prosperity.

Economy

To address the significant economic challenges and trends laid out above, we propose a suite of state actions that can increase Americans' bargaining power and voice at work, expand and improve worker training, improve competition in our markets, and help more Americans achieve economic security in their retirement.

Central to all of these actions is the need to raise Americans' wages. While the household incomes of those in the bottom 40 percent of the income distribution have barely grown faster than inflation for the past 40 years, incomes for the top 1 percent have more than tripled.8 Four decades ago, CEOs earned roughly 30 times what the typical worker made; now CEOs make around 275 times more than the typical worker. This is a bad situation not just for workers but also for the country's future economic growth and democracy.¹⁰

A critical starting point is to raise the minimum wage. The federal minimum wage, which remains at \$7.25 per hour, has not seen an increase in nearly a decade, leaving workers with declining purchase power due to inflation. Sen. Patty Murray (D-WA) and Rep. Bobby Scott (D-VA) have introduced legislation to increase the federal minimum wage to \$15 per hour and phase out the current exception for tipped workers.¹¹ But with the continued prospect of congressional inaction, 29 states, the District of Columbia, and many localities have already raised their own minimum wages above \$7.25.12

The ideas below are additional steps states can take to raise wages and increase working families' economic security. Strengthening workers' ability to speak up in their workplaces and come together to bargain collectively across a large company or even an industry will raise wages. Equipping workers with skills can allow them to increase a firm's productivity, and revenues that could then go toward higher wages. Enforcing antitrust laws and ensuring competitive markets can prevent firms from using their market dominance to suppress wages. And higher wages will allow workers to save more for retirement, particularly if policymakers provide easier ways for them to do so.

Restore basic employee protections such as overtime

The attack on worker power has not been confined to the right to bargain. Powerful interests have sought to undermine basic employment law protections, such as the minimum wage and overtime. Federal law guarantees overtime pay for many workers, requiring companies to pay workers 1.5 times their regular pay when they work more than 40 hours in a week. One of the bases for determining who earns overtime pay is a salary threshold, which is set by federal regulation. However, over the past 40 years, these protections have eroded for many working families.

Before President Barack Obama left office, the administration conducted a thorough review process of overtime regulations—raising the threshold to \$47,476 per year and requiring automatic increases indexed to inflation. The last time the threshold was updated, prior to the Obama administration's attempt to do so, President George W. Bush's administration set the threshold far below historic levels in real terms and did not index it to keep pace with inflation. 13 Under the Bush-era regulations, workers making as little as \$23,660 per year could be denied overtime pay.

The Economic Policy Institute (EPI) estimated that a total of 12.5 million workers would benefit from the strengthened protections under the Obama rule, including 6.4 million women, 4.2 million parents, 1.5 million African Americans, 2 million Hispanics, and 4.5 million Millennials. 14 Workers in Southern and Midwestern states—including West Virginia, Arkansas, South Carolina, Florida, Tennessee, and Idaho—would disproportionately benefit from the rule change. 15 Overall, the Obama rule would have increased working-class wages by \$12 billion over the next decade.16

But the Trump administration is undermining the new standard so that far fewer Americans are protected. It has let a district court put the rule in legal limbo and is working to reduce the salary threshold. This is a direct assault on the middle class.

Progressive state policymakers can step in by passing laws that establish their own stronger overtime standards, since federal regulations serve merely as a floor for protections. For example, even before the Obama regulations were put forward, New York and California had standards in place that were higher than the Bush-era threshold.

CAP and EPI are working together to push back on the federal rollback efforts and to produce state-specific data and tools that can be used to demonstrate the importance of overtime protections to workers by state. This includes an overtime tracker that keeps a running count of lost overtime wages to date by state and social media graphics showing state-specific effects.¹⁷ As part of this work, EPI has also produced model state legislation to ensure that middle-class families are covered by overtime protections by adopting the Obama-era threshold, set at the 40th percentile of weekly earnings of full-time, nonhourly workers in the lowestwage census region.¹⁸ Alternatively, states could adapt the standard to be based on the state's own census region or state-level statistics or set the threshold to a multiple of the state's minimum wage, as is the case in California.

Expand apprenticeships

Giving workers the skills to succeed in a rapidly changing economy boosts economic competitiveness and, ultimately, helps raise wages. One of the best ways to increase skills is through a form of worker training known as apprenticeships in which students earn as they learn. Apprenticeship programs consist of on-thejob training that is supported by related classroom instruction, often paid for by an employer, union, or other program sponsor. No longer the reserve of only the building trades, apprenticeships offer a pathway for a wide range of workers to gain the training they need to succeed in a modern economy. At the heart of apprenticeships is being paid to increase one's skills especially with the knowledge that a job will be there after completion of the apprenticeship. While increasingly used in a wide range of sectors, this model is particularly useful for the nearly twothirds of the American workforce who do not have a bachelor's degree.

As CAP discussed in its brief "How States Are Expanding Apprenticeship," states can take many steps to expand apprenticeship programs. 19 In recent years, several states have instituted new policies to help broaden these training programs, including providing funding for the training or education portion of an apprenticeship program, providing support and incentives to employers to participate in apprenticeship programs, and developing youth programs that begin in high school. As states make these investments, it is also essential that the policies instituted ensure equitable access to these programs for underrepresented groups—such as women, people of color, individuals with disabilities, and people with criminal records—who often face barriers to apprenticeship enrollment and completion.²⁰

States can help cover the cost of the related classroom-based instruction or even provide more direct financial incentives to apprenticeship sponsors. While employers operating apprenticeship programs know that their benefits can far outweigh the costs, the costs can be a substantial barrier, with one 2016 qualitative study examining programs that range from \$25,000 to \$250,000 per apprentice.²¹

Since the 1970s, California has provided annual appropriations to community colleges that provide related instruction. More recently, the state increased funding for the program; part of the money will fund pre-apprenticeship programs and other innovations in apprenticeship. The state has also developed an apprenticeship training pilot program. In 2014, Iowa enacted legislation to supply training grants to sponsors of the Registered Apprenticeship program. Grantees may use the grants to subsidize the costs of related instruction and to pay for equipment or other costs associated with maintaining an apprenticeship program.²² South Carolina's Apprenticeship Carolina program has generated a more-than-tenfold expansion in apprenticeship programs over the past decade. The state provides a \$1,000 tax credit per apprentice, and consultants to help shepherd employers through the process of starting a program. In addition, apprentices obtain their related classroom instruction from technical colleges across the state.²³

States may also offer youth apprenticeship programs that begin in high school. For example, Georgia and Wisconsin have had youth apprenticeship systems in place since the 1990s. More recently, in 2017, Colorado launched CareerWise Colorado, a statewide youth apprenticeship program. CareerWise acts as an intermediary that works with the business community and educational institutions to develop high-school based apprenticeship programs. Students participate in twoto four-year programs, dividing their time between high school and community college coursework, training that takes place at a center, and on-the-job training with an employer. Student apprentices earn postsecondary credits and may even earn an associate degree by the end of the program.²⁴

Boost families' incomes by creating or expanding state earned income tax credits

The earned income tax credit (EITC) supplements the earnings of low-paid workers, promoting work while helping families meet basic needs and protecting them from poverty. At the federal level, the EITC is a fully refundable credit that is based on a family's earnings and family composition. The EITC is especially important given the stagnation of real wages for workers in the bottom of

the income distribution. It helps families meet basic household needs or costs associated with working, such as transportation and child care. The EITC has also proven to have many beneficial effects for the children in low-income households, including reduced poverty, better health, increased educational attainment, and higher earnings in adulthood.²⁵

An increasing number of states have adopted state-level EITCs, which augment the many benefits of the federal credit. Overall, state tax systems tend to be regressive, taxing those with lower incomes more as a share of their income than those with higher incomes.²⁶ State-level EITCs help make state taxes less regressive, relieving some of the tax burden on low-income families.

Three states adopted state EITCs in 2017, and several other states expanded existing credits. Currently, 29 states and the District of Columbia offer state EITCs. In 23 states and the district, the EITC is refundable, meaning that families can receive the full value of the credit even if it exceeds their state income tax liability; in the other six, the EITC is nonrefundable, so the credit reduces a family's income tax liability but no further than zero.²⁷ Most states directly tie their EITC to a percentage of the federal EITC, which makes it very easy for states to administer.²⁸

Regrettably, the recent federal tax overhaul missed the opportunity to strengthen the federal EITC and, in fact, gradually reduces the credit's value over time due to changes to inflation adjustments. States can take the lead in this area by establishing state-level EITCs, by making their EITCs refundable, or by increasing their value.

State policymakers should look to recent examples of EITC expansions. Hawaii, Montana, and South Carolina, for example, established state EITCs for the first time in 2017. California created its EITC in 2015 and expanded it in 2017 to reach 1 million more workers by allowing self-employed workers to qualify and by raising the income level that qualifies families for the credit. Minnesota built upon recent expansions of its EITC by extending eligibility to younger workers, ages 21 to 24. And the District of Columbia recently expanded its EITC for workers without children in the home to 100 percent of the federal credit, helping make up for the fact that such workers currently receive a very minimal federal EITC. The district also provides one of the strongest EITCs for working families with children, worth 40 percent of the federal credit.

EITC expansions and minimum wage increases should be viewed as complementary policies to lift the incomes of low-wage workers; state policymakers should consider adopting them in tandem.³⁰

Raise wages industrywide with wage boards

The National Labor Relations Act, passed in 1935, established a framework for workers at a business to choose to form or join a union and to collectively bargain for higher wages and better working conditions. Yet over time, this structure has been weakened by repeated attacks by businesses in the courts and state legislatures and as a result of a "fissured workplace" in which businesses subcontract work, hire independent contractors, or move toward a franchise model.³¹

While federal law must be bolstered to give workers a stronger voice in their workplaces, state and local governments can level the playing field by establishing wage boards to raise wages. These boards or commissions take a step toward multiemployer bargaining by bringing together workers, businesses, and the government to set minimum labor standards for entire industries and occupations.³² Federal law allows this, since states and cities may set minimum wages and other working standards above federal minimums and use a variety of processes to set these standards.³³ Wage boards can complement efforts to set high, across-the-board minimum wages and to reinforce traditional firm-level bargaining.

Wage boards for an industry or occupation could set wage floors and other labor standards—such as benefits, training, and leave—higher than federal or state minimums and would base their decisions on economic and social factors such as productivity, the skill level of the work, fairness, and regional cost of living.³⁴

This concept is not new. The Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) of 1938 took a similar approach by establishing industry committees that made recommendations for industry minimum wages to the Department of Labor. 35 While federal industry committees were phased out, similar wage boards or commissions still exist today at the state and local levels. New York, California, and New Jersey have laws in place that enable the creation of wage boards through executive action.³⁶ For example, California's Industrial Welfare Commission has issued orders that set standards for both specific industries and occupations,³⁷ and in 2015, a wage board in New York raised the minimum wage for employees in the fast food industry to \$15 per hour.³⁸

Other states and cities could pass legislation to create wage boards, and neighboring states could even come together to create regional standards for their workers.³⁹ These bodies could call hearings where firms, employer associations, workers, and labor organizations would all be able to testify about what they feel should be included in any minimum standards. Preference should be given to the most representative employers' association and labor organization to encourage industries to organize themselves in a way conducive to multiemployer bargaining. Firms could also be required to disclose relevant information—such as current hours, wage rates, benefits, and profits—to the commission.

To support and expand the work of these tripartite wage boards or commissions, state and local governments can promote and fund joint labor-management committees that connect multiple firms and employees in an industry or sector. An example of this is the Minnesota Area Labor-Management Committee Grant Program, which funds area or industry councils that improve labor-management relations in a given area or industry. 40 One of the funded councils is the Labor-Users-Contractors Council, which brings together members of the construction industry to work on issues including safety, recruitment, and apprenticeship programs.⁴¹

Empower workers previously excluded from bargaining

The National Labor Relations Act (NLRA) sets the rules of the road for how most private-sector employees can join or form unions, which generally take place at a firm level. Where that federal law does not currently apply—such as for agricultural workers, domestic workers, public-sector workers, and independent contractors—cities and states can fill the void. Since about one-fifth of private-sector workers are not governed by the National Labor Relations Act, there could be significant room for improvement through this process.⁴²

Cities and states should allow this subset of workers not covered by the NLRA to unionize and bargain collectively. Many states provide public-sector workers with bargaining rights. 43 California has granted bargaining rights to agricultural workers, and a number of states have done so with independent home health care workers. 44 Likewise, the city of Seattle has established a bargaining structure to allow for-hire drivers, classified as independent contractors, to collectively negotiate with their companies. 45 California has gone so far as to actively promote collective bargaining for agricultural workers through its Agricultural Labor Relations Board that requires mandatory mediation in certain cases during the bargaining process for these workers' collective bargaining agreements. 46 And a few states even structure bargaining at the state level rather than at the individual firm level, such as Missouri for its home care workers who are funded by Medicaid.⁴⁷

Ideally, state and local governments would promote regional or sectoral bargaining for private-sector workers exempted from NLRA protections. This model would be a tripartite commission like the wage boards described previously, but it could incorporate more features of traditional collective bargaining. For example, these commissions could require that workers vote for who represents them on the board; give the most representative worker organizations preferential access to board processes; allow workers to express their support or disapproval of the final decision; or even require direct negotiations between workers and firms while providing for arbitration of the final contract and extending the terms of the contract to firms that did not participate.

Open markets by combating anti-competitive practices

There is growing evidence that businesses have been growing larger and more dominant over the past several decades. Indicators point to rising market power and rent extraction across industry sectors. 48 These include increasing concentration in sectors from health care to agriculture; supranormal profits especially in pharmaceuticals and the tech sector; and a widening gap between corporate profits and investment. There has also been a strong decline in the rate of new business starts and fewer publicly listed firms.⁴⁹ Increased concentration and market power can stifle innovation, lead to higher prices, and mean lower wages for workers.

States have long recognized that competition is critical for lower prices, higher quality services, and innovation, as well as better jobs and higher wages. But competition also ensures the diversity of economic power critical to maintaining an open and accountable political system. States whose economies are dominated by only a small number of giant firms are at risk of capture and corruption.

In the report "Reviving Antitrust," CAP laid out a series of recommendations to improve competition policy nationally.⁵⁰ Proposals include stronger merger enforcement by the Federal Trade Commission and the Department of Justice through clearer presumptions and verifiable efficiencies, greater efforts at transparency, and accountability through the creation of continuous data collection on post-merger effects and enforcement patterns.

Yet states do not have to wait for the federal government to act; most already have a wide range of powers under their own state competition and business practice laws, as well as long track records of enforcement. While states already have many tools at their disposal to police mergers and anti-competitive conduct, the following are a few approaches to make such enforcement more effective:

- Police labor monopsony and wage collusion. There is growing evidence of monopsony across local labor markets.⁵¹ Firms in highly concentrated industries may be able to set prices on inputs, such as labor, that are below competitive levels. Such concentration can also make it easier to collude with other large firms to set wages at an agreed-upon level. States can lead in challenging these practices by investigating labor supply elasticities and buyer concentration within various markets, prosecuting wage collusion, and passing laws against the use of anti-competitive, noncompete agreements.⁵²
- Form multistate antitrust coalitions. Multistate litigation is not new, and states often work together to bring antitrust cases. In 2017, for instance, 11 states petitioned the U.S. Supreme Court to consider an antitrust case against American Express Co. 53 Presently, the National Association of Attorneys General provides one such forum. But state enforcement divisions could take steps to institutionalize coordination with other states to further maximize resources and broaden coverage for noncriminal cases in which federal agencies neglect to bring challenges.
- Improve administration. States need larger budgets and more staff in their antitrust divisions to perform comprehensive investigations into market power abuses or to challenge the most resource-intensive mergers. It is sometimes the case that other concerns can supersede antitrust considerations within state attorneys general offices. However, the concerning trends of rising market power, its impact on local labor markets, and the possibility of more permissive federal enforcement means states must take on a larger role in policing markets. In addition to more funding, states could create a position for a lead competition advocate to better coordinate competition initiatives across state agencies, drawing on a network of sector experts to signal disconcerting mergers or anticompetitive conduct.
- Scrutinize smaller acquisitions. Smaller deals can escape oversight by both federal and state authorities. As a recent report in Health Affairs shows, small physician acquisitions, while detrimental to localities and states, often evade investigation due to their size.⁵⁴ States are equipped to identify small acquisitions within

critical sectors such as health care, have better knowledge of local markets, and may be freer than the federal government to bring action. 55 One approach would be to institutionalize a simple and tailored reporting process for small acquisitions in critical sectors with a history of anti-competitive outcomes.

Enable entrepreneurs to overcome inequality

Strong antitrust enforcement will help open markets. But for entrepreneurs to seize these market opportunities, they will need to overcome significant challenges created by the growing inequality of wealth in modern America. As CAP discussed in its report "A Progressive Agenda for Inclusive and Diverse Entrepreneurship," small business provides middle-class economic security for millions of Americans, but that pathway is highly linked to pre-existing access to wealth. 56 As wealth has grown more unequal, America is increasingly losing its entrepreneurs: New business creation has been on a long-term decline that began in the early 2000s. To start a business, one needs to have not only an idea or innovation but also certain business skills, access to mentorship networks, and a sufficient amount of capital. The latter three are all closely tied to pre-existing wealth or access to wealth.

State and local governments can play a significant role countering wealth inequality's part in stymying small business as the route to the American dream. Many states operate state small business lending programs that either directly lend or work with community lenders to take on additional risk for those with otherwise insufficient wealth, especially collateral. Congress should reauthorize and expand the State Small Business Credit Initiative, begun following the 2008 financial crisis, to help states do more along those lines.

States and localities, through their management of the community college system, also can play key roles in supporting the skills and networks that small business owners need to succeed. Training and mentorship opportunities organized through community colleges can make a big difference in whether entrepreneurs succeed or fail.

States and localities should also build on the start-up-in-a-day movement initiated by the Obama administration and the National League of Cities to encourage cities to simplify the licensing process so that entrepreneurs can obtain the permits necessary to create a new business in one day. Dozens of cities have participated

in this annual contest, ranging from Champaign, Illinois, to Riverside, California; from St. Louis, Missouri, to Boston, Massachusetts; and many more in between. But even more cities should participate. With the support and participation of states, these programs can truly be one-stop shops enabling entrepreneurs to both access services and meet state and local licensing requirements quickly. Whether these programs are online or at a physical location, states and localities can play a role in overcoming the challenges would-be entrepreneurs face in a world of federal withdrawal from support for small business.

Create a subsidized jobs program

Certain groups of workers have been disproportionately excluded from job growth during the economic recovery—and for some, elevated rates of joblessness can be expected to persist even when the state and national economy are otherwise healthy. These include individuals who have little prior work experience or low educational attainment, who are long-term unemployed, who face barriers to employment such as a criminal record or a disability, or who live in economically distressed communities with few job opportunities.

Subsidized employment programs offer these jobseekers a foothold in the labor market, connecting them to jobs in the private, nonprofit, or public sectors.⁵⁷ Participants' wages are partly or fully paid by government funds for a predetermined period of time. Workers gain labor-market experience and earnings, while businesses get an opportunity to train prospective employees. Additionally, subsidized jobs programs serve as strong automatic economic stabilizers by expanding to serve more jobseekers as unemployment rises. The program would help increase firms' demand for labor during downturns, curbing the rise in unemployment while putting money in workers' pockets to stimulate the local economy. Finally, they also offer states a way to revitalize their distressed communities by targeting opportunities for workers and businesses in these communities.

States' recent experiences demonstrate that subsidized jobs programs work. At the peak of the Great Recession, 39 states created programs, using \$1.3 billion in federal funds made available through the Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) Emergency Fund. In 2009 and 2010, these states placed 260,000 workers in subsidized employment, at an average cost per job of $\$5,\!000$. The programs differed from state to state, including in terms of size, subsidy structure, target worker population, and types of jobs offered. Many states designed their programs based on past subsidized employment efforts that received rigorous evaluation, such as the New Hope Project in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, and the Minnesota Emergency Employment Development program.⁵⁹ State programs received widespread praise from participating workers, business owners, and policymakers on both sides of the aisle.⁶⁰

While funding for the TANF Emergency Fund expired in 2010, multiple local subsidized-jobs programs operate successfully today. For example, the Platform to Employment program for the long-term unemployed began in Connecticut in 2011 and was expanded to 11 major cities in 2014. 61 Some states have also shown interest in adopting the policy statewide in nonrecessionary times, in recognition of the fact that for many workers, it does not take a recession to be shut out of the labor market. For example, then-Gov. Maggie Hassan (D) of New Hampshire, now a U.S. senator, proposed a state-level program in 2016 called Gateway to Work, which would offer job training opportunities to New Hampshire workers under a subsidized jobs model using the state's TANF funds.⁶²

States may design their programs in a variety of ways, perhaps drawing on best practices from the TANF Emergency Fund programs. Program design should be tailored to states' specific goals. These may include establishing good job matches for the long-term unemployed, employing disadvantaged individuals such as at-risk youth or formerly incarcerated individuals, and helping lesser-educated individuals or residents of distressed communities gain entry to and skills in the labor market. 63 Any such program should ensure that participants are connected to existing state and local service providers to help them address barriers to work on an as-needed basis. Depending on the population serviced, states may consider using a portion of their TANF program funds or federal criminal justice funds to support these programs, ⁶⁴ but under any funding structure, priority should be given to serving disadvantaged workers facing multiple barriers to work.

Rebuild wealth through stronger retirement security

The real wealth of the average middle-class family collapsed by nearly 49 percent between 2001 and 2010, and it has rebounded only partially since, with the notable exception of black Americans, for whom it has largely not recovered.⁶⁵ At the heart of this wealth collapse is the decline of home ownership as the economic foundation of the American dream. And with that decline, it has become harder than ever to have the economic security to retire.

States can be at the forefront of changing several parts of this equation. One part is helping workers have better, independent ways to obtain the economic security to retire. The vast majority of employees participate in a workplace savings plan if they are eligible, yet more than one-third of all workers have no access to an employer-sponsored retirement plan, with even higher barriers to access for lowwage workers and communities of color.⁶⁶

For several years, state policymakers have sought strategies to expand retirement options for private-sector workers. Oregon, California, and other states are moving forward with state-based options that grant workers whose employers do not provide a workplace retirement plan access to a portable, low-fee retirement account. Although the Trump administration and the Republican majorities in Congress have sought to undo certain tools that would make it easier for states to move forward with a state-based option, states and localities are not fully prevented from acting. This is all the more important in the face of the administration's efforts to weaken or rollback the Department of Labor's conflict of interest prohibitions for private retirement accounts.

By offering a universal savings plan accessible to all residents who want to participate, states and localities can ensure that even workers at firms who do not provide access to workplace retirement plans have a simple way to save on the job. And the size and scale of these plans can help keep fees low, giving ordinary workers a fighting chance to yield the returns they need to retire with dignity.

Education

Education has always been a key socioeconomic equalizer, which is why educational opportunity for all has always been a defining progressive value. Because the financial benefits of education are higher today than ever before, ⁶⁷ it is critical that we prepare today's students for tomorrow's economy. It is imperative that every American graduate from high school both college and career ready and that all have access to affordable, quality postsecondary opportunities.

Workers with college degrees accounted for nearly all new net jobs created since the beginning of the Great Recession.⁶⁸ Conversely, the share of jobs in industries that have not historically required any postsecondary training—such as construction, natural resources, or manufacturing—has shrunk dramatically, and even these industries are increasingly seeking to hire skilled workers with some higher educational attainment. Those without any postsecondary education were hit the hardest by the Great Recession and continue to experience stagnant wages, making it more difficult for them to recover economically without investing in additional education.

Educational achievement and economic mobility gaps continue to widen between wealthy and low-income Americans, creating further skepticism of the nation's economic and political institutions and putting the ideal of equal opportunity further out of reach. Fortunately, a good education system could still be a great equalizer in helping to reverse these trends. The following progressive solutions would help ensure that schools provide a clearer connection to high-wage jobs and careers, ensure access to vital postsecondary education for all students, and support hard-working parents and teachers as they prepare students to effectively contribute to the future economy.

Support, train, and pay teachers like professionals

Many teachers today are not paid a professional salary. With an average annual salary of slightly more than \$36,000 for new teachers and slightly more than \$58,000 overall, most teachers are compensated less than they were 30 years ago, when adjusting for inflation.⁶⁹ In addition, teachers earn 60 percent of what similarly educated professionals earn, which is much lower than in other Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development member countries. 70 This has made it harder for schools to attract young people to the teaching profession and for high-need schools to attract excellent teachers. Indeed, recent demonstrations and walkouts by teachers in West Virginia, Oklahoma, Kentucky, and Arizona are a reaction to years of disinvestment and potentially represent a coming wave of similar actions.

Both compensation and preparation contribute to individuals' decisions to enter or leave the teaching profession; some may never even consider teaching because of the relatively flat salary trajectory and limited opportunities for advancement.⁷¹ To ensure that teacher credential programs can recruit and retain dedicated, highperforming teachers, educators must be treated and paid like professionals.

Policymakers can start by bridging the large gap in earnings between the teaching workforce and other college-educated professionals, especially recent graduates. All teachers should earn \$50,000 per year when they become full-time teachers. More experienced and effective teachers should see their salaries increase as they master skills, earning at least \$100,000 annually. States could directly increase pay or offer a \$10,000 tax credit for teachers in high-poverty schools to help finance equitable and professional compensation for teachers, thus closing the gap between teacher salaries and those of other college graduates.

Compensation is just one of many factors contributing to teacher recruitment and retention issues. New teachers also often lack supports to successfully transition from teacher preparation programs to the classroom and to continue to learn during the first few years on the job. Teacher residencies similar to those used by doctors can offer new teachers opportunities to learn the skills of teaching before they are solely responsible for an entire classroom.⁷² In many of these programs, teacher candidates co-teach under the supervision of a mentor who provides feedback on both classroom management and instruction. 73 A transition period affords new teachers the chance to get their feet wet with assistance from a more seasoned teacher. This kind of support for new teachers can translate into months of additional learning for students.⁷⁴

To these ends, states can expand teacher residency programs, clinical preparation, and induction programs. They can also use Title II, Part A funds under the Elementary and Secondary Education Act and form partnerships with institutions of higher education, school districts, and nonprofit organizations to boost funding for these programs. Louisiana, for example, serves as a model for leveraging federal dollars to create and expand residency and induction experiences for all of their teachers.⁷⁵

Transition to a 9-to-5 school day to better fit parents' needs

The current antiquated school schedule makes life harder for working parents because the work day and the average K-12 school day do not align. While most students are in school for about six-and-a-half hours per day, ending on average at 2:50 p.m., ⁷⁶ the average workday is eight hours, and nearly half of all workers report not having any form of flexibility in their work schedules to end at 2:50 p.m. Furthermore, many working parents do not have the flexibility to take days off, considering that almost 40 percent of all workers do not even have paid vacation time.⁷⁷ Public school schedules are based on an outdated system that assumes students live in two-parent-one-income households, not on current student or parent needs.

In addition to the length of the school day, calendar breaks for vacations, professional development days, summers, and after-school time, most working parents who have school-age children must scramble for child care to fill in the gaps when their children are not at school. A CAP analysis of the largest school districts in the country revealed that schools are closed for an average of 29 days each school year; that is 13 days longer than the average private-sector worker has in paid leave, and in fact, many American parents have no paid leave at all.⁷⁸ In addition to an increase in the cost of child care, the short length of the school day also decreases the economic productivity of parents who must take time off from work.⁷⁹ School schedules may force other parents with school-age children to opt out of full-time employment at a time when labor force participation is historically low.⁸⁰

The length of the school day disproportionately impacts low-income families. Less than half of all public elementary schools offer before- and after-school care, with low-income schools actually less likely to offer after-school programs. Although low-income schools have plenty of working parents, only 24 percent of children living in communities of concentrated poverty participate in an after-school program.⁸¹ Alternatively, 56 percent of children not in an after-school program would be enrolled in one if it were available to them. 82 Unequal access to child care is inequitable to low-income parents and also hurts students. Participation in afterschool programs can improve academic performance, decrease dropout rates, reduce drug use, and improve classroom behavior.83

States or municipalities that pursue better alignment between work and school schedules could see academic gains and increased economic productivity. These changes would also reduce the burden on working parents, who would no longer need to choose between employment and child care. Hence, states could start pilot programs for districts interested in revising their school schedules, use existing money for after-school programs, work with local universities to fund implementation, and compensate teachers for extra hours worked.

Offer every student the opportunity to participate in technical training and workplace experiences as part of their classroom learning

Every student should have access to career and technical education opportunities to learn how their academic background will prepare them for postsecondary education or a career.

Curriculum and course offerings should not be based on the assumption that every student has the same academic needs, interests, and postsecondary goals. Instead, schools should prepare students for their individualized career goals by providing opportunities for students to discover and delve into their interests. These opportunities may include, but are not limited to, career and technical education (CTE), personalized learning, apprenticeships, early college and dual enrollment, and language immersion programs.

Specifically, CTE and dual enrollment programs integrate classroom learning with technical, job-specific skills to prepare students for high-skill careers in industries such as information technology, manufacturing, health science, construction, engineering, and more. Under the Carl D. Perkins Vocational and Technical Education Act, states receive funding to integrate career pathway programs with academic learning for students who choose to enroll in CTE programs.⁸⁴ CTE programs currently serve 12.5 million high school and college students and boast a graduation rate of about 90 percent, or 15 percentage points higher than the national average. 85 Research indicates that these programs help students to stay on track and graduate from high school. The Linked Learning program, for example, which integrates college-preparatory academics, technical training, work-based learning, and support, has had positive outcomes for students. In addition, students of color who completed the program were more likely than traditional high school students to attend a four-year college.

These project-based learning programs are transforming how students learn. The Washington Leadership Academy, for example, gives students new and exciting exposure to the jobs of the future through individualized online courses, projectbased learning, and in-person classes rooted in various forms of technology, such as virtual reality and coding.86

Other programs capitalize on location to provide unique career opportunities to their students. DuVal High School in Maryland, for example, offers an aerospace engineering and aviation technology course in partnership with NASA and the College Park Aviation Museum that teaches students science and technology concepts in a professional environment.87

While CTE models have been piloted across the country, states should create or expand grant programs to encourage additional school districts to offer students opportunities for apprenticeships and project-based learning. States should also use grant programs to incentivize districts to offer summer internships or course credit through opportunities created by business and community partnerships.

States can also enable innovative high school designs to flourish in high-quality public charter schools or establish "innovation schools" for traditional public schools to do the same. Charter school policies often allow for flexibility in implementing nontraditional classroom models of education. For example, this could include graduation requirements that reflect student comprehension of material instead of seat time or substitution of certain credit requirements with nontraditional courses.

Create healthier K-12 school environments

Student success goes beyond academic achievement; it also requires access to socio-emotional, behavioral, and mental health support. Yet 35 million children experience some type of trauma, and only a fraction of these students—approximately 8 million of them—have access to a school psychologist. 89 Further, about

half of all children will experience a traumatic event—such as the death of a parent, witnessing violence, or extreme poverty—before they reach adulthood.⁹⁰ Because of the many external factors that affect students' outcomes in the classroom, all K-12 students who need it should have access to mental health services.

Mental health issues such as attention difficulties, delinquency, and substance misuse are associated with lower academic achievement and attainment. 91 Likewise, trauma is associated with lower standardized test scores and an increased risk of being diagnosed with a learning disability or behavioral disorder. 92 While mental health and traumatic events can be devastating to individual academic achievement, research indicates that traumatic events also affect the entire class. When a student is experiencing domestic violence in the home, for example, the reading and math scores of their classroom peers also decline.⁹³

Despite the link between mental health and student achievement, too many students do not have access to mental health services in school. In 2013-14, only 20 percent of children and adolescents ages 6 to 17 who were defined as needing mental health services received them in a 12-month period, 94 most commonly in school. 95

Even though school is the most common source of mental health services for young people, staff shortages in schools are one of the main reasons why students go without help. Across the country, there is only one school psychologist for every 1,381 students. 96 Increasing the number of specialized instructional support personnel, such as school psychologists, would help to bridge the gap, particularly in high-needs schools. In addition to providing counseling and other resources for students who need them, these professionals can work with school leaders, teachers, and other staff to implement school-wide prevention and behavioral intervention strategies that improve all students' social-emotional skills. Furthermore, receiving positive supports in school can help reduce students' rates of discipline and contact with law enforcement.

In addition to supporting individualized student needs, states should invest in school-wide initiatives to improve school culture; reduce discipline disparities; and improve behavioral, social, and emotional skills. States should allow districts to leverage funding from a variety of sources beyond education, including from health care programs—such as Medicaid—law enforcement and juvenile justice programs, and community mental health providers. Although early intervention is key to building resiliency, better investments in mental health professionals can improve all students' school performance and reduce the risk of harm later in life.

Provide free community college

Community colleges provide a gateway to postsecondary education for millions of students each year. Free community college programs help ease expenses for students and allow them to focus their financial resources on paying for housing, food, transportation, books, and supplies. When students' financial stress is alleviated, they are able to take heavier course loads, thus progressing and completing a credential faster. Free community college can be especially beneficial for adults without a postsecondary degree, as it provides opportunities to earn certificates or associate degrees that can help them improve their economic circumstances by changing careers or re-entering the workforce.

The best free community college programs provide state money to eliminate tuition before tapping into federal grant aid—a setup known as first dollar. This structure allows the student to put federal grant aid toward living expenses, such as rent or food, which is important because large numbers of students at community colleges are food insecure.⁹⁷

Second, states should ensure that adults and part-time students can also benefit from free community college programs, not just recent high school graduates. Many programs currently provide benefits only for younger students who attend full-time, excluding a huge portion of the students who typically attend community colleges.

Third, states should not establish other criteria, such as minimum GPAs, that make it harder for low-income students to participate in a free community college program. Evaluations of other state scholarship programs have found that such merit requirements can result in programs that disproportionally benefit wealthier students who may need less financial help. 98 Instead of grade requirements, institutions can enforce existing policies to make sure students make progress toward finishing their programs.99

Fourth, states should ensure that community colleges receive an equitable share of state grant aid. Many state grant programs provide little to no aid to community college students, instead privileging students who are younger or attend four-year schools. Making state aid more widely available can help community college students cover nonacademic expenses that can make it hard for them to complete college.

Tennessee demonstrates that free community college is affordable and doable. The state provides last-dollar, tuition-free access to all of its public community colleges to both recent high school graduates, through the Tennessee Promise scholarship, and, starting this fall, to adult learners without a degree, through the Tennessee Reconnect grant. 100 To qualify, students must be enrolled full-time—adults must only be enrolled half-time, or taking 6 credits—and maintain a 2.0 grade point average. 101 Overall, there are 16 states that have enacted some kind of program that promises a form of free or debt-free college for students. 102

Get adults across the college finish line

There are 20.7 million adults between the ages of 25 and 54 in this country who have some college education but no degree. 103 Reducing the barriers to get them back into college could be a transformative way to increase the supply of qualified workers, driving economic growth and attracting employers.

There are now more adults in this country who dropped out of college than those who dropped out of high school—often with debt but without completed credentials or degrees that can help in the labor market. 104 One 2014 study found nearly 4 million adults who never finished college and have substantial amounts of credits that may put them close to earning a degree. 105 Getting these adults back into college and through to graduation could provide significant earnings boosts for these individuals. For these individuals struggling with debt, it could help them get the income they need to pay off their loans. Increasing attainment among this population can also boost a state's education level, making it more attractive for employers.

Getting adults with some college but no degree back to school means identifying specific barriers and removing them. First, states should audit transcript data to identify the adults closest to completion, as well as those who may have enough credits to already be eligible for a degree. 106 Second, states should declare a limited-time waiver of any outstanding fees or balances that might prevent students from releasing their transcript or going back to school. The issue is that sometimes students may owe small fees to their old school, which must be paid before the school will allow credits to transfer or the student to re-enroll. Giving students a fresh start for low balances owed can be an enticement to return. Similarly, states should offer a limited-time discount on tuition prices, or even a free course, to convince adults to re-enroll.

Next, states should ensure that they offer the flexible programs adult learners need. Adults need options that allow them to learn when it is convenient for them. Sometimes that might mean classes in the evenings, on weekends, or offered at a regular time throughout a program. In other instances, it might mean competency-based options that allow learners to progress at their own pace. Adults also need options that have clear workforce connections so that they know they are acquiring skills and knowledge that employers value. Stackable credentials that allow students to build momentum toward a degree by receiving intermediate certificates or certifications along the way can also help adults stay enrolled during the long time it takes to finish a program.

Many states have recognized this need to get adults back into the classroom. Arkansas, for example, created the University of Arkansas System eVersity, which is specifically designed for adult learners. It offers a limited number of courses in high-demand fields, streamlines the enrollment process, and charges an affordable price. 107 Other states and systems participated in the Credit When It's Due or Project Win-Win initiatives. The former works to award associate degrees to adults who transfer from a community college to a four-year institution before finishing. 108 The latter helped identify adults who already have enough credits for an associate degree but have left college. 109

Implement a student loan borrowers' bill of rights to regulate student loan companies

Student debt is currently the second largest consumer debt market in the United States, second only to mortgages. Nationally, Americans hold approximately \$1.4 trillion in student loan debt, and every year 1 million borrowers default on nearly \$20 billion in federal student loans. 110 Companies that hold or service student loans are subject to insufficient regulations at the federal level to ensure that borrowers receive good customer service and consumer protections. Planned improvements in this area were rolled back by Secretary of Education Betsy DeVos in 2017.¹¹¹

Implementing borrowers' bills of rights at the state level would help student loan holders navigate the repayment process in a way that allows them to pay down debt more sustainably and address servicing issues with a state advocate by their side.

An effective student loan borrowers' bill of rights has four key elements. 112 First is the use of a state's licensing authority to establish the regulation of student loan companies and servicers. Second is the establishment of standards of loan

servicing that enshrine consumer protections for borrowers and mandate minimum standards for timely payment processing, customer service, and repayment counseling. Third, states may also create regular reporting requirements for student loan data to appropriate state agencies that generate crucial data that regulators can use to detect servicing issues early. Finally, an effective bill would establish a student loan ombudsman at the state level, housed either in a state agency or the attorney general's office and paid for with the licensing fees paid by student loan companies. 113 This ombudsman could help settle disputes and advocate for borrowers when problems arise.

To date, several states have implemented or taken steps to pass borrowers' bills of rights. The first state to implement a borrowers' bill of rights was Connecticut in 2015, and since then, three additional states and the District of Columbia have followed suit.

Develop state data systems that connect higher education and labor market outcomes

Students repeatedly indicate that improving their employment prospects and getting a better job are the most important reasons for pursuing learning beyond high school.¹¹⁴ Unfortunately, students often lack answers to key questions that would help them find the right program. They do not know whether students with their same background are likely to graduate, how different programs might affect their lifetime earnings potential, or how much debt they are likely to take on.

States can fix this information gap. Creating robust data systems that link information from K-12 all the way through postsecondary education and the workforce can provide much-needed information on student outcomes at all postsecondary programs in the state. These efforts can also assist college access efforts by creating tools that guidance counselors and others can use to better advise students.

Many states have the infrastructure in place to make this change. There are already 29 state data systems that currently have access to K-12, higher education, and workforce data. 115 For example, the State Council of Higher Education for Virginia has one of the country's best postsecondary data systems. It has completion and earnings information by institution, as well as by program, for public and private nonprofit colleges in the state. 116 Similarly, the California Community Colleges system offers a scorecard that tracks information by institution and program on completion, change in earnings, and other factors. 117

To maximize effectiveness, a strong data system must achieve a few goals. First, it should cover all postsecondary institutions. Many existing state data systems only include information on public colleges, and very few include private, for-profit schools. Second, outcomes data should be available for programs within institutions. Results across postsecondary programs can be as large as differences across institutions. Producing program-level results can help guide student choice even for individuals who live in areas with limited college options. Third, results should be longitudinal, so policymakers and consumers can see how wage outcomes may change over time. Fourth, the data system must also include data on federal student aid, particularly loan repayment and default. Finally, policymakers should consumer test any public-facing tool for the data set to make sure it is usable for students, parents, and organizations that assist with college access efforts.

Ensure equitable distribution of four-year colleges across a state

States should ensure that their four-year institutions are sufficiently distributed geographically to provide bachelor's degree opportunities for all students who want them and that all regions in the state can share in the economic benefits of having a four-year institution of higher education.

Learning beyond high school improves students' lives. Higher numbers of educated individuals can also spur economic growth and raise wages, even for people who did not finish or attend college. Unfortunately, states largely stopped building new universities after the 1960s and 1970s. The result is that while students may have ready access to two-year learning options, there may be parts of states that lack sufficient opportunities for someone to earn a bachelor's degree in person. Therefore, states should identify areas where they have substantial numbers of potential students with low educational attainment and consider locating new four-year institutions in those places.

The distribution of colleges can also affect which areas receive the economic benefits of having a four-year institution. Universities provide large numbers of good jobs and educated citizens that can have spillover effects on the surrounding community—even for people without college degrees. 118

As states think about where best to place new universities, they should consider several factors. First, they should look for areas that have low educational attainment but a large enough population base to support a new institution of higher

education. Second, they should identify areas that already have an employer anchor that can provide good jobs for graduates. Third, policymakers should look for areas that are either currently in decline or at significant risk of future job losses. This latter category particularly matters for trying to retrain workers before jobs have vanished.

Policymakers should also strive to build institutions and educational programs that do not rely on elements of traditional colleges that may be expensive without adding as much value. For instance, these new institutions do not need sports teams or extensive library physical holdings instead of digital access. Spending only on what is really needed could keep the overall cost of a new school low for the state and students. New institutions should also combine liberal arts skills with workforce relevance that will help students find jobs. Close coordination with local employers to ensure that educational programs contain elements of the skills and knowledge hiring managers want could help with students' transition to the workforce. The University of Minnesota Rochester provides an interesting example of how a new school of this type might work. It is a decade-old institution located near the world-famous Mayo Clinic. 119 It offers a specific set of programs tied to health care, leveraging the presence of a major employer, without needing the traditional library of an older campus.

Hold private colleges accountable

States should play a larger role in ensuring private institutions of higher education provide a quality education by setting outcomes standards for schools to operate and/or receive state financial aid. Unlike public colleges, most private institutions of higher education receive minimal state scrutiny. One study found that only a small share of states request any information on student outcomes before approving private institutions, and a small majority look at outcomes when renewing approvals. 120

Insufficient state oversight exposes students to substantial risk at private colleges that may do a poor job of serving those students. Some states may even be directly funding these low-quality options through financial aid dollars.

Bad educational options can do long-term harm to students and communities. Students may have debt they cannot afford to repay, or the payments they do make on worthless credentials represent money flowing out of the community. Students who default on loans may have trouble renting apartments, getting other loans, or even finding employment. Students who drop out of college may also discourage their peers from trying school.

First, states should create performance standards that institutions must meet to operate and receive state financial aid. These standards should include meeting certain student loan outcomes, such as default or repayment rates. States should also require that private colleges demonstrate sufficient private market interest by receiving no more than three-quarters of their revenue from the federal government via student grants and loans.

Second, states should secure enough funds from private institutions to ensure financial protection for students in case things go bad. Sudden school closures or fraud can mean that students lose money they paid out of pocket for tuition. To fix this problem, states should either require letters of credit equal to a share of the school's revenues as a condition of operating in a state, or they should establish a tuition recovery fund that can be tapped if a closure occurs. This fund would be paid for through a tax on institutions, with the funds held in reserve until they are needed.

Several states have already recognized the importance of greater oversight of private colleges. For example, California created new rules in 2013 that set minimum graduation rates and a maximum student loan default rate for institutions to be eligible for Cal Grant funds, a state-based aid program. ¹²¹ Similarly, in 2017, the Milwaukee Common Council passed an ordinance requiring private forprofit colleges to ensure that their graduates do not have debt levels that exceed a certain share of their income. 122 Finally, there are roughly 20 states that already have some sort of tuition recovery fund. 123

Early childhood

Meeting the physical and early learning needs of young children is a critical prerequisite for their economic opportunity and mobility later in life. Study after study shows that high-quality early care and education produces positive individual and social benefits that are abundant and long-lasting. However, a growing body of evidence has shown that high-quality child care and preschool are out of reach for many families.

The average tuition in a child care center now exceeds \$10,000 per year, even though early childhood teachers are chronically underpaid. Single parents earning the state median income have to spend an average of 27 percent of their monthly income to access child care for their infant. 124 For those earning minimum wage or living below the poverty level, the burden is even greater.

Even if parents can afford child care, research has found that the licensed child care market suffers from problems of serious undersupply. A shortage of quality child care can lead to long waiting lists and rising prices, straining family budgets and even pushing some parents out of the workforce. A significant and sustained investment in child care is needed to ensure that parents can access the care they need for their families.

States seeking to address this serious shortfall will need to adopt a multifaceted strategy, laid out below, that includes increased assistance to help families access high-quality care; investments in child care infrastructure; and the expansion, training, and professionalization of the child care workforce. In addition, states should put a renewed focus on reducing maternal and infant mortality, for which the United States has one of the highest rates in the developed world.

Expand access to high-quality child care and preschool

Many parents struggle to find a child care program they can afford that meets their needs and are left with impossible trade-offs to cover the cost of child care in their monthly budget. 125 Parents are often forced to make career sacrifices, 126 including leaving a job, which not only has an immediate financial impact but also significant long-term costs due to lost wage growth and lost retirement savings. 127

Federal child care assistance only reaches 1 in 6 eligible families. Even when available, it is insufficient to cover the costs of care in most states. 128 As a result, child care represents a significant financial burden for low- and middle-income families. Given the benefits of high-quality child care for children and high labor force participation rates among parents with young children, there is an urgent need for states to adopt policies that help families afford high-quality child care and improve quality options. Indeed, if child care costs were less than or equal to 10 percent of families' incomes, states' economies would increase by millions of dollars, and the annual federal gross domestic product (GDP) would increase \$70 billion. 129

First, and most importantly, states should provide child care assistance directly to low-income and middle-class families, ensuring that no family pays more than 7 percent of their household income for child care. By capping these payments at seven percent—the affordability standard set by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS)—child care can be affordable to all families on a sliding scale. Providing direct assistance to families ensures that they can make payments on a monthly or weekly basis when child care tuition is due. CAP's report "A Blueprint for Child Care Reform" laid out a national vision for such a program, which absent congressional action can provide a roadmap for similar programs on a state-by-state basis. 130

Second, most states have a quality rating and improvement system (QRIS) that articulates progressively higher levels of quality in a tiered rating system. States can improve child care quality by bringing more programs into their QRIS, paying providers at a rate that reflects the cost of quality, and embedding wage standards in the QRIS.¹³¹

Third, high-quality preschool has been proven to produce significant short- and long-term benefits to children, families, and society.¹³² States should provide two years of preschool for all children, which would drastically reduce the out-of-pocket costs for families in the years before children enter kindergarten and ensure that children are given the best chance to succeed when they start

school. Current investments by states in preschool programs, as well as individual eligibility, vary significantly: Florida, Oklahoma, Wisconsin, and the District of Columbia each offer a program reaching more than 70 percent of the 4-year-old children in their state, 133 although several other states have passed laws either establishing or piloting universal preschool programs. 134

Invest in child care infrastructure

A multistate CAP study covering two-thirds of the U.S. population finds that more than half of Americans live in "child care deserts." 135 This tracks a recent Harvard University and NPR study that found that roughly two-thirds of parents said they had "only one" or "just a few" realistic child care options. 136 Child care deserts disproportionately affect rural areas, Latino and American Indian communities, and low-income urban neighborhoods. They also have a significant impact on the supply of labor, as the maternal labor force participation rate in child care deserts is significantly lower than in areas with adequate child care supply. In 2016, nearly 2 million parents of children age 5 and younger had to quit a job, not take a job, or greatly change their job because of problems with child care. 137

There are several policies state lawmakers can pursue to support the child care market. First, state governments should invest in their child care and early education infrastructure just as they invest in public safety, public parks, and public schools. This child care infrastructure investment should support construction and renovation of early childhood facilities, help build a professional and effective workforce, and provide resources to support licensed child care providers.

Second, states can take steps to develop high-quality home-based child care options. Their agencies may have opportunities to streamline their licensing and quality rating systems, allowing for innovation in the home-based child care market. For instance, linking home-based providers with a network of child care professionals can improve quality, build supply where it is needed, and even increase regulatory compliance.

Third, states can establish incentives for capital investment in child care deserts. Many child care centers and home-based businesses operate with razor-thin margins, without access to capital or business development services. Connecting these entrepreneurs with capital can help child care businesses grow to meet demand. States can offer tax credits for investments in child care facilities within child care deserts, targeting investment to where it is needed, especially in rural areas.

Support the early childhood workforce

There are more than two million members of the early childhood workforce, serving children in public schools, private child care centers, and targeted preschool programs such as Head Start. This largely female workforce is critical to the quality of early childhood programs. Unfortunately, early childhood workforce is one of the lowest paid professions, with workers earning an average of only \$10 per hour. Even for those with higher education, early education has the lowest lifetime earning potential of all college majors. $^{\!\!138}$ African American teachers make an average of \$4,395 less per year than white teachers, meaning they make 84 cents for every \$1 earned by their white counterparts. 139 Almost half of all child care workers are enrolled in at least one public assistance program, and less than 40 percent have access to health insurance through their employers.

Low pay and few career development opportunities has resulted in high turnover rates in many child care programs, causing instability at a time when children most need consistency and structure. Supporting the early childhood workforce with competitive salaries and professional supports would help recruit and retain experienced and qualified teachers and would ensure that they are able to focus on building relationships with the children in their care rather than dealing with the economic anxiety that comes from living paycheck to paycheck.

To ensure higher quality care, states can better support the early childhood workforce by increasing early childhood teacher compensation, developing or modifying systems that support the workforce, and investing in a comprehensive professional development system.

First, as teachers are asked to meet higher standards, they need to be compensated appropriately. Chronically low wages for child care workers limit quality programming, leading to frequent turnover, difficulty retaining talented teachers, and stressful living situations for people entrusted with caring for the youngest learners. States should establish wage standards for early childhood teachers, set a wage floor equivalent to self-sufficiency standards, and support compensation parity with kindergarten teachers for early childhood teachers with equivalent qualifications. This would help ensure that teachers do not leave early education upon gaining higher levels of education. States can provide tax credits tied to program quality and teacher credentials to incentivize teachers to improve their knowledge and skills and to be invested in a program's overall quality improvement efforts. States can also develop or bolster existing scholarship programs to help teachers earn higher credentials.

Second, creating a statewide workforce registry would allow teachers to track their progress toward professional goals, enable programs to verify teacher credentials and experience, and inform early care and education administrators on key workforce data. When combined with a state career pathway—one which identifies a sequence of credentials and provides a clear roadmap for early childhood professionals to advance in their careers—these systems can help professionalize the workforce and provide key data for targeting quality improvement efforts.

Finally, states should establish a professional development system that is aligned with standards and is accessible to all teachers—allowing them to balance coursework with full- or part-time employment—and available through a mixture of online and in-person mediums, during the evenings and weekends, and in accessible locations. Coursework and training must also be available in multiple languages to support nonnative speakers, and the system should provide a mix of learning opportunities. Developing a comprehensive system further supports the workforce in day-to-day activities in the classroom and ensures that early childhood is a profession that can recruit and retain highly skilled teachers. States should also invest in early childhood teacher preparation programs to ensure that the workforce is better prepared for the classroom. This can include standardizing and revising certification standards, requiring field-based experience, and including a specific focus on infants and toddlers in curricula.

Reduce maternal and infant mortality

Women in the United States are more than three times as likely as Canadian women to die as a result of pregnancy-related complications. ¹⁴⁰ In 2014, about six infants out of every 1,000 born in the United States died during their first year of life, compared with between two and three infant deaths per 1,000 in most developed countries.¹⁴¹

Within the United States, stark racial disparities exist in both maternal and infant mortality, with African American women at greater risk. From 2011 to 2013, the pregnancy-related mortality rate for African American women was more than three times as high as that of non-Hispanic white women.¹⁴² An African American mother is twice as likely as a non-Hispanic white mother to lose her child before the child's first birthday. 143 Surprisingly, this trend holds across education levels and socio-economic statuses. Research suggests that stress, driven by persistent racism, affects African American women before and during pregnancy. This stress can manifest as premature labor and pregnancy complications that threaten the lives of mothers and infants.

Reducing maternal and infant mortality and eliminating racial disparities requires thinking comprehensively about health to better address women and infants' physical, social, and mental health needs. To reduce maternal and infant mortality and diminish racial disparities, states can implement policies that improve data collection and screening for maternal health risks; increase access to high-quality, stable medical care before, during, and after pregnancy; and connect women to support professionals and parent educators.

To improve data collection and monitoring, states can establish or strengthen maternal mortality review committees, organizations that review maternal deaths; identify root causes; and make easy-to-implement recommendations that can save women's lives. Despite the critical role of data collection and monitoring in identifying common and preventable causes of maternal death, about half of states still do not formally review the causes of maternal death on a regular basis.

Increasing women's access to stable, high-quality, culturally responsive, and reliable medical care before, during, and after pregnancy is another commonsense solution for ensuring healthier women and healthier babies. Screening for maternal health risk factors—including high blood pressure, diabetes, and depression—can help pregnant women get help when they need it most, keeping them and their babies healthy for the pregnancy's duration. Having a diverse, culturally responsive health care workforce can also ensure that women's unique health needs are met.

In addition, states can improve families' access to coaching and support professionals during pregnancy and infancy by creating or expanding home visiting programs. Maternal and infant home visiting is an evidence-based program that pairs new and expectant mothers with skilled nurses or social workers. Home visitors help families create safe and healthy environments; support mothers grappling with post-partum depression and other maternal mental health conditions; teach mothers about breastfeeding, safe sleeping practices, and proper nutrition; and more. Similarly, mothers can benefit from working with a doula, a trained professional who provides physical, emotional, and educational support during pregnancy and delivery. Both practices are backed by rigorous scientific research¹⁴⁴ and have successfully been used in cities and states across the country. Indeed, for every \$1 invested in home visiting, it has been estimated that there is a \$3 to \$5 return to society stemming from reduced emergency room visits, grade repetition, child abuse and neglect, juvenile delinquency and crime, and substance abuse later in life. 145

Health care

For the past year and a half, the national health care debate has been dominated by political efforts of congressional Republicans and the Trump administration to repeal or sabotage the Affordable Care Act. The law, which has remained surprisingly resilient to these attacks, expanded coverage to 20 million Americans while contributing to slower growth in national health care spending in recent years.¹⁴⁶ However, a recent survey indicates that the Trump administration's actions have eroded these coverage gains, with an estimated 4 million people having lost coverage since 2016. 147 With a bipartisan market stabilization agreement to mitigate coverage losses and premium increases looking increasingly unlikely this year, states should take action to expand coverage, stabilize their marketplaces, and keep premiums in check.

Far more needs to be done to ensure that no American is left without the health care they need. Even with the ACA's gains, 28.8 million Americans remain uninsured as of 2017, and 41 million more are underinsured, with out-of-pocket costs exceeding 10 percent of their income. 148 Furthermore, despite the recent period of historically low growth in national health spending since 2008 rising prescription drug prices and other trends are likely to ensure that the growth in health care spending remains a long-term priority for state and federal policymakers. 149

At a minimum, the 18 states that have not yet adopted the ACA's Medicaid expansion should follow the lead of 32 other states and the District of Columbia in ensuring that adults earning up to 138 percent of the federal poverty level are covered. 150 Congress must go further, passing new legislation that guarantees health care as a right for all Americans and achieves universal coverage through a national program, such as CAP's proposed Medicare Extra for All. 151 Medicare Extra for All would streamline our fragmented health care system and guarantee universal coverage through a high-quality insurance plan based on the Medicare program, while preserving employer-based coverage as an option for Americans who are satisfied with their coverage. But until such a federal law passes, states can also choose to open their Medicaid programs to all residents, as Nevada's legislature attempted to do in 2017 by passing a landmark bill that went on to be vetoed by its governor. 152

States will truly need to be laboratories of democracy, rejecting the recent push for state waivers that establish harmful policies such as work requirements in Medicaid and instead testing innovative approaches to lowering health care costs without reducing quality or reducing access to care for their residents.

Indeed, a number of states have already successfully piloted new payment and delivery system reforms, policies to stem the soaring prices of prescription drugs, and models to strengthen insurance marketplaces and expand access to care. This section lays out some of the most promising reforms.

Drive down health care costs through payment and delivery system reform

States are key leaders in spearheading innovative health care reforms and are well positioned to do so. They can tailor their reforms for their specific markets and population, have significant discretion to regulate health insurance, run their own Medicaid programs and Children's Health Insurance Program within federal standards, and oversee the rate review process and licensing of providers. CAP previously published a report, "State Options to Control Health Care Costs and Improve Quality," enumerating a comprehensive list of options for states to take to lower health care spending while preserving access to care and improving quality. 153 CAP more recently followed up with a report, "Evaluating State Innovations to Reduce Health Care Costs," examining the outcomes of some these innovations. 154 Below are briefly listed some of the most promising steps identified in these reports that states can take to drive down health care costs in ways that improve the quality of care rather than just shifting costs to patients or making harmful cuts to Medicaid eligibility, benefits, or affordability.

Implement bundled payment for all payers

Instead of paying providers separately for each medical service, this approach compensates all of a patient's health care providers with a single, comprehensive payment for a patient's entire episode of care. A number of states, including Arkansas and Tennessee, have pioneered bundled payment models that have reduced health care spending while improving some measures of health care

outcomes. Arkansas' Medicaid data show that rates of hospitalization and emergency department visits declined, as did its cesarean section rate. Given bundled payments' potential to save money for states while improving the quality of care, states should act to implement bundled payments statewide, ideally with the participation of all payers.

Implement global budgets for hospitals

Global budgets encourage hospitals to focus on the health of their community instead of simply the direct provision of health care services. Instead of payers reimbursing hospitals for each individual service, under a global budgeting system, a state agency sets a fixed budget for each hospital each year based on relevant factors, including past expenditures, past clinical performance, and population growth. Maryland's global budget model has seen great success, reducing Medicare hospital spending by more than \$500 million, beating its fiveyear Medicare savings target well ahead of schedule. Other states should consider adopting such a model or testing it in certain regions. 155 Alternatively, states could explore adopting a version of Maryland's previous system of all-payer rate setting for hospitals.

Establish a health cost growth goal

Following the example first set by Massachusetts in 2012, a cost growth goal sets a cap on the growth of a state's per capita health care spending. Setting a public goal not only increases accountability for all stakeholders, but it also increases transparency and improves data collection. Under Massachusetts' implementation of this policy, the state's health care spending growth has improved relative to the national average, despite some mixed results in staying under its target benchmark. States interested in this approach should consider including concrete policy levers that policymakers could employ if needed to ensure that spending growth stays under the benchmark. States could also establish specific goals for the adoption of alternative payment models that link payment to value, as former HHS Secretary Sylvia Burwell did nationally for Medicare in 2015.

Expand evidence-based home visiting services

As noted above, home visiting programs, which connect first-time mothers with nurses and social workers for coaching on healthy child development, are among the most effective government programs ever studied in terms of producing both positive outcomes and cost savings. All states should expand home visiting programs; financing options include increased Medicaid funding, encouraging or requiring Medicaid managed care plans to cover home visiting services, or requesting a Medicaid waiver for federal matching funds to expand home visiting. 156

Combat misuse of opioids and other drugs

Many states are already setting a strong example by using available tools to counter drug addiction and overdose deaths. In the criminal justice section below, we provide additional details on a comprehensive strategy for addressing the opioid crisis, but in summary, policies that states should consider include: increasing access to substance misuse treatment, including by expanding Medicaid; establishing a prescription drug monitoring program; improving education for prescribing physicians; and improving data collection on drug abuse.

Reduce the price of prescription drugs

In the past couple of years, several states have passed legislation or taken other action to reduce prescription drug prices, which are projected by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services to contribute to increased national health care spending in the coming decade. 157 Many of these policy actions—including state Medicaid waivers, price transparency legislation, and price gouging legislation represent promising approaches for other states to emulate.

Propose state Medicaid waivers to bring down sky-high drug costs Massachusetts recently proposed a Medicaid waiver to tackle drug pricing.¹⁵⁸ This proposed waiver would increase the Massachusetts' Medicaid program's power to negotiate lower drug prices by adopting a commercial-style closed formulary, or list of covered drugs. Importantly, whether a drug is included or excluded in the Medicaid formulary would depend heavily on clinical evidence of the drug's comparative effectiveness relative to other drugs. Similarly, CAP's national drug pricing proposals focus on a negotiation process for Medicare and other payers

that incorporates comparative effectiveness research. 159 The Massachusetts waiver offers a promising state-based version of this approach, which other states should consider emulating or adapting. However, the Massachusetts waiver proposal also includes a problematic policy change that would shift Medicaid beneficiaries earning more than 100 percent of the federal poverty level to marketplace coverage, which could reduce benefits or affordability for these beneficiaries. Furthermore, recent reports indicate uncertainty as to whether the federal government will approve the waiver's drug pricing reforms. 160

Enact price transparency legislation

Some states have enacted laws that require prescription drug companies to justify prices above a certain level by disclosing data on factors such as profits made on the drug, research and development spending on the drug, and marketing spending. Last year, for example, Nevada enacted strong transparency legislation focused on insulin pricing.¹⁶¹ Although increased transparency alone is not enough to ensure that drugs are affordable for patients, such legislation is still a positive and achievable step for states.

Enact price gouging legislation

Maryland has enacted a drug price gouging law that allows the state's attorney general to take action, including seeking fines, against generic drug companies who increase prices by more than 50 percent in one year. 162 Other states should consider similar laws, or go further to include excessive price spikes for brandname prescription drugs. However, a recent federal court ruling striking down Maryland's law raises uncertainty about this approach; policymakers from other states will need to monitor any potential appeal of the decision closely.¹⁶³

Use state-based policies to strengthen the marketplaces

With little hope for bipartisan congressional action this year, there is an urgent need for states to stabilize markets and mitigate coverage losses and premium hikes in order to resist the Trump administration's efforts to sabotage the ACA. Congress' passage of legislation repealing the individual mandate alone is projected to increase premiums by 10 percent. By preserving the ACA's consumer protections in the individual insurance market, establishing reinsurance programs to lower premiums, and further expanding Medicaid, states can go a long way toward stabilizing their markets and expanding access to affordable care for their residents.

Preserve ACA consumer protections

President Donald Trump has sought to encourage the proliferation of insurance plans that do not comply with the consumer protections in the ACA, including so-called short-term limited duration plans that are actually used for full-year coverage. 164 These plans can discriminate against people with pre-existing conditions, charge women more than men, provide for annual and lifetime limits, and exclude coverage for important services such as prescription drugs and maternity care. 165 Moreover, these plans siphon off healthy individuals from the marketplace, increasing premiums for everyone else. 166 States should require that any plans offered in the individual insurance market comply with ACA protections, as CAP has outlined in model state legislation. 167 States should also ensure that any plans that are designed to provide short-term coverage are in fact only used for the short term, lasting three months or less, rather than undermining individual insurance coverage—an approach that has been taken recently in Maryland. 168

Establish reinsurance programs to lower premiums

States can address premium increases resulting from Trump's sabotage of the ACA by establishing a reinsurance program. These programs create a pool to reimburse insurers for particularly high-cost enrollees, which dramatically reduces premiums. Reinsurance programs have been established in Alaska, decreasing premiums by 30 percent, ¹⁶⁹ and in Maine, where it contributed to a 20 percent premium reduction.¹⁷⁰ Furthermore, states can obtain federal funding to help operate the program by seeking a state innovation waiver, which allows states to try innovative approaches using federal funding as long as their plan provides care that is of the same quality and cost as under the ACA.¹⁷¹ Alaska and Oregon have both created a reinsurance program through a state innovation waiver, and other states are exploring it as well.¹⁷²

States can also take steps to address the premium increases resulting from the repeal of the ACA's individual mandate. The Congressional Budget Office estimates that repeal of the mandate will result in a 10 percent premium increase, or about \$2,000 more in premium costs for the typical middle-class family buying coverage in the individual market.¹⁷³ The combination of healthy people declining to purchase coverage and price increases driving people out of the marketplace will mean that 13 million more people will be uninsured as a result. States can counteract this effect in their own marketplaces by putting in place a continuous coverage provision. For example, states could enact their own individual mandates, as Massachusetts and New Jersey have successfully done. 174

Create or expand a Medicaid buy-in for workers with disabilities

Forty-three states and the District of Columbia offer the ability for workers with disabilities to buy in to Medicaid, enabling them to access health insurance and long-term services and supports, such as personal care attendant services, that are often critical to live independently and to work. 175 These buy-ins are often limited to those younger than age 60 or 65 and often come with strict income and asset limits. States without a buy-in could create one; others could expand eligibility and prevent barriers to work and savings by raising or eliminating age, income, and asset limits. In addition to buy-ins for workers with disabilities, states could also take a more ambitious approach to expanding coverage by following the lead of legislation proposed in Nevada last year to open their Medicaid program more broadly. As noted above, Congress will need to enact legislation, such as that described in CAP's Medicare Extra For All proposal, to guarantee health care including long-term supports and services—as a right for all Americans. 176 But in the meantime, states can still make progress on expanding coverage through proposals such as a Medicaid buy-in.

Restoring democracy

Americans deserve elected officials who fairly represent them and fight for their interests, but many believe government corruption is widespread.¹⁷⁷ They know that their priorities—well-paying jobs and economic fairness, access to health care and quality education, and a healthy environment for their families—are losing out to wealthy special interests whose unlimited spending and unchecked political influence has stacked the deck in their favor. To rebalance power and rebuild trust in government, state and national leaders need to restructure the rules of our politics and policymaking.

U.S. elections have become increasingly dominated by corporate money and special interests, particularly since the Supreme Court decision in Citizens United v. Federal Election Commission in 2010. Americans have also endured a concerted attack on their voting rights, exacerbated by the Court's decision in Shelby County v. Holder, which gutted a core provision of the Voting Rights Act. Democracy works best when it works for everyone, which requires a high level of citizen engagement. Some states are working against democracy by making it more difficult to vote while simultaneously making it easier to spend sums of money to influence policymaking.

Americans are demanding strong, clear solutions to fight corruption and empower voters so that elected representatives are responsive and accountable to constituents, not contributors. Most Americans feel that the economy is not working for them; rather, it is working for the wealthiest few, the same few on whom elected officials rely to support their campaigns and who increasingly hold the levers of political influence. It is past time to curb this improper influence by restructuring the rules to incentivize and facilitate fair representation for all.

Additionally, federal and state governments need to defend our political system from new threats—threats to the rule of law, from leaders who seem intent on abusing their power and from the United States' adversaries abroad. It is foundational to our democracy that no one is above the law and that citizens can elect their leaders free from foreign interference.

States can take the following steps to return power to the people, ensure that their elected representatives work for them, defend American elections against interference, and restore voting rights to all citizens.

Limit special interests

States should take aggressive steps to limit the power of corporate special interests, including by banning lobbyists from fundraising for candidates for state or local office and by limiting contributions to legislators from industries that are under the purview of their legislative committees.

To stop wealthy special interests from having an improper and anti-democratic influence on government, states must break the nexus between paid influence and credible, fact-based advocacy. Currently, business and industry far outstrip any other source of lobbying at the federal level, at a ratio of 34-to-1. ¹⁷⁸ One of the ways in which lobbyists gain a foothold with legislators is by fundraising for them, marshaling contributions that, in the aggregate, far exceed the lobbyists' individual limits. One way to rein in the power of corporate lobbyists over policymaking is to ban lobbyists from fundraising for officeholders and candidates. Indeed, nine states already ban lobbyists from fundraising for candidates, either at all times or in conjunction with the legislative session.¹⁷⁹

At the federal level, members of Congress get huge fundraising hauls—up to half the campaign money they raise—from industries and groups that are under the jurisdiction of their committees. 180 At the state level, data similarly shows that industries "carefully target their donations toward chairs of those committees by which they are primarily regulated."181 Such one-sided fundraising distorts incentives, making lawmakers dependent on the very interests that they are charged to oversee on the public's behalf. State legislators should be prohibited from accepting contributions from industries under the jurisdiction of committees on which the legislators serve. Doing so would fight the corrupting conflicts of interest and would send a strong message to the public that lawmakers are ready to put the public's interests first.

Improve ethics and campaign finance requirements

Many states lack robust protections that prevent lawmakers from putting private interests before public ones. Important protections include bans on gifts to lawmakers, limits on contributions, and other ethics measures that prevent payto-play politics.

Public servants should focus on the public interest, not on opportunities for special interest-funded career advancement or personal enrichment. Yet many states still operate in a wild west atmosphere with weak ethics enforcement and few restrictions on private money being used to influence public power. Contribution limits are core anti-corruption tools that prevent candidates from being overly indebted to any one campaign contributor. States vary widely on these rules, with 11 states allowing unlimited individual contributions to candidates and 15 states imposing limits for some offices of \$1,000 or less¹⁸²—still a lot of money for an ordinary citizen to spend on politics but nonetheless a strong protection against the undue influence of large donors. In addition to these limits, states should also ensure that they have broad gift bans in place, an important tool to prevent big donors from using personal favors—in lieu of campaign contributions—to curry favor with elected officials.

States should also take decisive action to end the corrupting influence of secret and foreign political spending. Since 2008, at least \$900 million has been spent by anonymous donors on federal elections, ¹⁸³ and such secret spending is also increasingly pervasive at the state and local levels. 184 While some states, such as California, have been working to update their rules to keep pace with the flow of dark money¹⁸⁵—hopefully soon to include dark money advertisements online 186—many are failing to provide the public with basic information about the true sources of campaign funds. 187 In addition to robbing voters of the information they need to make educated decisions, this presents a national security risk, since foreign nationals can use the cloak of secrecy to circumvent laws prohibiting them from influencing elections.

Beyond just curbing the influence of wealthy donors, states and localities should also amplify the voices of working and middle-class families in political campaigns and in their legislatures. Citizen-funded elections, where small donations from voters are matched with public funds, can reduce the reliance of elected officials on the wealthiest few and build stronger ties between representatives and the communities they represent. States and localities should look to the example set

by Washington, D.C., which recently adopted a plan that will combine lump-sum grants to qualifying candidates with matching at a ratio of \$5 to \$1 for small donor contributions. 188 They should also consider the innovative program currently being implemented in Seattle, which provides each citizen \$100 in "democracy vouchers" that they can use to support local candidates. 189

Require candidates to disclose tax returns

States should pass laws requiring candidates for high elected office to disclose their tax returns for the most recent five years. Asking officeholders to be transparent about their finances helps to prevent conflicts of interest and ensures that they are putting public interests ahead of their personal interests. Polls show that a majority of Americans, regardless of political affiliation, support President Trump publicly releasing his tax returns. 190 Indeed, more than half of those living in areas that President Trump won in the 2016 Republican primary by a larger margin than Mitt Romney did in the 2012 Republican primary—or that switched from supporting President Obama to President Trump—oppose his refusal to release his returns. 191 Perhaps for that reason, lawmakers in at least 28 states have introduced legislation that would require candidates to release tax returns. 192

Another goal of financial disclosure is to provide voters with information that allows them to make more informed judgments about candidates. Tax returns can provide much more complete and reliable information than the limited candidate financial disclosure forms that are currently required by the federal government and most states. For example, candidate financial disclosure forms do not require disclosure of charitable giving and personal assets, which can help voters understand a candidate's priorities and commitments.

Enact automatic voter registration

States should work to defend equal voting rights for all Americans and to advance commonsense, pro-voter policies such as automatic voter registration (AVR). AVR boosts citizen participation and empowers people to have their voices heard. More than one-quarter of Americans now live in states that have adopted AVR. 193 Three states—Washington, Maryland, and New Jersey—have adopted AVR in 2018, which CAP projects will mean approximately 400,000, 360,000, and 600,000 more registered potential voters in each state, respectively. 194

Oregon was the first state to adopt AVR in 2015, and the results from the 2016 election show that the program has already had a substantial impact on voter registration and participation. CAP's analysis found that 272,000 Oregonians were added to the voting rolls and that the resulting electorate was younger, more rural, lower income, and from more racially diverse areas. 195 Another 264,000 voters had their addresses updated through AVR. 196 It increased participation across the board for traditionally marginalized communities and encouraged many infrequent or first-time voters to exercise their voting power.

Our current voter registration system, which puts the burden on individuals to register and maintain their registration—amidst varied and sometimes changing state requirements—is a significant barrier to voter participation. Almost 1 in 4 eligible Americans are not registered to vote. 197 Yet registering voters is a simple step that makes it much more likely that a person will go to the polls. In 2016, 61 percent of U.S. citizens reported voting; this number jumps to 87 percent for people who were registered to vote. The difference is even more striking among young people: 79 percent of registered 18- to 29-year-olds voted in the 2016 election, compared with 46 percent of all voting-age citizens younger than 30.¹⁹⁸

Improve election security

In light of Russia's unprecedented interference in the 2016 U.S. presidential election, it is imperative that states and localities take action to defend the security of America's election infrastructure. Multiple national security leaders of both political parties have voiced an urgent need to strengthen the nation's election security, and Congress recently passed \$380 million in funding for states to secure their systems. 199

CAP recently published a comprehensive assessment of state preparedness in "Election Security in All 50 States," finding that all states had room to improve. 200 That report and others have highlighted numerous important protections that states can put in place, including requiring voter-verified paper ballots or records for every vote cast; replacing old voting machines; conducting effective postelection audits; requiring minimum cybersecurity standards; and performing mandatory pre-election testing on all voting machines.²⁰¹ Many of these changes can be implemented expeditiously to improve security preparedness before the 2018 elections. For example, Virginia used to lack any paper record for votes cast, but in 2017, they acted quickly before their state-wide elections to provide a paper trail for their voting systems.²⁰² With the 2018 elections nearing, many states are taking important steps to improve election security. For example, Minnesota will begin providing election officials with cybersecurity training for future elections; Oregon is hiring a cybersecurity expert to improve the overall security of the state's voter registration database; and Washington approved legislation to strengthen the state's post-election audit procedures.²⁰³

Unless election security becomes a priority, voters may lose faith in the system. A July 2017 poll found that 1 in 4 Americans will consider not participating in future elections due to concerns over cybersecurity.²⁰⁴ It is incumbent upon states to proactively address this issue so that every voter's ballot is cast and counted as intended and so that voters have faith that their participation will help determine election results.

Restore citizens' voting rights

States should not permanently deny any citizen the fundamental right to choose their representatives and to have a voice in our democracy. States that disenfranchise citizens as the result of a criminal conviction should restore those voting rights to the millions of citizens returning to their communities post-conviction.

Criminal disenfranchisement laws prevent six million Americans from having their voices heard in the political process. Many of these laws emerged soon after the Civil War to prevent newly enfranchised African Americans from exercising their voting power. But incarceration rates have shot up since the 1980s, and overincarceration has been particularly destructive in African American communities. One out of every 13 eligible African Americans of voting age has had their voting rights taken away.²⁰⁵ For example, 1.5 million Americans in Florida, or 10 percent of Florida's total population, have been prevented from voting due to convictions. Most strikingly, this figure includes 1 in 5 African Americans living in Florida who have been disenfranchised.²⁰⁶

Across America, voter disenfranchisement laws vary. While Maine and Vermont do not disenfranchise even their incarcerated populations, three states permanently bar people with felony convictions from voting. Others do not restore voting rights until after parole and probation, and some states have such convoluted processes that it can be extremely difficult for eligible individuals to have their voting rights restored—disenfranchising lawfully eligible citizens.²⁰⁷

At a minimum, the right to vote should be automatically restored once a person is released from incarceration. Currently, 15 states plus the District of Columbia automatically restore voting rights upon release from prison.²⁰⁸ In application, this rule is both fair and simple: If you are out of prison, you can vote. Rhode Island goes even further and automatically restores not just voting rights but the voter registration status of people leaving prison. Other states are taking positive steps toward improving voting rights and voter participation for ex-offenders. For example, New York Gov. Andrew Cuomo (D) issued an executive order in April restoring voting rights to an estimated 36,000 eligible Americans on parole, and in March, a U.S. district judge struck down as unconstitutional Florida's clemency process for rights restoration, calling it "nonsensical" after finding that the process was largely discretionary and ordering the state to create a new process.²⁰⁹ An 11th U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals panel granted a stay on that order in April, and litigation is ongoing.²¹⁰

Clean energy and the environment

Over the past year, the federal government has not just abdicated its leadership on climate, energy, and environmental policy; it has actively sought to undermine longstanding, bipartisan policies established to protect the environment. The Trump administration has starved the Environmental Protection Agency of resources to do its job,²¹¹ allowed a nerve gas pesticide known to cause brain damage in children to continue to be sold, 212 launched an attack to eliminate the largest amount of protected lands and waters in U.S. history,²¹³ and promised to cut funding for highly effective and popular energy programs at the Department of Energy.²¹⁴

These actions have opened a critical and misguided leadership void. Public opinion research has found that "overwhelming majorities of voters, regardless of their party affiliation, favor protections for clean air and clean drinking water, actions to combat climate change, policies that protect public lands and wildlife for future generations, and the promotion of renewable energy."215 As a result, states have an opportunity to stand up for public health protections and chart a path forward on conservation and climate action at the state and local level.

President Trump's decision to withdraw from the Paris climate agreement, despite broad public opposition to such a withdrawal, ²¹⁶ provides a good example of how states can respond to fill the void. The withdrawal prompted many state and local elected officials to set bold, progressive goals for what their communities can achieve absent leadership from Washington. These leaders have begun to implement a wide range of policies to slow climate change by cleaning up the power sector, electrifying the transportation sector, and making buildings more efficient. Clean energy solutions are broadly popular, with 65 percent of Americans prioritizing the development of alternative energy sources, such as wind and solar, over fossil fuel sources.²¹⁷ These trends even bear out in some fossil fuel-producing states: 87 percent of Ohio voters want elected officials to support clean energy and energy efficiency,²¹⁸ and 85 percent of Texas voters, including 78 percent of Republicans, favor increased use of clean energy.²¹⁹

Americans are also deeply connected to the great outdoors and want to ensure that national parks, marine sanctuaries, and other public lands and protected waters are passed on unspoiled to future generations. Policies that promote outdoor recreation and healthy, accessible open spaces not only appeal to Americans' shared pride of our natural heritage but are also effective ways to strengthen local economies. For example, outdoor recreation—from hunting in Colorado to fishing in New England—generates \$887 billion in economic benefits every year. 220 In particular, rural communities stand to benefit from the tourism and outdoor recreation jobs that are inextricably tied to healthy and accessible lands and waters.

Here is a set of climate, energy, and environmental policies that states can implement to put people to work protecting clean air, clean water, open space, and abundant wildlife, while also ensuring that communities can withstand the impacts of climate change that are happening right now.

Put people to work while taking climate action

As noted above, in the absence of strong federal leadership on climate action, governors have picked up the mantle and demonstrated to the world that states will move forward on their own to take aggressive steps to combat the worst impacts of climate change. In the past year, governors joined several unprecedented coalitions, such as the U.S. Climate Alliance and America's Pledge, to commit to act to achieve the goals established by the Paris Agreement. In 2018 and beyond, it will be critical that states make good on those commitments and demonstrate that they are putting people to work to accomplish them.

One of the most direct ways to do this is to set a state goal for reducing carbon pollution—either in the electric sector or economywide—and pursue a range of policies to achieve that goal. State carbon reduction goals can create opportunities outside of electric utilities. For instance, updating state or local building codes to international standards requiring increased energy efficiency is one of the most cost-effective ways to reduce carbon pollution while also creating significant numbers of jobs in the construction sector. In 2016, 2.2 million Americans worked in energy efficiency related industries—1.2 million of them in construction jobs.²²¹

States could also choose a pathway for carbon reduction that focuses on clean energy development and deployment. Twenty-nine states and the District of Columbia have adopted renewable portfolio standards (RPSs), which require utilities to get a certain percentage of energy from renewable sources by a given year, and an additional eight states have voluntary targets. Since 2000, 62 percent of the growth in renewable generation has been a result of state RPSs, according to the Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory.²²² State RPSs also create jobs—to the tune of 200,000 jobs in 2013 alone, according to the Department of Energy.²²³ A recent study found that strengthening existing state RPSs would see renewables reach 50 percent penetration of total U.S. electricity generation by 2050—creating millions of jobs in construction, installation, and manufacturing.²²⁴

States should also give individuals the opportunity to do their part to achieve the state's carbon reduction goal by expanding access to residential solar energy, which is broadly popular with the public—including with some conservative activists who see rooftop solar as fundamentally being about supporting consumer choice. 225 Expanding solar energy is also a strong source of job creation: One out of every 50 jobs created in 2016 was in the solar industry. 226 Yet in recent years, some utilities have begun working to undermine policies that support residential solar deployment, and some states that are especially hostile to renewable energy have policies on the books that put rooftop solar out of reach for many homeowners.²²⁷ State tax credits, rebates, and exemptions can help encourage broader adoption of rooftop solar, as can net metering policies, which credits homeowners for solar power that they sell back to the electric grid.

Plugging in electric transportation

Electric cars, buses, and bikes offer a range of cleaner, cost-effective transportation options, and incentivizing electrified transportation can help tackle local air pollution, traffic congestion, gasoline price shocks, and accessibility issues, among other goals. The transportation sector is now the largest contributor to U.S. greenhouse emissions, ²²⁸ and electrification is key to reducing emissions. Electric buses and bicycles can provide alternatives to personal vehicles tailored to different travelers and communities. For example, e-bikes promote exercise and healthy living by making biking easier and more accessible, ²²⁹ while electric buses reduce diesel pollution and enhance transit access.²³⁰

Providing incentives to purchase electric vehicles (EVs) can encourage more people to adopt this clean technology. Several states have issued rebates, created tax credits, or created other financial incentives for EV purchases or leases. If a state already has an existing EV incentive, it can strengthen it by allowing it to be applied at the point of sale, promoting it along with information about EVs, and ensuring that it remains in place long enough to foster EV market development.

States can also use the power of procurement and partnerships to help accelerate the EV transition. For example, a state could commit and dedicate funding to upgrade its vehicle fleet to all-electric by 2030 and encourage automakers to provide EV options for specialized vehicles such as police cars by negotiating long-term procurement contracts. Although state fleets account for 5 percent of the nation's 3 million fleet vehicles, city fleets account for more than 50 percent. Working together with cities could unlock an even greater transformation.²³¹

As states have adopted EV incentives and automakers increase EV sales, drivers need the assurance of accessible charging infrastructure. The United States is home to more than 16,000 charging stations and 44,000 plugs for EVs, but these resources are currently concentrated in a few large, urban areas and along hightraffic corridors.²³² States can hasten this development and ensure fair access by funding charging stations at state facilities, creating incentives or public-private partnerships to build out infrastructure, programming Volkswagen settlement funds for charging infrastructure, and setting a goal of growing the number of stations in their state.

States can work together to promote EV growth. For example, seven Western states work together on standards, funding, and other measures to increase charging infrastructure availability along several highway corridors.²³³ Ten states participate in California's zero-emission vehicle mandate program.²³⁴

For other modes of electric transportation, states can commit to converting transit and school buses to 100 percent electric by 2030 and draft a plan to accommodate this transition into the existing turn-over rates to phase out nonelectric buses. In budget cycles, states can dedicate funding to building charging infrastructure at bus depots or stops. For e-bikes and bike infrastructure, states can begin by creating a pilot program for cities to promote biking infrastructure, such as protected bike lanes and charging stations, and set aside funding to provide rebates and make e-bikes more affordable through bike-share programs or subsidies for individuals.

State future funds

More frequent and intense extreme weather events are increasing the strain on aging electrical grids, public transit systems, and other infrastructure that supports states' economies and the daily lives of their residents.²³⁵ The record-breaking hurricane

season in 2017 and past disasters such as Superstorm Sandy have laid bare the vulnerability of our nation's infrastructure to more severe storms in a changing climate and the devastating economic and public health toll of prolonged power outages and crippled transportation and water systems.²³⁶

All the while, the risks and costs of extreme weather have been rising.²³⁷ The escalating threat of extreme weather damage is more than the nation's D-plus rated infrastructure can bear.²³⁸ Yet instead of offering workable infrastructure solutions, President Trump has canceled a flood-risk standard that protected new infrastructure from flooding and costly repairs and continues to roll back environmental and public health protections.²³⁹

The American people demand a smarter and more forward-thinking response to the nation's pressing infrastructure challenges. In the absence of federal leadership, states must lead the way to build safe and future-ready infrastructure that will support a strong and inclusive economy and protect the clean air and water and natural areas that voters deeply value. Governors and state legislators can do this by creating State Future Funds. These state revolving loan funds would provide state funding for innovative energy, transportation, flood protections, and other neighborhood improvements designed to withstand more extreme weather. These investments would increase energy security, cut energy bills, reduce time wasted sitting in heavy traffic, and lower flood risks and economic losses in the wake of disasters.²⁴⁰

For every \$1 invested in building resilient communities and infrastructure, \$6 are saved in future costs, including economic disruptions, property damage, public health crises, and deaths caused by extreme weather disasters.²⁴¹ State Future Funds would also create new jobs and improve local clean energy and community resilience job training programs. According to the Department of Transportation, every \$1 billion invested in modernizing infrastructure over 10 years creates roughly 12,500 direct and indirect jobs.²⁴²

State leaders could pursue several pathways to capitalize State Future Funds. For example, they could issue state bonds, identify potential tax revenues, or appropriate resources for the funds. In addition, state leaders could add a small futureready surcharge to utility bills to support the fund, require a 20 percent project cost share from local governments, and leverage philanthropic investments and federal funding, as well as private capital raised by other infrastructure banks.²⁴³

Lastly, well-designed public-private partnerships with electric utilities could help to leverage limited public resources to improve states' energy security and expand renewable energy generation capacity.

State Future Funds would prioritize investments in places that need new infrastructure the most, including low-income areas and communities of color, and would be designed to invest in projects that create good jobs with fair wages. The funds would improve economic mobility in urban, rural, and tribal communities by expanding affordable transportation options and increasing access to good jobs, schools, child care, and community services. For example, the funds could provide low-interest loans, loan guarantees, direct investment, and other support to upgrade and link regional transportation services, modernize public transit systems, install EV charging stations, deploy electric buses, and build bike and pedestrian paths. The funds could also strengthen energy security and affordability by building smart grids, community solar projects, and large-scale renewable energy generation facilities; upgrading the power grid; and supporting energy efficiency improvements. Lastly, the funds could improve neighborhood livability and safety by building new parks, expanding the urban tree canopy, and protecting natural areas that help to shield residents, businesses, and farms from flooding.

Ultimately, state leaders could also propose that Congress pass legislation to help capitalize State Future Funds in every state using federal funds to modernize infrastructure across the nation.²⁴⁴ By creating State Future Funds, state leaders can accelerate forward-leaning infrastructure and community investments needed to improve the safety, public health, and prosperity of all residents.²⁴⁵

Grow the outdoor economy

Policymakers can strengthen their local economies by putting forward policies that protect public lands and support access to the places that provide the foundation for a healthy outdoor economy. The outdoor recreation economy is a big business, generating \$887 billion in consumer spending annually and employing 7.6 million people across the nation. ²⁴⁶ To thrive, this economic powerhouse relies on access to healthy public lands and waters. Indeed, Outdoor Retailer, the host of the nation's \$45 million biannual outdoor recreation trade show, left Utah over state policymakers' anti-public lands policy and rhetoric, underscoring the economic and political value of smart public lands policies.²⁴⁷ Protecting public lands and access is especially important in rural America, where towns and communities are gateways to the public lands that drive tourism and outdoor recreational spending.

A bold step that state policymakers can take is to establish a concrete goal of creating new open spaces—for instance, setting a goal of creating 10 new parks within two or four years—to clearly communicate a commitment to public lands and growing the outdoor recreation economy. Creating new open space could come in the form of designating new state, county, or city parks. It could also entail granting access to state lands that are currently closed to the public, such as opening state trust lands to recreation and codifying strong stream access laws. Prioritizing new open space in and near communities that are lacking outdoor access is a good way to diversify their economies and tap into tourism dollars that come with outdoor recreation. In addition, creating an office of outdoor recreation or creating a public access specialist position is an effective way for policymakers to prioritize access. Dedicated staff can listen to public concerns and work to remove barriers to access.

States can also support existing public lands with a dedicated funding stream that is immune to political whims; this could be done through a constitutional amendment, for example. Some states have had success funding outdoor recreation and public lands through programs that use a portion of state lottery proceeds or revenue from out-of-state fishing and hunting licenses to create permanent funding.

State leaders should also encourage their young residents to get outdoors to support their health and well-being. The national Every Kid in a Park program was developed to give every fourth-grade student—and their family—the opportunity to explore parks and public lands free of charge. 248 This program could be replicated at the state, or even local, level. Additionally, policymakers could establish an outdoor school program that provides funding for all fifth and/or sixth graders to have a week of class focused on the great outdoors.

Women and families

American families have changed dramatically over the past 70 years, and yet the country's workplace policies have not kept pace. Today, 42 percent of mothers are sole or primary breadwinners, earning at least half of their family's income, and another 22 percent are co-breadwinners.²⁴⁹ Women and men are confronting the daily challenge of managing work, family, and the costs of raising children and caring for aging relatives with little external support.

The economic implications of the absence of strong, comprehensive policies that empower women are enormous. Many workers lack the ability to take time off to care for a newborn, the ability to pay for high-quality child care, and access to the kind of predictable and fair scheduling that permits attendance at everyday occurrences such as parent-teacher conferences or trips to the pediatrician. More and more adults are struggling to care for their parents and other aging family members while maintaining their jobs. These challenges result in a troubling number of American workers, and particularly women, being pushed into part-time work, or out of the workforce entirely, because of their family care needs. Women also continue to face a significant gender pay gap, with full-time year-round workers making only 80 cents for every dollar paid to men who work full time, year-round, or significantly less for women of color. If employers were to increase women's pay to match that of men, on average that could mean an extra \$10,086 a year for their families—and even more for women of color.²⁵⁰

Protections to advance women's equality, opportunity, and overall health and well-being—at work and even in their doctor's office—have also lagged. Although Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 prohibited sex discrimination in the workplace, it is clear that discriminatory practices, such as sexual harassment, persist across every occupation and industry. And despite the landmark ruling in Roe v. Wade that a woman's right to privacy under the 14th Amendment extends to her decision to have an abortion, some states have sought to erode—if not effectively nullify—that right and impose measures to interfere with the advice and care provided in the context of the doctor-patient relationship, and to undermine women's reproductive rights.

CAP offers several policies below that states could pass to modernize the nation's workplace laws, as well as better protect women's health by centering patients and by ensuring that providers can recommend care solely on the basis of professional, evidence-based standards.

Expand access to paid family and medical leave

Americans need a comprehensive paid family and medical leave policy to ensure that every worker has the right to take paid time off for the birth or adoption of a new child or to care for their own illness or injury or that of a loved one. Research shows that comprehensive paid family and medical leave is good for families, businesses, and the economy: It can boost maternal and child health outcomes, reduce employee turnover, and increase women's labor force participation.²⁵¹

Yet the United States is the only advanced economy that does not guarantee mothers the right to paid maternity leave. Only 13 percent of the private sector has access to paid family leave, and only 41 percent of private-sector workers have temporary disability insurance offered through their jobs. ²⁵² Each year, working families in the United States forgo an estimated \$20.6 billion in lost wages due to the lack of access to paid family and medical leave.²⁵³

Currently, the Family and Medical Leave Act covers about 6 in 10 workers, enabling them to have access to up to 12 weeks of unpaid leave per year for family or medical leave purposes.²⁵⁴ Those who are not eligible can still lose their jobs if they need to take time off to recover from a serious illness or take care of a loved one. Even workers who are eligible for job-protected leave may face the impossible choice between their paychecks and their health, or the well-being of their family.

There is broad public support for paid family and medical leave. Recent polling shows that 70 percent of small-business owners think it is important to establish a gender-neutral federal paid family and medical leave program that workers can use to care for themselves or a family member. 255 And almost 70 percent of those who voted for President Trump support a national social insurance program for paid family and medical leave, alongside 89 percent of those who voted for Hillary Clinton.²⁵⁶

America is woefully behind its peers when it comes to the policies that can support and empower women in the workplace. The United States and Papua New Guinea share the dubious distinction of being the only nations in the world that do not have a national paid maternity leave policy. While a national plan is the ideal, states have options and need not wait.

States can pass their own paid leave laws covering all workers in their state. California, New Jersey, and Rhode Island have now implemented different versions of paid family and medical leave programs, and New York, the District of Columbia, and Washington have passed them. 257 Unlike the others, Washington did not previously have a temporary disability insurance program in place that could be built upon, and so it provides a model for implementation for most other states. (See also our proposal under "Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Queer Rights" to ensure that such policies cover chosen families.)

States could also choose to take the narrower step of offering paid family and medical leave to all public employees. Alternatively, states could establish leave banks where public sector employees could donate the time they have accrued in paid leave so that others who needed the time but do not have enough on their own could use it. This could be set up so that leave was used either on an emergency or planned basis.

Short of these steps, states can lay the groundwork for future action by authorizing a grant program to support experts working to design, develop, or conduct actuarial modeling on a paid leave proposal for the state. The Department of Labor under the Obama administration awarded similar grants, helping states and localities research program design and state administration options.

Ensure equal pay for equal work

Equal pay for equal work is key to the American commitment to equality and fairness. Yet throughout the U.S. economy, gender and racial wage gaps persist. Overall, women who work full-time, year-round make only 80 cents for every dollar made by men who are full-time, year-round workers. This gap is even larger for women of color. African American women make 63 cents for every dollar made by white, non-Hispanic men while Native American women make 57 cents, Latinas make only 54 cents, and Asian American women earn 87 cents for every dollar earned by white men, although this varies largely by subgroup.²⁵⁸

These pay disparities undermine women and families' economic security and long-term financial stability. Although thousands of pay discrimination charges are filed each year, there are many potential charges that go unreported because unequal pay is often difficult to uncover. Very little comparative pay information is available to workers, and even officials who are charged with enforcing equal pay laws lack regular access to comprehensive pay data from employers.²⁵⁹ Wage discrimination does not just harm women, and it is not just based on gender. On average, men filed 15 percent of gender-based wage discrimination charges during the four-year period from fiscal years 2013 through 2016. Additionally, nearly one-fifth of wage discrimination charges include an allegation of discrimination based on age, and a slightly smaller percentage of charges allege wage discrimination based on disability.260

To better protect workers from pay discrimination, states should strengthen equal pay protections by promoting greater transparency and pay disclosure, instituting better data collection methods, boosting enforcement efforts, and updating how equal work is defined in the law.

Depending on existing laws in each state, there are several legal changes that could be pursued to help tighten existing protections. First, states could ban potential employers from requesting a candidate's prior salary history, which can be used to justify paying one applicant more than another and perpetuate long-standing pay disparities that often relegate women and people of color to lower salaries. California, Delaware, Massachusetts, and several cities have already adopted such prior-salary ban policies. 261 Second, states could require employers to post starting salaries or salary ranges in job announcements, which would help hold employers accountable and establish transparency in pay processes. Third, states could require employers who receive state contracts to submit pay data on an annual basis. This information could be used by state enforcement agencies to help identify significant pay disparities and evaluate compliance with anti-discrimination legal obligations.

Prevent and respond to sexual harassment

Recent public discourse surrounding sexual harassment has focused on highprofile cases in politics, the media, and the entertainment industry. But sexual harassment is not confined to the elite contexts of Congress, Hollywood, and the news business; it is a structural barrier that holds all workers back from finding and keeping jobs, being productive, and performing their work to the best of

their ability. Although more research is needed to figure out who is most affected, it is evident that sexual harassment occurs across all industries and occupations; it affects women and men from every racial, ethnic, and economic background, and it affects workers in low-wage and high-wage occupations.

A CAP analysis of unpublished charge data over a 10-year period found that a little more than 80 percent of sexual harassment charges filed with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) were made by women, and slightly less than 20 percent were filed by men. 262 Women of color face an increased risk of experiencing sexual harassment at work because of compounding racial, ethnic, and gender stereotypes. Low-wage workers are particularly vulnerable to sexual harassment because of perceived power imbalances and limited worker protections and benefits.

CAP's recent analysis of unpublished EEOC data also showed that several industries with high percentages of service and low-wage workers had high numbers of sexual harassment charges. Moreover, among sexual harassment charges filed in fiscal year 2017, nearly 72 percent of those filing charges alleged retaliation in the same or subsequent charge.²⁶³ Additionally, surveys suggest that high numbers of LGBTQ workers have faced sexual harassment on the job.²⁶⁴ Undocumented workers may also be particularly vulnerable to sexual harassment because they might be afraid to report or be unaware of their legal protections to do so.

There are myriad actions that could help combat sexual harassment in the workplace. States could double the resources for state enforcement agencies charged with investigating and resolving sexual harassment complaints, increase funding for survivor support services, and conduct a state-wide survey on sexual harassment to measure the scope of the problem in both the public and private sector. To empower harassment survivors and encourage them to come forward, states could create or expand capacity for sexual harassment hotlines or create a worker advocate program so that workers could receive unbiased advice from a trusted source.

States could also seek to limit the use of mandatory arbitration or other pre-dispute nondisclosure requirements in certain employment contracts. Many workers sign such agreements when they start a job requiring them to submit any workplace disputes to arbitration. Such proceedings can be coercive and may not afford employees the same protections that are provided under workplace discrimination laws. There is legislation in Congress that would prohibit or limit the use of this type of arbitration requirement, but it could also be examined at the state level.

To broaden protections against retaliation for coming forward with a claim, states could clarify their existing laws to ensure that victims can pursue claims when retaliation is a motivating factor for an adverse employment action or could involve stronger penalties when retaliation is proven.

Finally, states could require employers who receive state contracts to provide an annual report summarizing recent harassment settlements and findings of discrimination. Employers with troubling records of repeat violations could be blocked from receiving new lucrative state contracts and could be forced to show what steps they had taken to address sexual harassment before they were eligible to receive any such funds.

Protect the patient-provider relationship

With a great amount of uncertainty surrounding women's health care access at the federal level, state policymakers must offer proactive solutions to advance women's health and protect women's right to affordable health care. Important health care decisions—including whether or not to obtain abortion care should remain in the examination room between the patient and the provider, not dictated by politicians. Unfortunately, legal requirements that restrict abortion care have escalated in recent years. In 2017 alone, 19 states passed 63 new abortion restrictions, and the total number of abortion restrictions enacted since 2011 is now 401.²⁶⁵ The majority of states now have abortion restrictions: 41 states require abortion to be performed by a licensed physician, 43 have time-limit bans, and 37 require parental consent for minors. 266 These laws are passed under the false pretense of protecting women's health and safety and are often based on purely junk science.

These legislated requirements, both medically unsound and unnecessary, pose major complications to a healthy patient-provider relationship and universal access to abortion services. And the presence of taxpayer-funded fake women's health centers, known as crisis pregnancy centers, further serve to disrupt a woman's access to comprehensive care—an issue that was recently argued in front of the Supreme Court. For example, two states have passed laws requiring doctors to tell patients that medication abortion may be "reversible." ²⁶⁷

These types of policies necessitate a proactive response to political interference in health care to ensure that ideology does not interfere with evidence-based medical practices. Proactive state policies to preserve the patient-provider relationship will improve access to abortion and free the patient-provider relationship of these unnecessary rules.

Two state efforts underway in Pennsylvania, through the Patient Trust Act, ²⁶⁸ and Ohio, through the Doctor-Patient Relationship Protection Act, ²⁶⁹ strive to center abortion care, and health care generally, within the patient-provider relationship, rather than within the confines of abortion legislation that disproportionately harms low-income women and women of color. These bills allow health care providers to surpass regulations that require them to give or withhold information or care when the regulation is not supported by evidence and/or recognized medical standards.

These efforts would protect health care providers who refuse to provide inaccurate medical information or unnecessary procedures and allow them to deliver care based on the most up-to-date medical evidence with women's health care needs at the center. They also could help protect patients from inaccurate and potentially harmful information, unnecessary procedures, and needless delays in accessing time-sensitive care.

These bills provide a roadmap for state policymakers seeking to fight government interference within the patient-provider relationship, promote women-centered approaches in the provision of abortion and other reproductive health care services, and enact legislation that emphasizes the need to expand access to abortion.

Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer rights

While the fight for lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer people's rights is decades old, the more recent emergence of a national marriage equality movement became a massive public education campaign about the lives of the estimated 10 million adults in the United States who identify as part of this community.²⁷⁰ With that came a greater understanding of the impact of both institutional and interpersonal discrimination on LGBTQ people and their families, who evidence disparities in health outcomes, economic security, housing instability, and other areas relative to their non-LGBTQ peers. Following the Supreme Court decision in Obergefell v. Hodges, which brought marriage equality nationwide, there is now a significant disconnect between the legal rights available to same-sex couples and the statutory nondiscrimination protections afforded all people based on their sexual orientation and gender identity and expression. A majority of LGBTQ people live in the roughly 30 states that still lack clear and explicit statutory discrimination protections, and many live in jurisdictions—such as North Carolina—where legislatures are actively fighting to pass and enforce statewide legislation that preempts localities from creating LGBTQ-inclusive protections.

With the landscape of federal protections uncertain, state officials can make significant, positive changes in LGBTQ people's lives across a range of policy areas, including implementing the ideas outlined in other sections of this report. Multiple state legislatures and executives have advanced inclusive nondiscrimination policies, bans on conversion therapy being conducted on minors, and employment protections for public sector workers. As a baseline, states can build a strong foundation of nondiscrimination protections for both individuals and families by updating their civil rights laws to include sexual orientation and gender identity protections and by ensuring that workplace leave policies are inclusive of all types of family structures.

Support LGBTQ-inclusive nondiscrimination protections

In 2015, a pediatrician in Detroit refused to care for a 6-day-old baby because she had two moms. 271 Sadly, discrimination against LGBTQ people is widespread and pervasive, affecting people in employment, housing, health care, access to credit, and other areas of life. One in four LGBTQ people reported experiencing sexual orientation or gender identity discrimination in 2016,²⁷² causing a significant number of them to avoid stores, restaurants, or even the doctor's office to avoid further discrimination.²⁷³

Fortunately, roughly 20 states, the District of Columbia, and hundreds of localities have taken steps to protect LGBTQ people by adding sexual orientation and gender identity to their nondiscrimination laws.²⁷⁴ Another two states fail to explicitly protect transgender and gender-nonconforming people in employment but do explicitly protect residents on the basis of sexual orientation.²⁷⁵

To fully protect the community, all states must pass explicit protections from discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation and gender identity and expression that mirror the rights of other protected classes. To achieve true equality, these protections should be comprehensive, inclusive, and maintain or preferably enhance civil rights laws for other protected classes.²⁷⁶ Another core principle is that the nondiscrimination law not include an overly broad religious exemption, particularly one that treats sexual orientation and gender identity differently from other classes, since such an exemption undermines the nondiscrimination law by licensing discrimination and is not necessary to protect the crucial right to religious freedom.²⁷⁷

In addition to pushing for legislative protections, state executives should interpret existing protections on the basis of sex as including sexual orientation and gender identity, in line with court precedent and the findings of the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission.²⁷⁸ In 2016, for example, the governor of New York promulgated regulations to interpret prohibitions on sex discrimination in the state's human rights law as including prohibitions on gender identity discrimination.²⁷⁹

Support paid leave policies that expand the definition of family to include chosen family

Public policy regularly defines those individuals considered to be family, children, or dependents to determine eligibility for benefits such as health care or paid leave. While various community traditions have long established family structures different from the stereotypical notion of the so-called nuclear family model, public policy has not always been responsive to the needs of other types of families. Today, less than 20 percent of households adhere to the model of a married couple and their children, 280 and LGBTQ people especially rely on alternative family structures. A recent CAP survey demonstrated that the need for paid leave policies that cover chosen families is widely shared: Among currently employed adults, 32 percent have needed to take time off from work to care for a friend or chosen family member, and an even higher percentage of individuals identifying as LGBTQ (42 percent) or as having a disability (also 42 percent) were providing this kind of care.²⁸¹

Fortunately, state and local officials have taken the lead in advancing workplace policies that include chosen family and these types of policies are supported by the public at-large as well. In 2016, for example, nearly 1.5 million Arizonans voted in favor of a ballot measure to provide guaranteed paid sick time that includes chosen family, and the New Jersey state legislature passed a more inclusive paid sick time law in April 2017.²⁸²

To meet the needs of a greater proportion of families, state officials can advance both legislation and regulations that define family in more inclusive ways. Building on a long history in federal regulation, ²⁸³ since 2016, nine state and local paid sick time laws have been passed that cover chosen and extended family.²⁸⁴ There are various models in use in these states and localities, including a "blood or affinity" standard that has been used to include chosen and extended family in some jurisdictions.²⁸⁵ It is important to note, however, that in some but not all states the "blood or affinity" phrasing may be a narrower option for covering chosen family. This is because "affinity" in some states, based on statutory or common law, describes familial relationships created by marriage, 286 which would exclude many of the nonlegal relationships chosen family is meant to encompass. To guard against this, states that expand paid family and medical leave and/or paid sick and safe days should review their state legal landscape and consider a definition of chosen family that omits the word affinity, such as "any other individual related by blood or whose close association with the Employee is the equivalent of a family relationship," as Austin, Texas, and Chicago and Cook County, Illinois, have done.²⁸⁷

Immigration

Immigration policy in 2018 stands at a precarious place. Even though more than 80 percent of the population supports providing a path to citizenship for Dreamers—undocumented people who came to the United States at a young age—Congress remains gridlocked and hundreds of thousands of Dreamers remain at risk of losing their ability to remain in the country.²⁸⁸ After unsuccessful efforts in 2006, 2007, and 2013 to pass legislation that would similarly provide a path to citizenship to the broader undocumented immigrant population, Congress appears unlikely to take up the issue at present.²⁸⁹ In the absence of congressional action, the Trump administration is aggressively ramping up detentions and deportations of anyone here without status, regardless of equities or community ties and without any sense of compassion. Long-time residents of the United States are being arrested, detained, and deported while bringing their children to school,²⁹⁰ recovering from surgery in the hospital,²⁹¹ seeking a protective order in court,²⁹² and even while interviewing with U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services to adjust to lawful permanent resident status through marriage.²⁹³

At the same time, cities and states across the country are taking actions that welcome immigrants, rather than reject them, and that help them assert their rights as members of the community.²⁹⁴ Officials, advocates, and policymakers in these areas understand the benefits—to the economy, to the community, to public safety, and more—that come with integrating rather than excluding immigrants. Undocumented immigrants alone, for example, pay more than \$11.7 billion in state and local taxes each year.²⁹⁵ Altogether, immigrants across the United States hold more than \$926 billion in purchasing power—money that would evaporate were these immigrants to be forced or driven out from their communities.²⁹⁶

CAP proposes three actions that states and localities could take to help with this integration. First, states and cities should follow the lead of places from Los Angeles to Austin, Texas, to New York state that have created funds to help immigrants access and afford a legal defense. Second, states and cities can do more to expand identification cards and to open professional licensing to immigrants to

ensure that all members of the community can contribute to their fullest potential. Third, states should streamline occupational licensing to allow immigrants to enter or re-enter their occupations.

Create an immigrant legal justice fund to guarantee legal representation to immigrants

As the Trump administration has ramped up attacks on immigrant communities—indiscriminately targeting parents,²⁹⁷ young children,²⁹⁸ Dreamers,²⁹⁹ teachers,³⁰⁰ survivors of domestic abuse,³⁰¹ and others for detention and deportation—several locales have created funds to support legal services and legal defense for immigrants.³⁰² Cities, counties, and states can follow their leadership by setting up similar funds to protect their immigrant communities, particularly for those in detention and facing enormous barriers to fighting their cases.

Because immigration proceedings are civil, rather than criminal, immigrants are not guaranteed to have an attorney present—and not at the government's expense—for their immigration proceedings.³⁰³ Even children as young as toddlers do not have a right to appointed counsel, and significant numbers of children in immigration proceedings still do not have representation.³⁰⁴ Nationwide, only an estimated 37 percent of immigrants between 2007 and 2012 had legal representation, a figure that drops precipitously to only 14 percent for immigrants in detention. Yet immigrants with counsel are significantly more likely to apply for, and receive, relief.³⁰⁵

Among the jurisdictions that have created specific funds for immigrant legal services are New York City with a \$16.4 million fund;³⁰⁶ Los Angeles with a \$10 million fund;³⁰⁷ New York with a \$10 million fund;³⁰⁸ Chicago with a \$1.3 million fund;³⁰⁹ and the District of Columbia with a \$500,000 fund.³¹⁰ The funding mechanisms for these initiatives vary. New York's Liberty Defense Project, for example, includes private philanthropic funding from the Carnegie Corporation of New York and the Ford Foundation,³¹¹ while Austin, Texas, initially used emergency relief funds to cover \$200,000 in legal defense funding.³¹² Likewise, the L.A. Justice Fund contains a mix of public and private funding.³¹³

On the other hand, the vast majority of the money for New York City's fund comes from the city's budget, with only a small portion coming from private donors.³¹⁴ Similarly, in an effort to encourage public funding of these programs, the Vera Institute for Justice recently launched the SAFE Cities Network,

which provides matching grants to jurisdictions across 11 cities and counties in eight states that have dedicated resources for legal representation for immigrants facing deportation.315

Likewise, the services covered by these funds also vary. Some, such as the L.A. Justice fund, 316 are primarily targeted toward defending immigrants caught up in the deportation machinery and providing know-your-rights trainings. Other programs, such as the New York Immigrant Family Unity project, are specifically dedicated to providing universal legal representation to any immigrant in detention who cannot otherwise afford it.³¹⁷ Still others, such as the District of Columbia's Immigrant Justice Legal Services Grant Program, help with legal defense and also provide funding to organizations working to help immigrants naturalize or apply for protection under programs such as Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals (DACA) or for U or T visas, for victims of crimes and trafficking, respectively. 318 While providing legal counsel—particularly for those in immigrant detention—is of paramount importance, helping those that have DACA renew their status and defray the nearly \$500 fee is all the more critical right now, given court injunctions allowing these renewals to move forward and Congress' failure to pass legislative protection for Dreamers.³¹⁹

Issue driver's licenses and state identification cards regardless of immigration status

Having an official identification document with a photo may sound routine, but it has the power to increase access to essential services, such as public libraries, and enhance safety and security. Throughout the United States, without valid identification, a person can be barred from basic activities such as renting an apartment, confirming a hotel reservation, and picking up prescription medicines. Unfortunately, the roughly 11 million unauthorized immigrants in the country must find ways to navigate their daily lives since they often lack identification of any format, including foreign passports.³²⁰

The REAL ID Act of 2005 requires that for state-issued ID cards to be used to enter certain federal facilities or to board just about any flight, they must meet a set of national standards that include verification of an applicant's Social Security number and proof of lawful status.³²¹ However, REAL ID also grants states flexibility to issue noncompliant driver's licenses and ID cards to those individuals for whom lawful status cannot be determined. These IDs must be distinct from compliant cards and cannot be used for certain federal purposes but can still be used for activities such as driving or to access businesses and services.³²²

Several states have taken the initiative to ensure that everyone has access to a driver's license and, in some cases, state ID cards, regardless of their immigration status. While the provisions and the way they are administered differ across states, they allow individuals who do not have the otherwise-required documents including those showing valid immigration status—to receive drivers' licenses. As of May 2017, 12 states—California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Hawaii, Illinois, Maryland, Nevada, New Mexico, Utah, Vermont, and Washington—the District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico have laws that allow their jurisdiction to issue some form of driver's license allowing unauthorized immigrants to drive; some also issue state ID cards.³²³

There is a strong case to be made for other states to follow the lead of these dozen states. Allowing access to driver's licenses for people on the road is a commonsense policy.³²⁴ It improves interaction of local law enforcement with unauthorized immigrants by giving local enforcement an easy way to find out an individual's identity. It makes roads safer for everyone and has been shown to increase states' revenues.325

Furthermore, cities looking to improve the lives of their immigrant residents can look toward municipal ID cards that also have similar benefits regarding identification. 326 For example, New York City; New Haven, Connecticut; and Oakland, California, allow individuals to apply for municipal ID cards with a flexible set of required documents. Many cities work with local banks to ensure that they can be used to open bank accounts and access other banking services. The Richmond, California, ID card allows cardholders an optional prepaid card service with access to banking services such as direct deposit and debit card services.³²⁷

Streamline state licensing to allow immigrant workers to easily enter or re-enter their occupations

According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics, nearly one-quarter of American workers in 2016 had occupational licenses.³²⁸ Occupational licenses are permits issued by states and some cities to allow individuals to legally work in a specific field. While there is an ongoing discussion about reforming occupational licensure more generally, the hodgepodge of different and sometimes contradictory requirements across federal, state, and local regulations creates an extra burden on immigrant workers wanting to either get recertified or enter a certain occupation. Making it easier for immigrants to get recertified at every level of skill, as well as removing barriers to enter a field, is beneficial not just for immigrants but also for each state's economy.

One of the main barriers for highly skilled, foreign-trained immigrant and refugee professionals is navigating the complex state licensing requirements, credential assessment services, and membership in professional associations often needed to work in occupations that match their skills. 329 These processes are lengthy and expensive, locking out many immigrants and refugees who are trying to adjust to their new lives. In a heavily regulated field such as medicine, foreign-trained professionals must validate their training, pass licensing exams, and go through years of residency, regardless of their experience abroad. Given that the pool of immigrants coming to the United States are increasingly highly educated, not having a streamlined system in place to recognize the foreign credentials of professionals means that states will be underutilizing their skills and losing out on valuable contributions.³³⁰

These state-issued licenses are not limited to doctors, lawyers, and engineers; they also span hundreds of middle- and low-income occupations, such as manicurists, travel guides, and barbers.³³¹ The requirements to get licenses for low-skilled work often place an undue burden on immigrants, for example, by requiring things such as English language proficiency or proof of years of work in the United States.³³²

For unauthorized immigrants, it is even trickier to get licensed in any field. Although state licensing boards regulate licenses, federal law does not allow states to give professional licenses to unauthorized workers unless states actively pass legislation allowing them to do so. 333 For example, California passed a bill to ensure that licenses are not restricted because of a person's immigration status. Several states have passed laws to grant access to professional licenses to recipients of DACA:³³⁴ Florida and Illinois allow DACA recipients to apply for law licenses; Nebraska extended access to all occupational licensing to DACA recipients, overriding the governor's veto; 335 and New York allows recipients to get certain professional licenses and a teacher certification. Although the Indiana Professional Licensing Agency concluded recently that a 2011 law prohibits DACA recipients from holding a professional license, 336 the state's Republican governor supports legislation to fix this issue, arguing that until Congress takes action, "Indiana state law should allow DACA recipients to skill up and work here in Indiana."337 Each of these important provisions hangs in the balance with uncertainty around the future of the DACA program. Nevertheless, with nearly 700,000 people with active DACA status today, expanding licensing remains important.³³⁸

Criminal justice

Ensuring the public's safety is an enduring priority of states across the country. It is an essential foundation for thriving schools, economic development, and virtually all aspects of community life. Over the past 25 years, the crime rate in the United States has steadily declined and now is half of what it was during its peak years in the early 1990s.³³⁹ Common misconceptions dictate that this remarkable feat was achieved through the overreliance, or exclusive reliance, on increasing arrests, convictions, and lengthy prison sentences—so-called tough on crime policies. But researchers have concluded that there is only weak evidence that increased prison populations led to large aggregate reductions in crime rates. Instead, they attribute the drop in crime to a combination of other factors, such as a stronger economy, demographic changes and an aging population, and even technological innovations such as home alarm and surveillance systems.³⁴⁰

What tough on crime did achieve was mass incarceration with devastating effects, especially for people and communities of color. The statistics are now all too familiar. The United States has less than 5 percent of the world's population but nearly 25 percent of its incarcerated population.³⁴¹ Thirty-two states and the District of Columbia have a higher incarceration rate than any other country in the world.³⁴² On average, there are more than 730,000 people who sit in jail every day, the vast majority of whom have not been convicted of a crime but are awaiting trial.³⁴³ In short, the criminal justice system has become far larger than necessary. And 1 in 3 Americans now have some type of criminal record, which can present lifelong barriers to employment, housing, education and training, and more, making even a minor record a life sentence to poverty.³⁴⁴

In recent years, states across the country have been leading the way to reform their criminal justice systems to make them fairer and more equitable while simultaneously enhancing public safety. Whether motivated to end mass incarceration or to reduce budgets bloated from the cost of imprisoning more than 2 million people each year, elected leaders and their constituents continue to push for change. This includes revising criminal penalties by eliminating mandatory minimums, reforming police practices to emphasize de-escalation over using force, eliminating the criminalization of poverty that keeps people in jail if they cannot make bail or pay a court fee, and ensuring that people with criminal records can re-enter their communities and lead more productive lives.

The need for states to enact criminal justice reforms is as crucial as ever, especially with the absence of federal leadership and new public safety challenges. Although crime rates overall remain low, some jurisdictions have experienced fluctuations in violent crimes over the past two years. Many states are dealing with another drug crisis, as heroin- and opioid-related overdoses and deaths reach epidemic proportions. States can respond by either retreating to discredited conventional wisdom or by forging ahead with comprehensive and data- and evidence-driven solutions that will produce a fairer, more just, and effective criminal justice system. The following are a few examples of this Smart on Crime approach.³⁴⁵

Respond to substance misuse as an epidemic, not a war

The United States is currently in the middle of a devastating substance abuse crisis. Since 2000, the number of opioid related deaths has quadrupled, and there were three times more heroin-related deaths in 2015 than in 2010.³⁴⁶ To put it in starker terms, nearly 200 lives are lost every day to a drug addiction. Needless to say, the current emergency requires immediate attention and solutions, but recent history teaches that the thoughtfulness of the approach is just as important as the speed of the response.

Thankfully, a growing number of elected leaders have acknowledged the failures of tough on crime responses to crack cocaine and are taking a different approach to tackling this problem. Instead of reviving a war on drugs, states are considering opioid addiction to be a public health epidemic. This means that treatment is preferred over punishment and that a medical diagnosis is held to be more effective than a criminal conviction. For example, some states are expanding Medicaid and health insurance coverage for evidence-based medication-assisted treatment, combining a medication such as methadone with behavioral therapy. States also are enhancing and expanding prescription drug monitoring programs that track controlled substance prescriptions in a state through an electronic database that is accessible to health care providers. A few jurisdictions are experimenting with more provocative harm reduction strategies such as syringe exchanges and safe injection sites.

As the effort to institute a public health approach to substance abuse grows, states must address how to reform criminal justice responses to ensure that they are aligned with this course. This entails significant training and policy changes within police departments, jails, and state prisons, among other agencies. The following is a list of policies and strategies that states can undertake to ensure a consistent approach.

Pass and consistently enforce good Samaritan laws

These laws afford immunity or some type of legal protection to a person who reports an overdose to 911 or other emergency responders. These laws encourage people who are experiencing, or observe another person experiencing, a drug overdose to seek assistance even if the person, for example, is in possession of drug paraphernalia or has violated probation conditions.

Provide police with tools to prevent overdoses

An increasing number of law enforcement agencies are equipped with naloxone, a medication that rapidly reverses the effects of an opioid overdose. States should continue to provide funding for this tool, and their police accreditation agencies should require police and sheriff's departments to train all officers and deputies on how and when to use naloxone.

Invest a significant portion of the state's corrections budget in substance abuse treatment

States should increase substance abuse treatment programs and facilities. North Dakota, for example, appropriated \$7.5 million from its corrections budget and transferred it to its Department of Health and Human Services for drug treatment programs for parolees and probationers. The head of the state's corrections department endorsed this package of reform measures to "reduce our over-reliance on incarceration to deal with addiction and behavioral health issues."347

Evaluate retroactively applying the public health approach for all substance abuse

The opioid epidemic is notable not only because of the devastation it is causing but also because it is affecting a broader population—namely suburban and rural majority-white communities. Previous approaches, however, resulted in criminal convictions for people of color who were similarly dealing with substance abuse. States should consider greater use of clemency, expungement, and sealing of records for those who have previous criminal convictions that should have been addressed through a public health approach instead.

Make the pretrial system fairer and more effective

On any given day, approximately 20 percent of the total population incarcerated in our country's prisons and jails has not been convicted of the crime for which they were arrested but are legally innocent and awaiting trial or disposition of their case.³⁴⁸ In fact, the total U.S. jail population has nearly doubled in the past 15 years due to our antiquated pretrial systems that require some type of financial collateral to be paid, either directly by the person being released or through a bail bondsman who charges a substantial fee in order to secure release.³⁴⁹ Certainly, the public has an interest in ensuring that people neither abscond nor pose a danger to the community between their scheduled court appearances. But the manner in which states seek to achieve these goals can cause more individual and societal harm than needed.

For example, incarceration for even three days has a significant impact on whether a person will commit another crime in the future. According to a study conducted by the Laura and John Arnold Foundation, "When held 2-3 days, low-risk defendants are almost 40 percent more likely to commit new crimes before trial than equivalent defendants held no more than 24 hours."350 The money bail system also has a disproportionate effect on those who are poor and people of color. Recent studies in New York showed that black people were 10 percent more likely than white people to be detained pretrial.³⁵¹ Moreover, only 15 percent of those arrested could afford to pay bail set at \$500 or lower.352

But jurisdictions have found alternatives that take a smarter and more just approach. For the past 20 years, the District of Columbia has allowed more than 90 percent of people who are arrested to be released prior to trial. Instead of requiring these individuals to pay money for their release, the D.C. Pretrial Services Agency conducts an assessment of the person's needs and risks and makes a recommendation to a judge. The presumption is that a person will be released with specific requirements such as regular check-ins with pretrial officers and, where applicable, additional conditions such as drug testing. Those with a higher risk profile will be monitored through a GPS tracking device or subjected to home confinement. A person will be jailed only if no combination of conditions will reasonably assure the person's appearance in court and the public's safety. The results have surpassed conventional expectations: The district's court appearance rate and the percentage of people who do not commit crimes while released exceed 90 percent.³⁵³

Other states have enacted similar reforms. Kentucky passed legislation in 2011 that required judges to release any person whose pretrial assessment showed low or moderate risk levels.³⁵⁴ New Jersey followed suit in 2014, and since implementation, both the state's crime rate and pretrial jail population have decreased.³⁵⁵ In Congress, Sens. Kamala Harris (D-CA) and Rand Paul (R-KY) introduced the Pretrial Integrity and Safety Act, a bipartisan bill that provides resources to states looking to reform or remove their money bail systems. 356 The bill also provides a roadmap of four reforms that a state can institute through legislation to bring more fairness and equity to the pretrial justice system.

First, states should add an assessment tool that brings in objective factors other than criminal history to help determine whether a person will show up for court appearances and does not pose a danger to the community. These risk assessments should be locally validated so that they do not result in unwarranted racial or other disparities. Second, states should clarify that detention can only be used after a judicial officer determines, by clear and convincing evidence and after a hearing during which the defendant is represented by counsel, that the appearance of the defendant in court and the safety of the community cannot reasonably be assured through the use of any combination of release conditions. Third, states should direct pretrial release conditions to be the least restrictive necessary to reasonably assure the appearance of the defendant in court and the safety of others in the community. Finally, states should take the steps necessary to safeguard the constitutional rights of a defendant to a speedy trial.

Enable people with minor criminal records to earn a "clean slate"

Following decades of mass incarceration and over-criminalization, as many as 100 million—or 1 in 3 Americans—now have some type of criminal record. Many have only minor records, such as misdemeanors, and many have arrests that never even led to conviction. But with nearly 9 in 10 employers and 4 in 5 landlords now using background checks, any record can mean the difference between an opportunity and a closed door. Even a minor record can be a life sentence to poverty for people with records and their families, as employment, housing, education, and more can be permanently out of reach.³⁵⁷

Meanwhile, nearly half of U.S. children now have a parent with a criminal record.³⁵⁸ The barriers associated with a parent's record can severely limit a child's life chances, hampering cognitive development, school performance, and even employment outcomes in adulthood.³⁵⁹ The lifelong barriers associated with a criminal record take a toll on the national economy. Estimates put the cost of employment losses as high as \$87 billion in lost GDP every year, even as employers say they are facing skilled worker shortages and are having trouble finding qualified workers.³⁶⁰

The Clean Slate Act, bipartisan legislation that has passed both chambers of the Pennsylvania legislature, offers a model: enabling people to earn a "clean slate" once they have proven their rehabilitation by remaining crime-free for a set period of time. Research shows that once a person with a nonviolent conviction stays crime-free for three to four years, they are no more likely to commit a new crime than a member of the general population.³⁶¹

Clean slate legislation provides for the sealing of records, meaning the record is unavailable to the public but is retained by law enforcement—unlike with expungement, where the record is destroyed. Minor nonviolent records qualify for clean slate sealing. Exactly which types of records qualify for sealing can be tailored based on a state's needs, current records infrastructure, and political landscape.

Furthermore, clean slate legislation creates automatic, electronic sealing of records, ensuring that all eligible people benefit even if they cannot afford a lawyer. In addition, the automatic feature relieves additional burdens on the nation's already overtaxed courts by eliminating the need for lengthy expungement proceedings and oftentimes accomplishes sealing through a simple electronic data query by state court systems.

States should follow Pennsylvania's lead by enacting clean slate legislation. It has the potential to make a huge dent in the nation's poverty rate, boost labor force participation, and save taxpayer dollars in reduced incarceration costs—all while increasing public safety.

Gun violence prevention

Gun violence in the United States is a public health crisis. In 2016, 38,658 people were killed in tragic incidents that involved homicides, suicides, and accidental shootings.³⁶² Tens of thousands more are injured by gunfire every year.³⁶³ In 24 states, more people are killed by gunshots than in car accidents,³⁶⁴ and gunshots are a leading cause of injury-related death of young people between the ages of 15 and 29.³⁶⁵ While much attention is paid to the horrific high-profile mass shootings that take many lives in a single incident, the more common experience of gun violence in the Unites States involves interpersonal disputes that become fatal because of easy access to guns. When it comes to this daily toll of gun violence, communities of color are disproportionately affected because they often face social and economic challenges, such as poverty, lack of employment and educational opportunities, and overcriminalization and barriers to re-entry, as well as a lack of trust in police. All of these factors combined jeopardize public safety. While African Americans make up 14 percent of the total population, they account for 56 percent of all gun homicide victims.³⁶⁶ Easy access to guns also imperils the safety of victims of domestic violence. The presence of a gun in a household that has experienced domestic violence increases the risk that a woman will be murdered 500 percent.³⁶⁷ From 2006 to 2015, 55 percent of all women who were murdered by an intimate partner were killed with a gun.³⁶⁸ When we compare our experience with other high-income nations, it becomes clear that gun violence is a uniquely American problem. The gun murder rate in the United States is 25 times higher than that of our peer nations.³⁶⁹

Gun violence can seem like an intractable problem, particularly in light of the relative inaction to address it at the federal level. However, while there has been little progress in Congress to strengthen the nation's laws to help reduce gun violence, many states have been leading the way when it comes to enacting bold new solutions to help keep guns out of the wrong hands and to protect community safety. In just the two months immediately following the mass shooting at Marjory Stoneman Douglas High School in Parkland, Florida, a number of states acted quickly to strengthen state gun laws, including Florida, Vermont, Maryland, and Oregon.³⁷⁰ There is a growing body of evidence demonstrating that strong gun laws are effective at reducing gun violence. A 2016 CAP report analyzing data from the FBI and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention found that the 10 states with the weakest gun laws collectively have an aggregate level of gun violence that is more than three times higher than the 10 states with the strongest gun laws.³⁷¹ In addition to pursuing strong legislation to help keep guns out of the wrong hands, there are many options available for state leaders to take nonlegislative action to address many aspects of the gun violence problem in their communities. In 2015, CAP released a report offering 28 ideas for state executive action to reduce gun violence, including measures to strengthen the background check system, improve data collection, enhance community engagement in violence prevention efforts, and increase oversight over the gun industry.³⁷²

While progress on enacting strong new laws and policies to reduce gun violence remains stagnant in Congress, there is much that state leaders can do to address gun violence in their communities.

Implement strong laws and policies to help keep guns out of the wrong hands

There are four core aspects to keeping guns out of the wrong hands that state policymakers should consider.

Prevent gun sales to those who pose a serious risk to public safety

States need to enact strong laws that prohibit dangerous people from buying and possessing guns. Federal law sets a floor when it comes to eligibility for gun possession, barring nine categories of people from buying and possessing guns, including individuals convicted of felony crimes, some domestic abusers who have been convicted of misdemeanor crimes or subject to a restraining order, and individuals with a certain history of involuntary mental health treatment.³⁷³ However, the federal law has some significant gaps that can be addressed at the state level. For example, federal law does not prohibit gun ownership for individuals who have been convicted of misdemeanor-level domestic abuse against a dating partner, rather than a spouse. Federal law also does not cover individuals convicted of violent misdemeanor crimes, such as stalking and hate crimes. Governors should work with state legislators to enact strong laws that address these gaps in federal

law and ensure that all individuals who pose a serious risk to public safety are not legally eligible to buy guns. States should also enact legislation creating extreme risk protection orders—a civil remedy that allows family members or law enforcement to petition a court to temporarily remove firearms from a person experiencing a crisis who poses a risk of harm to self or others.³⁷⁴

Keep background check records accurate and updated

State leaders need to take steps to ensure that all records of prohibited individuals are provided to the National Instant Criminal Background Check System (NICS), the federal system operated by the FBI to conduct background checks for gun sales. The efficacy of the background check system hinges on the quality of the records within it, and there have been numerous examples of a breakdown in the communication of these records from local and state law enforcement agencies and courts to the FBI. For example, the perpetrator of the mass shooting at the First Baptist Church in Sutherland Springs, Texas, in November 2017 was able to buy the guns used in that attack despite a military conviction for domestic abuse because the Air Force failed to provide the record of his conviction to NICS. 375 The perpetrators who committed the mass shootings at the Emanuel African Methodist Episcopal Church in Charleston, South Carolina, in 2015 and Virginia Tech in 2007 similarly were able to buy guns despite being prohibited under federal law because of a breakdown in providing their information to NICS.³⁷⁶ State executives have a substantial role to play in working with local law enforcement agencies and court administrators to ensure that records of prohibited individuals are being properly identified, through a process of prevalidation, and communicated to NICS.³⁷⁷ States can also apply for federal grant funding provided through the NICS Act Record Improvement Program and the National Criminal History Improvement Program to help improve their ability to provide these crucial records.³⁷⁸ New federal legislation enacted as part of the fiscal year 2018 omnibus bill in March 2018 provides additional incentives for states to improve the submission of these records.³⁷⁹

Require background checks for all gun sales

States must enact legislation to require a background check for all gun sales. Under current federal law, only licensed gun dealers are required to conduct a background check, but unlicensed individuals are free to sell guns through private transactions without a background check and with no questions asked. As of April 2018,

20 states and Washington, D.C., have acted to close this gap in the federal law and require background checks for all gun sales, including private sale transactions that occur online or at gun shows.³⁸⁰ Evidence shows that states that have closed this loophole present significantly lower rates of gun suicides, gun homicides of women by intimate partners, and law enforcement officers killed with a gun.³⁸¹

Improve enforcement of gun laws

State leaders need to ensure that there are policies in place to ensure robust implementation and enforcement of gun laws, by ensuring, for example, that individuals are required to surrender any guns already in their possession once they become prohibited from gun ownership.³⁸² State leaders should also focus investigative and enforcement efforts on gun trafficking, particularly large-scale trafficking networks that move guns from states with weaker gun laws to states with stronger laws.³⁸³ State and local leaders should also dedicate resources to support community-based violence reduction programs, such as group violence intervention programs.³⁸⁴

Protect communities by preventing gun theft

The best estimates put the number of guns in the United States between 270 million and 310 million.³⁸⁵ One of the risks inherent in this level of gun ownership is that of theft. Gun theft is a substantial problem in the United States. From 2012 to 2015, an estimated 1.2 million guns were reported stolen from individuals nationwide. 386 The Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (ATF) has recently expressed concern about an increase in thefts from gun stores. Between 2012 and 2016, burglaries of gun stores increased 48 percent and robberies increased 175 percent. Nearly 31,500 guns were stolen from gun dealers during this period.³⁸⁷

Stolen guns pose a serious risk to community safety. In addition to exploiting weaknesses in the current law, theft is one of the primary ways that guns end up diverted from lawful owners and into illegal trafficking channels. The most recent ATF analysis found that nearly 14 percent of federal gun trafficking investigations involved guns stolen from gun dealers and another 10 percent involved guns stolen from individuals.³⁸⁸ Stolen guns also end up used in the commission of violent crime: From 2010 to 2015, more than 9,700 guns recovered by police as part of a criminal investigation and traced by ATF had been reported stolen or lost from gun dealers.³⁸⁹ There are many steps that state leaders can take to help prevent gun theft. There is a significant gap in the federal law that prevents ATF from requiring licensed gun dealers to implement any specific security measures to help secure their dangerous inventory.³⁹⁰ Governors should work with legislators to fill this gap by enacting state legislation to require gun stores to take certain mandatory steps to secure their inventory, such as installing an alarm system and video cameras, and storing guns securely during nonbusiness hours.³⁹¹ State executives should also consider options for using existing authority to encourage or incentivize gun stores to implement anti-theft measures.³⁹² In addition, governors should work with state legislatures to enact common sense laws to help prevent theft from individual gun owners, such as laws requiring the safe and secure storage of guns in the home and in vehicles.³⁹³ Finally, states should enact laws that require gun owners to report to local law enforcement when their guns are stolen or lost. Only 9 states require this type of reporting, and the lack of such mandatory reporting hinders law enforcement efforts to investigate gun thefts and recover stolen guns. The absence of a reporting requirement also enables gun trafficking and straw purchasing by allowing traffickers to simply say that any crime gun traced to them was stolen.³⁹⁴

Conclusion

Americans are hungry for government to take meaningful action to improve their lives. In this moment, states can step in where the federal government is blocked: As laboratories of democracy, states' experimentation and ability to more nimbly meet the needs on the ground enable them to deliver stability, security, and positive change for working families.

The policies in this report are a broad menu of new options for states to consider as they take up this mantle and tackle some of the most significant challenges facing their residents. While federal action is still needed, states can take steps to ensure that prosperity is broadly shared, safeguard air and water for generations to come, enshrine education as a pathway forward for all, and restore Americans' faith in democracy. By adopting these policies, states will not only uplift their own residents, they will also show the way for Congress and federal policymakers to govern with progressive values that put working families first.

Endnotes

- 1 Alexandra Thornton and Galen Hendricks, "Kansas 'Real Live Experiment' in Trickle-Down Tax Cuts" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/economy/reports/2017/11/02/441822/kansas-real-live-experimenttrickle-tax-cuts/.
- 2 Sam Berger and Emily Gee, "The Senate Tax Bill Threatens Access to Health Care," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/healthcare/ news/2017/11/16/442906/senate-tax-bill-threatensaccess-health-care/.
- 3 New State Ice Co. v. Liebmann, 285 U.S. 262 (1932).
- 4 Justin McCarthy, "Americans Still More Trusting in Local Over State Government," September 19, 2016, Gallup, available at http://news.gallup.com/poll/195656/ americans-trusting-local-state-government.aspx.
- 5 Madison Adler, "Oregonians Start Saving with Auto-Enroll Retirement Plan," Bloomberg, January 26, 2018, available at https://www.bna.com/oregonians-startsaving-n73014474698/.
- 6 Danielle Corley, Shilpa Phadke, and Erin Cohan, "Recent State Wins for Working Families You Might Have Missed," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/women/news/2017/07/14/435858/recent-statewins-working-families-might-missed/.
- 7 Economic Policy Institute, "Minimum Wage Tracker," available at https://www.epi.org/minimum-wage-
- 8 Authors' analysis using updated 2015 data from Thomas Piketty and Emmanuel Saez, "Income Inequality in the United States, 1913-1998," The Quarterly Journal of Economics 118 (1) (2003), available at http:// eml.berkeley.edu/~saez/TabFig2015prel.xls. Income levels and fractiles are inclusive of capital gains.
- 9 Lawrence Mishel and Jessica Schieder, "Stock market headwinds meant less generous year for some CEOs' (Washington: Economic Policy Institute, 2016), available at http://www.epi.org/publication/ceo-and-workerpay-in-2015/.
- 10 David Madland, Hollowed Out: Why the Economy Doesn't Work without a Strong Middle Class (Oakland, CA: University of California Press, 2015).
- 11 Jordain Carney, "Sanders, Democrats introduce \$15 minimum wage bill," The Hill, May 25, 2017, available at http://thehill.com/blogs/floor-action/senate/335227sanders-democrats-introduce-15-minimum-wage-bill.
- 12 Rachel West, "March 1 Is Minimum Wage Workers' Equal Pay Day" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https://www.americanprogress. org/issues/poverty/news/2018/03/01/447359/march-1-minimum-wage-workers-equal-pay-day/.
- 13 Jared Bernstein and Ross Eisenbrey, "New inflationadjusted salary test would bring needed clarity to FLSA overtime rule" (Washington: Economic Policy Institute, 2014), available at https://www.epi.org/publication/ inflation-adjusted-salary-test-bring-needed/.

- 14 Ross Eisenbrey and Will Kimball, "The new overtime rule will directly benefit 12.5 million working people," (Washington: Economic Policy Institute, 2016), available at http://www.epi.org/publication/who-benefits-fromnew-overtime-threshold/.
- 15 Ibid.
- 16 The White House, "Fact Sheet: Growing Middle Class Paychecks and Helping Working Families Get Ahead By Expanding Overtime Pay," May 17, 2016, available at https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-pressoffice/2016/05/17/fact-sheet-growing-middle-classpaychecks-and-helping-working-families-0.
- 17 Center for American Progress, "Tracking the Cost of Trump's Overtime Pay Cut," December 20, 2017, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ economy/news/2017/12/20/444378/tracking-costtrumps-overtime-pay-cut/
- 18 Celine McNicholas, Samantha Sanders, and Heidi Shierholz, "Specific policy and legislative guidance for updating state overtime protections," (Washington: Economic Policy Institute, 2017), available at http://www.epi.org/ publication/specific-policy-and-legislative-guidancefor-updating-state-overtime-protections/.
- 19 Angela Hanks and Ethan Gurwitz, "How States Are Expanding Apprenticeship," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/economy/reports/2016/02/09/130750/how-states-are-expandingapprenticeship/.
- 20 Angela Hanks, "Apprenticeship Programs Are Leaving Out Women and People of Color. Here's How to Fix That," Talk Poverty, August 30, 2016, available at https:// talkpoverty.org/2016/08/30/apprenticeship-programsleaving-women-people-color-heres-fix/.
- 21 Economics and Statistics Administration, The Benefits and Costs of Apprenticeships: A Business Perspective, November 2016, available at https://www.esa.gov/ sites/default/files/the-benefits-and-costs-of-apprenticeships-a-business-perspective.pdf.
- 22 Hanks and Gurwitz, "How States Are Expanding Apprenticeship."
- 23 Ibid.
- 24 CareerWise Colorado, "Business Experiential Learning Commission CareerWise Colorado Update," September 19, 2016, available at https://www.colorado.gov/ pacific/sites/default/files/CWC_BEL_091916.pdf.
- 25 Chuck Marr and others, "EITC and Child Tax Credit Promote Work, Reduce Poverty, and Support Children's Development, Research Finds," (Washington: Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2015), available at https:// www.cbpp.org/research/federal-tax/eitc-and-child-taxcredit-promote-work-reduce-poverty-and-supportchildrens.
- 26 Institute for Taxation and Economic Policy, "Who Pays? A Distributional Analysis of the Tax Systems in All 50 States" (2015), available at https://itep.org/whopays/.

- 27 Erica Williams and Samantha Waxman, "States Can Adopt or Expand Earned Income Tax Credits to Build a Stronger Future Economy," (Washington: Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2018) available at https:// www.cbpp.org/research/state-budget-and-tax/statescan-adopt-or-expand-earned-income-tax-credits-tobuild-a.
- 28 Ibid.
- 29 Alissa Anderson, "Expanded CalEITC Is a Major Advance for Working Families, California Budget & Policy Center," (Sacramento: California Budget and Policy Center, 2017), available at http://calbudgetcenter.org/resources/expanded-caleitc-major-advance-working-families/.
- 30 Jared Bernstein and Sharon Parrott, "Proposal to Strengthen Minimum Wage Would Help Low-Wage Workers, With Little Impact on Employment," (Washington: Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2014), available at https://www.cbpp.org/sites/default/files/ atoms/files/1-7-14minwg.pdf.
- 31 David Weil, Fissured Workplace: Why Work Became So Bad for So Many and What Can Be Done to Improve It (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 2014).
- 32 David Madland and Alex Rowell, "How State and Local Governments Can Strengthen Worker Power and Raise Wages," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogressaction.org/issues/economy/reports/2017/05/02/166640/ state-local-governments-can-strengthen-workerpower-raise-wages/.
- 33 Kate Andrias, "The New Labor Law," The Yale Law Journal 126 (1) (2016), available at http://www.yalelawjournal. org/article/the-new-labor-law.
- 34 Note that the federal government regulates employer provided benefit plans through the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, or ERISA. With exceptions to allow for insurance, banking, and securities regulation, ERISA pre-empts state and local laws related to certain employee benefit plans. However, states and municipalities can still regulate some benefits. For example, states have been creating retirement programs requiring companies that do not offer employer retirement plans to automatically enroll employees in payroll deduction individual retirement accounts. Furthermore, ERISA pre-emption does not apply to state and local laws that establish requirements for paid sick, family, or medical leave. See Employee Benefits Security Administration, Savings Arrangements Established by States for Non-Governmental Employees, 81 FR 59464, August 30, 2016, available at https://www.federalregister.gov/ documents/2016/08/30/2016-20639/savings-arrangements-established-by-states-for-nongovernmentalemplovees.
- 35 Andrias, "The New Labor Law"; 29 U.S.C. 208 (c) (1940). Note that the Fair Labor Standards Act limited the range of minimum wages that could be implemented by the committees and wage orders; the industry committee and administrator were required to consider, among other factors, "the wages established for work of like or comparable character by collective labor agreements negotiated between employers and employees by representatives of their own choosing" and "the wages paid for work of like or comparable character by employers who voluntarily maintain minimum-wage standards in the industry." 29 U.S.C. 208 (c) (1940).

- 36 NJ Rev Stat § 34:11-56a8 (2016), available at http://law. justia.com/codes/new-jersey/2016/title-34/section-34-11-56a8/; CA Labor Code § 70-74 (2016), available at http://law.iustia.com/codes/california/2016/codelab/ division-1/chapter-2/; New York Labor Law § 655 (2016), available at http://law.justia.com/codes/newyork/ 2016/lab/article-19/655/.
- 37 Note that while this commission was defunded in 2004, its orders are still active. CA Labor Code § 70-74; California Department of Industrial Relations, available at http://www.dir.ca.gov/iwc/wageorderindustriesprior. htm (last accessed February 2017).
- 38 New York State Department of Labor, "Fast Food Wage Board," available at http://labor.ny.gov/workerprotection/laborstandards/wageboard2015.shtm (last accessed February 2017).
- 39 The Council of State Governments, "Introduction/Overview: Interstate Compacts," available at http://www. csg.org/knowledgecenter/docs/ncic/Overview.pdf (last accessed February 2017).
- 40 Minnesota Bureau of Mediation Services, "Minnesota Area Labor-Management Committee Grant Program," available at https://mn.gov/bms/assets/ FY2016GrantApplication tcm1075-216771.pdf (last accessed February 2017).
- 41 Minnesota Bureau of Mediation Services, "Area/Industry Councils," available at https://mn.gov/bms/labormgmt/ councils/ (last accessed February 2017).
- 42 Government Accountability Office, "Collective Bargaining Rights: Information on the Number of Workers with and without Bargaining Rights," GAO-02-835, Report to Congressional Requesters, U.S. Senate, September 2002, available at http://www.gao.gov/new.items/ d02835.pdf.
- 43 Milla Sanes and John Schmitt, "Regulation of Public Sector Collective Bargaining in the States," (Washington: Center for Economic and Policy Research, 2014), available at http://cepr.net/documents/state-publiccb-2014-03.pdf.
- 44 California Agricultural Labor Relations Act, Cal Labor Code § 1140-1166.3 (2012), available at https://www. alrb.ca.gov/content/pdfs/statutesregulations/statutes/ ALRA_010112.pdf; Leigh Anne Schriever, "The Home Health Care Industry's Organizing Nightmare," The Century Foundation, August 18, 2015, available at https:// tcf.org/content/commentary/the-home-health-careindustrys-organizing-nightmare/.
- 45 Seattle City Council, "Council Unanimously Adopts First-of-its-Kind Legislation to Give Drivers a Voice on the Job," Press release, December 14, 2015, available at http://www.seattle.gov/council/issues/giving-drivers-avoice.
- 46 ALRB Regulations C.C.R. § 20100 et. seq. (2014), available at https://www.alrb.ca.gov/content/pdfs/statutesregulations/regulations/Regulations20140423.pdf.
- 47 Missouri Boards & Commissions, "Missouri Quality Home Care Council," available at https://boards.mo.gov/ userpages/Board.aspx?158 (last accessed August 2016).

- 48 Marc Jarsulic and others, "Reviving Antitrust," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/economy/reports/2016/06/29/140613/reviving-antitrust/. See also De Loecker, Jan and Jan Eeckhout, "The Rise of Market Power and the Macroeconomic Implications," retrieved April 20, 2017, available at http://www.janeeckhout. com/wp-content/uploads/RMP.pdf; Gustavo Grullon, Yelena Larkin, & Roni Michaely, "Are US Industries Becoming More Concentrated?" (unpublished, 2017).
- 49 White House Council of Economic Advisers, "Benefits of Competition and Indicators of Market Power," available at https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/ default/files/page/files/20160502_competition_issue_ brief_updated_cea.pdf; Ryan Decker, John Haltiwanger, Ron S. Jarmin, and Javier Miranda, "The Decline of High Growth Young Firms in the U.S.: Where has all the Skewness Gone?" European Economic Review, 86, 4-13; Craig Doidge, G. Andrew Karolyi, René M. Stulz, "The U.S. listing gap," Working Paper 21181, (Cambridge: National Bureau of Economic Research, 2015), available at http:// www.nber.org/papers/w21181.pdf.
- 50 Jarsulic et al, "Reviving Antitrust."
- 51 José Azar, Ioana Marinescu, and Marshall Steinbaum, Labor Market Concentration (Nat'l Bureau of Econ. Research, Working Paper No. 24147, 2017); Efraim Benmelech, Nittai Bergman, & Hyunseob Kim, Strong Employers and Weak Employees: How Does Employer Concentration Affect Wages? (Nat'l Bureau of Econ. Research, Working Paper No. 24037, 2018); Naidu, Suresh and Posner, Eric A. and Weyl, E. Glen, Antitrust Remedies for Labor Market Power (February 23, 2018). Harvard Law Review, Forthcoming, available at https:// ssrn.com/abstract=3129221.
- 52 Ibid. See also "Alan B. Krueger and Eric A. Posner," A Proposal for Protecting Low-Income Workers from Monopsony and Collusion, (Washington: Brookings Institution, 2018), available at https://www.brookings. edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/es_2272018_protecting_low_income_workers_from_monopsony_col $lusion_krueger_posner_pp.pdf.$
- 53 Andrew Chung, "U.S. top court to review antitrust claims against American Express," Reuters, October 16, 2017, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-courtamerican-express/u-s-top-court-to-review-antitrustclaims-against-american-express-idUSKBN1CL1X6.
- 54 Cory Capps, David Dranove, and Christopher Ody, "Physician Practice Consolidation Driven By Small Acquisitions, So Antitrust Agencies Have Few Tools To Intervene," Health Affairs 36 (9) (2017): 1556-1563.
- 55 Ibid.
- 56 Kate Bahn, Regina Willensky Benjamin, and Annie McGrew, "A Progressive Agenda for Inclusive and Diverse Entrepreneurship," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/economy/ reports/2016/10/13/146019/a-progressive-agenda-forinclusive-and-diverse-entrepreneurship/.
- 57 Rachel West, Rebecca Vallas, and Melissa Boteach, "A Subsidized Jobs Program for the 21st Century: Unlocking Labor-Market Opportunities for All Who Seek Work," available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ poverty/reports/2015/01/29/105622/a-subsidized-jobsprogram-for-the-21st-century/.
- 58 LaDonna Pavetti, Liz Schott, and Elizabeth Lower-Basch. 2011, "Creating Subsidized Employment Opportunities for Low-Income Parents," Center on Budget and Policy Priorities and Center for Law and Social Policy, available at http://www.cbpp.org/files/2-16-11tanf.pdf.

- 59 West, Vallas, and Boteach, "A Subsidized Jobs Program for the 21st Century"; Indivar Dutta-Gupta, Kali Grant, Matthew Eckel, and Peter Edelman, "Lessons Learned From 40 Years Of Subsidized Employment Programs" (Washington: Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality, 2016), available at https://www.law.georgetown.edu/academics/centers-institutes/povertyinequality/current-projects/upload/GCPI-Subsidized-Employment-Paper-20160413.pdf.
- 60 For example, proponents were as diverse as Mississippi Governor Haley Barbour, a former head of the Republican National Committee, and Senator Dick Durbin (D-III), the current Senate minority whip. See Joy Moses and Melissa Boteach. 2010. "We Can't Stop Growing Jobs Now: Extending the TANF Emergency Fund Will Help Workers, Businesses, and States." Center for American Progress (May), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/poverty/news/2010/08/30/8222/ we-cant-stop-growing-jobs-now/; and Andy Kroll, "Black Wednesday for US Workers," Mother Jones (September 30, 2010), available at http://www.motherjones. com/mojo/2010/09/job-99ers-tanf-senate.
- 61 "Platform to Employment," http://www.platformtoemployment.com/index.asp (last accessed April 2018).
- 62 Allie Morris, "State eyes job-training program for low-wage earners," (Concord Monitor, May 20, 2016). available at http://www.concordmonitor.com/NH-Legislature-Maggie-Hassan-proposal-for-Gateway-to-Work-2268505.
- 63 West, Vallas, and Boteach, "A Subsidized Jobs Program for the 21st Century."
- 64 Rebecca Vallas and Sharon Dietrich. "One Strike and You're Out" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2014), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/poverty/reports/2014/12/02/102308/one-strike-
- 65 Angela Hanks, Danyelle Solomon, and Christian Weller, "Systemic Inequality," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/race/reports/2018/02/21/447051/ systematic-inequality/.
- 66 John Scott, "Employer-Sponsored Retirement Plan Access, Uptake and Savings," (Washington: Pew Charitable Trusts, 2016), available at http://www.pewtrusts. org/en/research-and-analysis/issue-briefs/2016/09/ employer-sponsored-retirement-plan-access-uptakeand-savings.
- 67 Guillaume Vandenbroucke, "Lifetime Benefits of an Education Have Never Been So High," Regional Economist (2015), available at https://www.stlouisfed.org/publications/regional-economist/july-2015/lifetime-benefitsof-an-education-have-never-been-so-high#endnotes.
- 68 Robert Shapiro, "The new economics of jobs is bad news for working-class Americans—and maybe for Trump," (Washington: Brookings, 2018), available at https://www.brookings.edu/blog/fixgov/2018/01/16/ the-new-economics-of-jobs-is-bad-news-for-workingclass-americans-and-maybe-for-trump/.
- 69 Digest of Education Statistics, "Estimated average annual salary of teachers in public elementary and secondary schools, by state: Selected years, 1969-70 through 2015-16," available at https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d16/tables/dt16_211.60.asp?current=yes.
- 70 OECD, "Education at a Glance 2017: OECD Indicators," available at http://www.oecd.org/education/educationat-a-glance-19991487.htm.

- 71 Third Way, "National Online Survey of College Students: Education Attitudes," 2013, available at https://www. thirdway.org/polling/national-online-survey-of-college-students-education-attitudes.
- 72 Ronald Thorpe, "Residency: Can it transform teaching the way it did medicine?" Phi Delta Kappan 96 (1) (2014), available at http://www.nbpts.org/wp-content/ uploads/ron_thorpe_pdk.pdf
- 73 TeachStrong, "TeachStrong Policy Proposal: Residency and Induction," available at https://teachstrong.org/ principle-5/.
- 74 Ali Picucci, "New 13 Research Shows Student Achievement Gains Continue With NTC Support," New Teacher Center, August 10,2016, available at https://newteachercenter.org/blog/2016/08/10/new-i3-researchshows-student-achievement-gains-continue-with-ntcsupport/.
- 75 Louisiana Department of Education, "Believe and Prepare," available at https://www.louisianabelieves.com/ teaching/believe-and-prepare.
- 76 Catherine Brown, Ulrich Boser, and Perpetual Baffour, "Workin' 9 to 5," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https://www. american progress.org/issues/education-k-12/reports/2016/10/11/145084/workin-9-to-5-2/.
- 77 Ibid.
- 78 Ibid.
- 79 Ibid
- 80 Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Labor Force Statistics from the Current Population Survey," available at https:// data.bls.gov/timeseries/LNS11300000 (last accessed May 2018).
- 81 Catherine Brown, Ulrich Boser, and Perpetual Baffour, "Workin' 9 to 5" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https://www. american progress.org/issues/education-k-12/reports/2016/10/11/145084/workin-9-to-5-2/.
- 82 Afterschool Alliance, "America After 3PM: Afterschool in Communities of Concentrated Poverty," (2014), available at http://www.afterschoolalliance.org/AA3PM/ $Concentrated_Poverty_Executive_Summary.pdf.$
- 83 Youth.gov, "Benefits for Youth, Families, & Communities," available at https://youth.gov/youth-topics/ afterschool-programs/benefits-youth-families-andcommunities.
- 84 Perkins Collaborative Resource Network, "Perkins Act," (U.S. Department of Education), available at http://cte. ed.gov/legislation/about-perkins-iv.
- 85 Advance CTE, "Career Technical Education," available at https://careertech.org/cte.
- 86 Washington Leadership Academy, "About," available at http://www.washingtonleadershipacademy.org/about/ overview/.
- 87 Ovetta Wiggins, "High school aerospace engineering program taking flight," The Washington Post, November 30, 2014, available at https://www.washingtonpost. com/local/education/high-school-aerospace-engineering-program-taking-flight/2014/11/30/520eee20-74bd-11e4-bd1b-03009bd3e984_story. html?noredirect=on&utm_term=.04fa8209d719.

- 88 Colorado Department of Education, "Innovation Schools," available at https://www.cde.state.co.us/ choice/innovationschools (last accessed May 2018).
- 89 Perpetual Baffour, "Counsel or Criminalize?" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/educationk-12/reports/2016/09/22/144636/counsel-or-criminal-
- 90 "Half of All Kids Are Traumatized," The Atlantic, December 11, 2014, available at https://www.theatlantic.com/ health/archive/2014/12/half-of-all-kids-experiencetraumatic-events/383630/.
- 91 Jane McLeod and others "Adolescent Mental Health, Behavior Problems, and Academic Achievement," Journal of Health Social Behavior (53) (4), available at https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3752654/.
- 92 Rachael D. Goodman, "Traumatic Stress, Socioeconomic Status, and Academic Achievement Among Primary School Students," Psychological Trauma Theory Research Practice and Policy 4(3) (2012), available at https:// www.researchgate.net/publication/232560514_Traumatic_Stress_Socioeconomic_Status_and_Academic_ Achievement_Among_Primary_School_Students.
- 93 Scott Carrell and Mark Hoekstra, "Externalities in the Classroom: How Children Exposed to Domestic Violence Affect Everyone's Kids," June 10, 2009, http:// faculty.econ.ucdavis.edu/faculty/scarrell/domesticviolence.pdf.
- 94 SH Kataoka, "Unmet need for mental health care among U.S. children: variation by ethnicity and insurance status." American Journal of Psychiatry 159 (9) (2002), available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/12202276.
- 95 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, "Sources of Mental Health Services in the Past Year among Persons Aged 12 to 17, by Age Group: Numbers in Thousands, 2013 and 2014," available at https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/ NSDUH-MHDetTabs2014/NSDUH-MHDetTabs2014. htm#tab2-1a.
- 96 National Association of School Psychologists, "Addressing Shortages in School Psychology Resources Guide," available at https://www.nasponline.org/assets/Documents/Resources%20and%20Publications/Resources/ Shortages_Resource_Guide.pdf.
- 97 Jeremy Bauer-Wolf, "Students Without Food," Inside Higher Ed, August 1, 2017, available at https://www. insidehighered.com/news/2017/08/01/study-manycommunity-college-students-struggle-access-food.
- 98 Maureen Downey, "HOPE, Zell Miller scholarships don't benefit most, analysis finds," Atlanta Journal-Constitution, September 29, 2006, available at https://www.ajc. com/news/local-education/hope-zell-miller-scholarships-don-benefit-most-analysis-finds/R6lWaM6qofb-B88Ob4BOy1H/.
- 99 Federal Student Aid, "Make Satisfactory Academic Progress" (Washington, U.S. Department of Education), available at https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/eligibility/ staying-eligible#satisfactory-academic-progress (last accessed May 2018).
- 100 Tennessee Promise, "School Resources Guide 2017-18," available at http://tnpromise.gov/files/TNPromiseHandbook_2017-2018.pdf.

- 101 Southwest Tennessee Community College, "Adult TN Reconnect Scholarship," available at http://www. southwest.tn.edu/tnreconnect/.
- 102 Jen Mishory, "The Future of Statewide College Promise Programs," (Washington, The Century Foundation: 2018), available at https://tcf.org/content/report/ future-statewide-college-promise-programs/.
- 103 United States Census Bureau, "Educational Attainment in the United States: 2017," (U.S. Department of Commerce, 2017), available at https://www.census.gov/ data/tables/2017/demo/education-attainment/cpsdetailed-tables.html.
- 104 Chad Aldeman, "Eye-Opening Stats about High School and College Dropouts," Education Reform Now, July 15, 2015, available at https://edreformnow.org/eye-opening-high-school-college-dropouts/.
- 105 Afet Dundar and others, "Some College, No Degree: A National View of Students with Some College Enrollment, but No Completion," (Herndon, VA: National Student Clearinghouse Research Center, 2014), available at https://nscresearchcenter.org/wp-content/uploads/ NSC_Signature_Report_7.pdf.
- 106 Jeff Guo, "Attention college students: You may have earned a degree without knowing it," The Washington Post, February 10, 2015, available at https://www. washingtonpost.com/blogs/govbeat/wp/2015/02/10/ attention-college-students-you-may-have-earned-adegree-without-knowing-it/?utm_term=.90edf7533cf2.
- 107 University of Arkansas System, "eVersity," available at http://eversity.uasys.edu/.
- 108 Lumina Foundation, "Credit When It's Due," available at https://www.luminafoundation.org/credit-when-itsdue.
- 109 Eric Hoover, "College-Completion Experiment Gets Degrees to 'Empty Handed Ex-Students," The Chronicle of Higher Education, July 31, 2013, available at https:// www.chronicle.com/article/College-Completion-Experiment/140629.
- 110 Ben Miller, "Who Are Student Loan Defaulters?" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ education-postsecondary/reports/2017/12/14/444011/ student-loan-defaulters/.
- 111 Jen Mishory and Yan Cao, "Four Things DeVos Gets Wrong about State Laws Protecting Borrowers," (Washington: The Century Foundation, 2018), available at https://tcf.org/content/commentary/four-thingsdevos-gets-wrong-about-state-laws-protecting-bor-
- 112 Maggie Thompson, Charlotte Hancock, and Christian Smith, "Borrower's Bill of Rights: States Step Up to Protect Student Loan Borrowers," (Washington: Generation Progress, 2017), available at http://genprogress.org/ ideas/2017/08/10/45690/borrowers-bill-of-rights/.
- 114 Rachel Fishman, "College Decisions Survey: Deciding to Go to College," (Washington: New America, 2015), available at https://www.newamerica.org/education-policy/ edcentral/collegedecisions/.
- 115 John Armstrong and Christina Whitfield, "The State of State Postsecondary Data Systems," (State Higher Education Executive Officers Association, 2016), available at http://www.sheeo.org/sites/default/files/publications/ SHEEO_StrongFoundations2016_FINAL.pdf.

- 116 State Council of Higher Education for Virginia, "Student Outcomes: Reports and Resources," available at http:// research.schev.edu/.
- 117 California Community Colleges, "2018 Student Success Scorecard," available at http://scorecard.ccco.edu/ scorecard.aspx.
- 118 Enrico Moretti, "Estimating the social return to higher education: evidence from longitudinal and crosssectional data," Journal of Econometrics 121 (2004): 175-212, available at https://eml.berkeley.edu/~moretti/ socret.pdf.
- 119 Kevin Carey, "The Mayo Clinic of Higher Ed," EdSector Blog (archive), September 1, 2010, available at http:// www.air.org/edsector-archives/publications/mayoclinic-higher-ed.
- 120 Rooney Columbus, "Report and Disclose: State Oversight of Institutional Performance in Higher Education," (Washington: American Enterprise Institute, 2016), available at http://www.aei.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Report-and-Disclose-State-Oversightof-Institutional-Performance-in-Higher-Education.pdf.
- 121 Mac Taylor, An Analysis of New Cal Grant Eligibility Rules, January 7, 2013, (Legislative Analyst's Office 2013), available at http://ca.gov/reports/2013/edu/new-calgrant/new-cal-grant-010713.pdf.
- 122 Ashley A. Smith, "A Step Ahead of For-Profits," Inside Higher Ed, April 3, 2017, available at https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2017/04/03/milwaukee-passesordinance-aimed-blocking-low-quality-profit-colleges.
- 123 Veterans Education Success, "State Tuition Recovery Funds and Other State Programs," December 17, 2016, available at https://static1.squarespace. com/static/556718b2e4b02e470eb1b186/t/5 856876ed2b857abafed05fe/1482065775221/ State+Tuition+Recovery+Programs.FINAL.pdf.
- 124 Child Care Aware of America "Parents and the High Cost of Child Care," 2017, available at https://usa.childcareaware.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/2017_CCA_ High_Cost_Report_FINAL.pdf
- 125 Simon Workman, "Where Does Your Childcare Go?" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ early-childhood/reports/2018/02/14/446330/childcare-dollar-go/
- 126 Leila Schochet and Rasheed Malik, "2 Million Parents Forced to Make Career Sacrifices Due to Problems with Child Care," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/early-childhood/news/2017/09/13/438838/2million-parents-forced-make-career-sacrifices-dueproblems-child-care/.
- 127 Michael Madowitz, Alex Rowell, and Katie Hamm, "Calculating the Hidden Cost of Interrupting a Career for Child Care," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/early-childhood/reports/2016/06/21/139731/ calculating-the-hidden-cost-of-interrupting-a-careerfor-child-care/.
- 128 Karen Schulman and Helen Blank, "Red Light, Green Light: State Child Care Assistance Policies 2016," (Washington: National Women's Law Center, 2016), available at https://nwlc.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/ NWLC-State-Child-Care-Assistance-Policies-2016-final. pdf.

- 129 Josh Bivens and others, "It's time for an ambitious national investment in America's children," (Washington: Economic Policy Institute, 2016), available at https:// www.epi.org/publication/its-time-for-an-ambitiousnational-investment-in-americas-children/
- 130 Katie Hamm and Julie Kashen, "A Blueprint for Child Care Reform," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www. american progress.org/issues/early-childhood/reports/2017/09/07/438428/blueprint-child-care-reform/.
- 131 Simon Workman, "Don't Stop Improving," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/earlychildhood/reports/2017/05/11/432153/dont-stopimproving-states-can-help-early-childhood-programsjourney-high-quality/.
- 132 Hirokazu Yoshikawa and others, "Investing in Our Future: The Evidence Base on Preschool Education." (Washington: Society for Research in Child Development, 2013), available at http://srcd.org/sites/default/ files/documents/washington/mb_2013_10_16_investing_in_children.pdf
- 133 Claudio Sanchez and Elissa Nadworny, "Preschool, A State-By-State Update," NPR, May 24, 2017, available at https://www.npr.org/sections/ ed/2017/05/24/529558627/preschool-a-state-by-stateupdate.
- 134 Louisa Diffey, Emily Parker, and Bruce Atchison, "State Pre-K Funding 2016-17 Fiscal Year: Trends and opportunities," (Denver: Education Commission of the States, 2017), available at https://www.ecs.org/wp-content/ uploads/State-Pre-K-Funding-2016-17-Fiscal-Year-Trends-and-opportunities-1.pdf.
- 135 Rasheed Malik and Katie Hamm, "Mapping America's Child Care Deserts," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/early-childhood/ reports/2017/08/30/437988/mapping-americas-childcare-deserts/.
- 136 NPR, Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, and Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, "Child Care and Health in America" (2016), available at http://www.npr. org/documents/2016/oct/Child-Care-and-Development-Report-2016.pdf
- 137 Schochet and Malik. "2 Million Parents Forced to Make Career Sacrifices Due to Problems with Child Care."
- 138 Marcy Whitebrook, Deborah Phillips, and Carollee Howes, "Worthy Work, STILL Unlivable Wages: The Early Childhood Workforce 25 Years after the National Child Care Staffing Study," (Berkeley: Center for the Study of Child Care Employment, 2014), available at http://cscce. berkeley.edu/files/2014/ReportFINAL.pdf
- 139 Rebecca Ullrich, Katie Hamm, and Rachel Herzfeldt-Kamprath, "Underpaid and Unequal," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/early-childhood/ reports/2016/08/26/141738/underpaid-and-unequal/
- 140 Nina Martin and Renee Montagne, "Focus on Infants During Childbirth Leaves U.S, Moms in Danger," NPR, May 12, 2017, available at https://www.npr. org/2017/05/12/527806002/focus-on-infants-duringchildbirth-leaves-u-s-moms-in-danger.
- 141 Marian F. MacDorman and others, "International Comparisons of Infant Mortality and Related Factors: United States and Europe, 2010," National Vital Statistics Reports 63 (5) (2014), available at https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/ data/nvsr/nvsr63/nvsr63_05.pdf.

- 142 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 'Pregnancy-Mortality Surveillance System," available at https://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/maternalinfanthealth/pmss.html.
- 143 Marian F. MacDorman and T.J. Matthews, "Understanding Racial and Ethnic Disparities in U.S. Infant Mortality Rates" (Atlanta: U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2011), available at https://www.cdc.gov/ nchs/data/databriefs/db74.pdf.
- 144 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, "Home Visiting Evidence of Effectiveness" available at https://homvee.acf.hhs.gov/outcomes.aspx; Meghan A. Borhren, G. Justus Hofmeyr, Carol Sakala, Rieko K. Fukuzawa and Ann Cuthbert, "Continuous support for women during childbirth," Cochrane Systematic Reviews 7 (2017) available at http://www.cochrane.org/ CD003766/PREG_continuous-support-women-duringchildbirth.
- 145 Leila Schochet, "Home Visiting: A Common-Sense Investment," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/early-childhood/news/2017/04/05/429991/ home-visiting-common-sense-investment/.
- 146 Namrata Uberoi, Kenneth Finegold, and Emily Gee, "Health Insurance Coverage and the Affordable Care Act, 2010 - 2016" (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2016), available at https://aspe.hhs.gov/ system/files/pdf/187551/ACA2010-2016.pdf.
- 147 Sara R. Collins and others, "First Look at Health Insurance Coverage in 2018 Finds ACA Gains Beginning to Reverse" (New York: The Commonwealth Fund, 2018). available at http://www.commonwealthfund.org/ publications/blog/2018/apr/health-coverage-erosion.
- 148 CAP Health Policy Team, "Medicare Extra for All," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/healthcare/reports/2018/02/22/447095/medicare-extra-for-
- 149 Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, "National Health Expenditure Projections 2017-2026: Forecast Summary," available at https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/NationalHealthExpendData/Downloads/ ForecastSummary.pdf (last accessed April 2018).
- 150 Kaiser Family Foundation, "Status of State Action on the Medicaid Expansion Decision," April 5, 2018, available at https://www.kff.org/health-reform/state-indicator/ state-activity-around-expanding-medicaid-under-theaffordable-care-act/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel= %7B%22colld%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%22:%22asc%22%7D.
- 151 CAP Health Policy Team, "Medicare Extra for All."
- 152 Assembly Bill 374, 79 Cong. 2017 sess. (Nevada State Legislature, 2017), available at https://www.leg.state. nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5393/Overview.
- 153 Zeke Emanuel and others, "State Options to Control Health Care Costs and Improve Quality," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/healthcare/ reports/2016/04/11/134859/state-options-to-controlhealth-care-costs-and-improve-quality/.
- 154 Thomas Huelskoetter, "Evaluating State Innovations to Reduce Health Care Costs," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/healthcare/ reports/2018/04/06/448912/evaluating-state-innovations-reduce-health-care-costs/.

- 155 Nelson Sabatini, Joseph Antos, Howard Haft, Donna Kinzer, "Maryland's All-Payer Model—Achievements, Challenges, And Next Steps," Health Affairs Blog, January 31, 2017, available at https://www.healthaffairs.org/ do/10.1377/hblog20170131.058550/full/.
- 156 Rachel Herzfeldt-Kamprath, Maura Calsyn, and Thomas Huelskoetter, "Medicaid and Home Visiting: Best Practices from States," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/early-childhood/ reports/2017/01/25/297160/medicaid-and-homevisitina/.
- 157 Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, "National Health Expenditure Projections 2017-2026."
- 158 Massachusetts Executive Office of Health and Human Services, Office of Medicaid, "MassHealth Section 1115 Demonstration Amendment Request," July 20, 2017, available at http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/eohhs/ healthcare-reform/masshealth-innovations/section-1115-demo-amendment-request.pdf.
- 159 Topher Spiro, Maura Calsyn, and Thomas Huelskoetter, "Negotiation Plus: A Framework for Value-Based Drug Pricing Negotiation," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/healthcare/ reports/2016/09/26/144760/negotiation-plus-a-framework-for-value-based-drug-pricing-negotiation/.
- 160 Nicholas Bagley and Rachel Sachs, "Massachusetts Wants To Drive Down Medicaid Drug Costs: Why Is The Administration So Nervous?," Health Affairs Blog, April 5, 2018, available at https://www.healthaffairs.org/ do/10.1377/hblog20180404.93363/full/.
- 161 Associated Press, "Nevada forces drugmakers to reveal insulin pricing, profits," Modern Healthcare, June 16, 2017, available at http://www.modernhealthcare.com/ article/20170616/NEWS/170619916.
- 162 Jeremy Greene and William Padula, "Targeting Unconscionable Prescription-Drug Prices — Maryland's Anti-Price-Gouging Law," NEJM Catalyst, October 2, 2017, available at https://catalyst.nejm.org/marylandsanti-price-gouging-law/.
- 163 Shefali Luthra, "Federal Appeals Court Puts Chill On Maryland Law To Fight Drug Price-Gouging," Kaiser Health News, April 17, 2018, available at https://khn.org/ news/federal-appeals-court-puts-chill-on-marylandlaw-to-fight-drug-price-gouging/.
- 164 The White House, "Presidential Executive Order Promoting Healthcare Choice and Competition Across the United States," October 12, 2017, available at https:// www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2017/10/12/ presidential-executive-order-promoting-healthcarechoice-and-competition.
- 165 Georgetown University Center on Health Insurance Reforms, "State Options to Protect Consumers and Stabilize the Market: Responding to President Trump's Executive Order on Short-Term Health Plans," December 2017, available at https://www.rwjf.org/content/dam/ farm/reports/issue_briefs/2017/rwjf441920.
- 166 Dylan Scott, "Association health plans: Trump's attack on Obamacare, explained," Vox, December 29, 2017, available at https://www.vox.com/policy-andpolitics/2017/10/12/16458184/trump-obamacareexecutive-order-association-health-plans-short-terminsurance.

- 167 Sam Berger, "3 Ways that States Can Stop Ongoing Health Care Sabotage," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/healthcare/ news/2018/01/09/444607/3-ways-states-can-stopongoing-health-care-sabotage/.
- 168 Health Insurance Individual Market Stabilization (Maryland Health Care Access Act of 2018), HB 1782, 2018 (Maryland General Assembly, 2018), available at http://mgaleg.maryland.gov/2018RS/fnotes/bil_0002/ hb1782.pdf.
- 169 Topher Spiro, "Affordable Care Act Markets Will Remain Viable After a One-Time Correction in 2017," Testimony before U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Oversight & Government Reform, September 14, 2016, available at https://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/ uploads/2016/09/2016-09-14-Spiro-CAM-Testimony. pdf.
- 170 Mark Hall and Nicholas Bagley, "Making sense of 'invisible risk sharing" (Washington: Brookings 2017), available at https://www.brookings.edu/blog/ up-front/2017/04/12/making-sense-of-invisible-risksharing/.
- 171 Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, "Section 1332: State Innovation Waivers," (U.S Department of Health and Human Service), available at https://www. cms.gov/CCIIO/Programs-and-Initiatives/State-Innovation-Waivers/Section_1332_State_Innovation_Waivers-. html (last accessed December 12, 2017).
- 172 Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, "Alaska: State Innovation Waiver under section 1332 of the PPACA," (U.S Department of Health and Human Service, 2017), available at https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/ Programs-and-Initiatives/State-Innovation-Waivers/ Downloads/Fact-Sheet.pdf; Oregon Division of Financial Regulation, "DCBS announces federal approval of 1332 State Innovation Waiver application," October 20, 2017, available at http://dfr.oregon.gov/news/ Pages/20171020-state-innovation.aspx.
- 173 Congressional Budget Office, Repealing the Individual Health Insurance Mandate: An Updated Estimate, November 2017, available at https://www.cbo.gov/ system/files/115th-congress-2017-2018/reports/53300individualmandate.pdf; Sam Berger and Emily Gee, "The Senate Tax Bill Threatens Access to Health Care," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017). available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ healthcare/news/2017/11/16/442906/senate-tax-billthreatens-access-health-care/.
- 174 Massachusetts Health Connector, "The Massachusetts Individual Mandate: Design, Administration, and Results" (2017), available at https://www.mahealthconnector.org/wp-content/uploads/Individual-Mandate-Report-Nov2017.pdf; Michael Diamond, "Obamacare: NJ lawmakers vote to bring back health insurance mandate," app., April 12, 2018, available at https://www.app. com/story/money/business/consumer/2018/04/12/ obamacare-nj-lawmakers-approve-health-insurancemandate/512538002/.
- 175 Rebecca Vallas, Shawn Fremstad, and Lisa Ekman, "A Fair Shot for Workers with Disabilities," (Washington: Center For American Progress, 2015), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/poverty/ reports/2015/01/28/105520/a-fair-shot-for-workerswith-disabilities/; Molly O'Malley Watts, Elizabeth Cornachione, and MaryBeth Musumeci, "Medicaid Financial Eligibility for Seniors and People with Disabilities in 2015" (Washington: Kaiser Family Foundation, 2016) available at https://www.kff.org/report-section/ medicaid-financial-eligibility-for-seniors-and-peoplewith-disabilities-in-2015-appendix/.

- 176 CAP Health Policy Team, "Medicare Extra for All."
- 177 Coralie Pring, "Corruption in the USA: The Difference a Year Makes," Transparency International, December 12, 2017, available at https://www.transparency.org/news/ feature/corruption_in_the_usa_the_difference_a_ year_makes.
- 178 Lee Drutman, The Business of America is Lobbying: How Corporations Became Politicized and Politics Become More Corporate (New York: Oxford University Press, 2015), p. 13.
- 179 Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 6.811(5) ("A legislative agent [i.e. lobbyist] shall not serve as a campaign treasurer, and shall not directly solicit, control, or deliver a campaign contribution, for a candidate or legislator."); Md. Code Ann., Gen. Prov. § 5-715(d)(1) (" A regulated lobbyist... may not: (i) solicit or transmit a political contribution from any person."); Alaska Stat. § 24.45.121(a) ("A lobbyist may not... (8) ... directly or indirectly collect contributions for... or otherwise engage in the fundraising activity of a legislative campaign."); Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 41-1234.01(A) ("A... lobbyist... shall not... solicit or promise to solicit campaign contributions... when the legislature is in regular session", or, in the case of contributions to the governor, "when the legislature is in regular session or when regular session legislation is pending executive approval or veto"); Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-6-308(1) "No person engaged in lobbying shall... (I)... solicit, or promise to solicit a campaign contribution" during the legislative session, or, for gubernatorial candidates, while any measure is pending the governor's approval); N.M. Stat. Ann. § 2-11-8.1(B) ("It is unlawful during the prohibited period for any lobbyist or lobbyist's employer to contribute to or act as an agent or intermediary for political contributions to or arrange for the making of political contributions to the campaign funds of any statewide elected official or legislator."); Okla. Stat. tit. 21, § 187.1(G) ("No lobbyist... shall... solicit or promise to solicit a contribution for a member of the Oklahoma Legislature or a candidate for a state legislative office during any regular legislative session"); S.C. Code Ann. § 2-17-80(A) "A lobbyist... shall not offer, solicit, facilitate, or provide to or on behalf of any member of the General Assembly... (5) contributions.); Conn. Gen. Stat. § 9-610(e)(1) ("during any regular session of the General Assembly... no lobbyist shall solicit a contribution on behalf of, (A) a candidate or exploratory committee established by a candidate for nomination or election to the General Assembly or a state office, or (B) a political committee (i) established for an assembly or senatorial district, (ii) established by a member of the General Assembly or a state... or (iii) controlled by such member, officer or agent...").
- 180 William Gray, "The Price of Power: How Political Parties Squeeze Influential Lawmakers to Boost their Campaign Coffers," Issue One, May 30, 2017, available at https://www.issueone.org/price-power-political-parties-squeeze-influential-lawmakers-boost-campaigncoffers/
- 181 Alexander Fouirnaies, "When Are Agenda Setters Valuable?", American Journal of Political Science, 62 (1) (2018): 176-191, p. 185.
- 182 New America, "Laboratories of Democracy Database: Part III. Campaign Finance," (2018), available at https:// www.newamerica.org/in-depth/laboratories-ofdemocracy/campaign-financing/.
- 183 Center for Responsive Politics, "Political Nonprofits (Dark Money)," available at https://www.opensecrets. org/outsidespending/nonprof_summ.php?cycle=2018 &type=type&range=tot (last accessed April 2018).
- 184 Chisun Lee and others, "Secret Spending in the States," Brennan Center for Justice, June 26, 2016, available at https://www.brennancenter.org/publication/secretspending-states.

- 185 Taryn Luna, "Who's behind that political ad? Voters will know more in 2018," Sacramento Bee, October 7, 2017, available at http://www.sacbee.com/news/politicsgovernment/capitol-alert/article177659771.html.
- 186 John Diaz. "Better defenses for our election systems." San Francisco Chronicle, April 13, 2018, available at https://www.sfchronicle.com/opinion/diaz/article/Better-defenses-for-our-election-systems-12832934.php (mentioning state bill AB 2188, which would "require social medial platforms to disclose the true identity of the funders of political advertisements.")
- 187 See, for example, Pete Quist, "Scorecard: Essential Disclosure Requirements for Independent Spending, 2014," FollowTheMoney.org, December 3, 2014, available at https://www.followthemoney.org/research/institutereports/scorecard-essential-disclosure-requirementsfor-independent-spending-2014/.
- 188 Peter Jamison, "D.C. mayor, reversing course, signs law creating publicly financed campaigns," Washington Post, March 13, 2018, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/dc-politics/dc-mayor-reversing-coursesigns-law-creating-publicly-financed-campaigns/2018/ 03/13/699b6e90-26f5-11e8-b79d-f3d931db7f68_story. html?utm_term=.3a5bf2029676.
- 189 Austin Graham, "Innovative Public Financing System Has Broadened Political Engagement for Seattle Residents," Campaign Legal Center, September 22, 2017, available at http://www.campaignlegalcenter.org/ news/blog/innovative-public-financing-system-hasbroadened-political-engagement-seattle-residents.
- 190 Global Strategy Group, "Tax Reform Survey Results," April 13, 2017, available at https://front.moveon.org/ wp-content/uploads/2017/04/GSG-Tax-Reform-Survey-Memo-04.13.17.pdf.
- 191 Kelly Swanson, "A new poll finds event Trump supporters are wavering on his scandals," Vox, July 19, 2017, available at https://www.vox.com/policy-andpolitics/2017/7/19/15998234/trump-supporters-pollpolicy-scandal-disapprove.
- 192 Max Rieper, "States Continue to Pursue Legislation on Presidential Tax Return Disclosure," Multistate Insider, September 20, 2017, available at https://www.multistate.us/blog/updated-on-presidential-candidates-todisclose-tax-returns
- 193 Julia Manchester, "New Jersey lawmakers pass automatic voter registration bill," The Hill, April 12, 2018, available at http://thehill.com/homenews/statewatch/383597-new-jersey-governor-signs-automaticvoter-registration-bill; National Conference of State Legislatures, "Automatic Voter Registration," accessed April 17, 2018, available at http://www.ncsl.org/ research/elections-and-campaigns/automatic-voterregistration.aspx; U.S. Census Bureau, "State Population Totals and Components of Change: 2010-2017," January 18, 2018, available at https://www.census.gov/data/ tables/2017/demo/popest/state-total.html
- 194 Liz Kennedy and Rob Griffin, "Close Elections, Missing Voices, and Automatic Voter Registration Projected Impact in 50 States," Center for American Progress, November 30, 2017, available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/democracy/ reports/2017/11/30/443333/close-elections-missingvoices-automatic-voter-registration-projected-impact-50-states/.
- 195 Rob Griffin and others, "Who Votes with Automatic Voter Registration?" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/democracy/ reports/2017/06/07/433677/votes-automatic-voterregistration/.

- 196 Henry Kraemer, "FACT SHEET: Automatic Voter Registration Transforms Oregon Youth Registration and Turnout Rates," April 21, 2017, available at http://content.allianceforyouthaction.org/testsite/wp-content/uploads/ sites/3/2017/04/Oregon-Automatic-Voter-Registration-Success-Fact-Sheet.pdf/.
- 197 Pew Center on the States, "Inaccurate, Costly, and Inefficient," accessed April 17, 2018, available at http:// www.pewtrusts.org/~/media/legacy/uploadedfiles/ pcs_assets/2012/pewupgradingvoterregistrationpdf. pdf
- 198 Henry Kraemer, Liz Kennedy, Maggie Thompson, Danielle Root, and Kyle Epstein, "Millennial Voters Win With Automatic Voter Registration," Center for American Progress, July 19, 2017, accessed April 17, 2018, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ democracy/reports/2017/07/19/436024/millennialvoters-win-automatic-voter-registration/
- 199 Danielle Root and others, "State Election Security Spending Guidance for 2018 Omnibus," Center for American Progress, April 2, 2018, available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/democracy/ news/2018/04/02/448734/state-election-securityspending-guidance-2018-omnibus/.
- 200 Danielle Root and others, "Election Security in All 50 States," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https://www.americanprogress. org/issues/democracy/reports/2018/02/12/446336/ election-security-50-states/.
- 201 Danielle Root and others, "State and Local Actions for Improving Election Security," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/democracy/ news/2018/03/14/447876/state-local-actions-improving-election-security/.
- 202 Root, "Election Security in All 50 States."
- 203 Judy Keen, "Inside the battle across Minnesota to prevent Russian meddling in this year's elections," Star Tribune, March 3, 2018, available at http://www. startribune.com/inside-the-battle-to-prevent-russianmeddling-in-this-year-s-elections/475744763/; Andrew Selsky, "Oregon moves to protect state election system from Russia, hacking,"The Seattle Times, February 28, 2018, available at https://www.seattletimes.com/ seattle-news/oregon-moves-to-protect-state-electionsystem-from-russia-hacking/; Washington House Democrats, "Legislature passes Rep. Hudgins sponsored bill aimed at securing Washington's elections," Washington House Democrats, March 7, 2018, available at https://housedemocrats.wa.gov/zack-hudgins/ legislature-passes-rep-hudgins-sponsored-bill-aimedat-securing-washingtons-elections/.
- 204 Joe Uchill, "One in four will consider not voting in elections due to cybersecurity," The Hill, July 12, 2017, accessed April 17, 2018, available at http://thehill.com/ policy/cybersecurity/341608-one-in-four-will-considernot-voting-in-elections-due-to-cybersecurity
- 205 The Sentencing Project, "Felony Disenfranchisement," available at http://www.sentencingproject.org/issues/ felony-disenfranchisement/ (last accessed November 2016).

206 Ibid

207 Brennan Center for Justice, "Criminal Disenfranchisement Laws Across the United States," October 6, 2016, accessed April 17, 2018, available at https://www.brennancenter.ora/criminal-disenfranchisement-laws-acrossunited-states

- 208 Jean Chung, "Felony Disenfranchisement: A Primer," The Sentencing Project, May 10, 2016, accessed April 17, 2018, available at https://www.sentencingproject.org/ publications/felony-disenfranchisement-a-primer/
- 209 "Governor Cuomo Signs Executive Order to Restore Voting Rights to New Yorkers on Parole," NY.gov, April 18, 2018, available at https://www.governor.ny.gov/ news/governor-cuomo-signs-executive-order-restore voting-rights-new-yorkers-parole; Steve Bousquet, "U.S. District Judge Mark Walker said Florida's voter restoration process unfairly relies on the personal support of Gov. Rick Scott," Tampa Bay Times, February 1, 2018, available at http://www.tampabay.com/florida-politics/ buzz/2018/02/01/federal-judge-strikes-down-floridassystem-for-restoring-felon-voting-rights/; Ari Berman, "New York to Restore Voting Rights to Thousands of Ex-Felons," Mother Jones, April 18, 2018, available at https://www.motherjones.com/politics/2018/04/ new-york-to-restore-voting-rights-to-thousands-of-exfelons/.
- 210 Sam Levine, "Federal Court Says Florida Can Hold Off On New System For Restoring Voting Rights," HuffPost, April 25, 2018, available at https://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/florida-felon-disenfranchisement_ us_5ae120bfe4b02baed1b624c7.
- 211 Environmental Protection Network, "Understanding the Full Impacts of the Proposed FY 2019 EPA Budget," March 14, 2018.
- 212 Roni Caryn Rabin, "A Strong Case Against a Pesticide Does Not Faze E.P.A. Under Trump," New York Times, May 15, 2017.
- 213 Julie Turkewitz, "Trump Slashes Size of Bears Ears and Grand Staircase Monuments," New York Times, December 4, 2017.
- 214 Chris Mooney and Steven Mufson, "White House seeks 72 percent cut to clean energy research, underscoring administration's preference for fossil fuels," Washington Post, February 1, 2018.
- 215 Geoff Garin and Corrie Hunt, "Public Opinion on Energy, the Environment, and Climate," (Hart Research Associates and Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://cdn.americanprogress.org/content/ uploads/2017/01/18040005/ME-12075-CAP-Memo-Energy-Environment-Climate-FINAL.pdf.
- 216 Scott Clement and Brady Dennis, "Post-ABC Poll: Nearly 6 of 10 oppose Trump scrapping the Paris agreement," The Washington Post, June 5, 2017, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/energyenvironment/wp/2017/06/05/post-abc-poll-nearly-6-in-10-oppose-trump-scrapping-paris-agreement/.
- 217 Brian Kennedy, "Two-thirds of Americans give priority to developing alternative energy over fossil fuels," (Washington: Pew Research Center, 2017), available at http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/01/23/ two-thirds-of-americans-give-priority-to-developingalternative-energy-over-fossil-fuels/.
- 218 Kathiann M. Kowalski, "Poll: Even Ohio's coal country supports more use of clean energy," Energy News Network, September 1, 2017, available at https:// energynews.us/midwest/poll-even-ohios-coal-countrysupports-more-use-of-clean-energy/.
- 219 Texas Clean Energy Coalition, "New Texas Poll Shows Strong Republican Support for Clean Energy Policies, Statewide Plan," Press release, May 4, 2016, available at https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/newtexas-poll-shows-strong-republican-support-for-cleanenergy-policies-statewide-plan-300262764.html.

- 220 Outdoor Industry Association, "The Outdoor Recreation Economy" (2017), available at https://outdoorindustry. org/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/OIA_RecEconomy_ FINAL Single.pdf.
- 221 Joel Jaeger and Helen Mountford, "Clean Energy Jobs Growth in the United States," (Washington: World Resources Institute, 2017), available at http://www.wri. org/sites/default/files/Clean_Energy_Fact_Sheet_final.
- 222 Galen Barbose, "U.S. Renewables Portfolio Standards: Overview of Status and Key Trends," (Washington: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, 2015), available at https://www.cesa.org/assets/2015-Files/RPS-Summit/ Galen-Barbose-11.5.15.pdf.
- 223 "Renewable Energy for State Renewable Portfolio Standards Yield Sizable Benefits," Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy (U.S. Department of Energy, 2016), available at https://www.energy.gov/eere/articles/newstudy-renewable-energy-state-renewable-portfoliostandards-yield-sizable-benefits.
- 224 Rory Wiser and others, "Assessing the costs and benefits of US renewable portfolio standards," Environmental Research Letters 12 (9) (2017), available at http://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1748-9326/aa87bd.
- 225 Greg Allen, "Solar Energy Advocates Find Unexpected Ally in Tea Party," NPR, February 24, 2015, available at https://www.npr.org/2015/02/24/388796105/solarenergy-advocates-find-unexpected-ally-in-tea-party.
- 226 Jaeger and Mountford, "Clean Energy Jobs Growth in the United States."
- 227 Solar Power Rocks, "2017 United States Solar Power Rankings," available at https://solarpowerrocks. com/2017-state-solar-power-rankings/.
- 228 U.S. Energy Information Center, "Monthly Energy Review," (U.S. Department of Energy, 2018), available at https://www.eia.gov/totalenergy/data/monthly/.
- 229 Gretchen Reynolds, "The Surprisingly Health Benefits of an Electric Bike," The New York Times, July 6, 2016, available at https://well.blogs.nytimes.com/2016/07/06/thesurprising-health-benefits-of-an-electric-bike-2/?_r=0.
- 230 David Roberts, "Electric buses are coming, and they're going to help fix 4 big urban problems," Vox, October 25, 2017, available at https://www.vox.com/energyand-environment/2017/10/24/16519364/electric-
- 231 Government Fleet, "Statistics," available at http:// www.government-fleet.com/statistics/downloadlist. aspx?id=717.
- 232 "Electric Vehicle Charging Stations," Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy (U.S. Department of Energy, 2017), available at https://www.afdc.energy.gov/fuels/ electricity_stations.html.
- 233 State of Colorado, "Regional Electric Vehicle Plan for the West," October 3, 2017, available at https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/sites/default/files/021518_REF_MOU-ElectricalVehiclePlan.PDF.
- 234 Auto Alliance, "State Electric Vehicle Mandate," available at https://autoalliance.org/energy-environment/stateelectric-vehicle-mandate/.
- 235 Kate Gordon and others, "The Economic Risks of Climate Change in the United States" (Risky Business, 2014), available at https://riskybusiness.org/site/ assets/uploads/2015/09/RiskyBusiness_Report_ WEB_09_08_14.pdf.

- 236 Cathleen Kelly, Cecilia Martinez, and Walker Hathaway-Williams, "A Framework for Local Action on Climate Change," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/green/reports/2017/09/28/439712/frameworklocal-action-climate-change/; Cathleen Kelly, Kristina Costa, and Sarah Edelman, "Safe, Strong, and Just Rebuilding After Hurricanes Harvey, Irma, and Maria (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ green/reports/2017/10/03/440134/safe-strong-justrebuilding-hurricanes-harvey-irma-maria/.
- 237 Kristina Costa, Miranda Peterson, and Howard Marano, "Extreme Weather, Extreme Costs," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/green/reports/2017/10/27/441382/extreme-weather-extreme-
- 238 American Society of Civil Engineers, "2017 Infrastructure Report Card," available at https://www.infrastructurereportcard.org/.
- 239 Cathleen Kelly, "Trump's Executive Order Puts Infrastructure, Taxpayers At Risk," Morning Consult, August 25, 2017, available at https://morningconsult.com/ opinions/trumps-executive-order-infrastructuretaxpayers-risk/.
- 240 Cathleen Kelly, "State Future Funds," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2015), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/green/reports/2015/06/23/115778/state-future-funds/.
- 241 National Institute of Building Sciences, "Natural Hazard Mitigation Saves: 2017 Interim Report," December 2017, available at https://c.ymcdn.com/sites/www.nibs.org/ $resource/resmgr/docs/NIBS_MitigationSaves_Interim.$ pdf.
- 242 Federal Highway Administration, "Employment Impacts of Highway Infrastructure Investment" (U.S. Department of Transportation, 2018), available at https:// www.fhwa.dot.gov/policy/otps/pubs/impacts/.
- 243 NY Green Bank, "NY Green Bank Announces New Request for Proposals Seeking Advisory and Other Services in Raising Third Party Capital," December 1, 2017, New York State Energy Research and Development Authority, available at https://greenbank. ny.gov/News-and-Media/In-The-News/2017-12-01-NY-Green-Bank-Announces-New-RFP-Seeking-Advisory-Services.
- 244 Kelly, "State Future Funds."
- 245 Kelly and others, "A Framework for Local Action on Climate Change."
- 246 Outdoor Industry Association, "Advocacy," available at https://outdoorindustry.org/advocacy/.
- 247 Erin Alberty, "Outdoor Retailer is leaving Utah over public lands issues, a move Herbert calls 'offensive," The Salt Lake Tribune, February 17, 2017, available at http://archive.sltrib.com/article.php?id=4952414&itype=CMSID.
- 248 "Every Kid in a Park," (U.S. Department of the Interior), available at https://www.everykidinapark.gov/.
- 249 Sarah Jane Glynn, "Breadwinning Mothers Are Increasingly the U.S. Norm," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2016/12/19/295203/breadwinning-mothers-areincreasingly-the-u-s-norm/.

- 250 National Partnership for Women & Families, "America's Women and the Wage Gap," (2018), available at http:// www.nationalpartnership.org/research-library/ workplace-fairness/fair-pay/americas-women-and-thewage-gap.pdf.
- 251 Danielle Corley, Sunny Frothingham, and Kate Bahn, "Paid Sick Days and Paid Family and Medical Leave Are Not Job Killers" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress. org/issues/women/reports/2017/01/05/295908/ paid-sick-days-and-paid-family-and-medical-leave-arenot-job-killers/; U.S. Department of Labor, "The Cost of Doing Nothing: The Price We All Pay Without Paid Leave Policies to Support American's 21st Century Working Families" (2015), available at https://www.dol.gov/ featured/paidleave/cost-of-doing-nothing-report.pdf.
- 252 U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, "National Compensation Survey: Employee Benefits in the United States. March 2017" (U.S. Department of Labor, 2017), available at https://www.bls.gov/ncs/ebs/benefits/2017/ ebbl0061.pdf.
- 253 Sarah Jane Glynn and Danielle Corley, "The Cost of Work-Family Policy Inaction" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2016/09/22/143877/the-cost-of-inaction/.
- 254 Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Employee Rights Under the Family and Medical Leave Act" (U.S. Department of Labor, 2015), available at https://www.dol.gov/whd/ regs/compliance/posters/fmlaen.pdf.
- 255 Shilpa Phadke and Danielle Corley, "New Polling Shows that Small Businesses Strongly Support Paid Family and Medical Leave," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https://www.americanprogress. org/issues/economy/news/2017/03/30/429527/newpolling-shows-small-businesses-strongly-support-paidfamily-medical-leave/.
- 256 John Halpin and Karl Agne, "American Voters Did Not Endorse Trump's Extremist Policy Agenda in 2016 Election" (Washington: Gerstein Bocian Agne Strategies and Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https://cdn.americanprogress.org/content/ uploads/2016/11/21072333/CAP-2016PostelectionPollingMemo-Final.pdf
- 257 National Partnership for Women & Families, "State Paid Family Leave Insurance Laws," 2018), available at http:// www.nationalpartnership.org/research-library/workfamily/paid-leave/state-paid-family-leave-laws.pdf.
- 258 Jasmine Tucker, "You Should Be Ticked Off By the Wage Gap for Some Women of Color," National Women's Law Center, September 18, 2017, available at https://nwlc. org/blog/you-should-be-ticked-off-by-the-wage-gapfor-some-women-of-color/.
- 259 Jocelyn Frye, "Myths vs. Reality: Why Pay Data and the EEO-1 Form Matter," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/news/2017/09/07/438618/ myths-vs-reality-pay-data-eeo-1-form-matter/.
- 260 Jocelyn Frye and Kaitlin Holmes, "Wage Discrimination: Behind the Numbers," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/news/2017/07/05/435190/ wage-discrimination-behind-numbers/.
- 261 Áine Cain and Anaele Pelisson, «9 places in the US where job candidates may never have to answer the dreaded salary question again," Business Insider, April 10, 2018, available at http://www.businessinsider.com/ places-where-salary-question-banned-us-2017-10.

- 262 Jocelyn Frye, "Not Just the Rich and Famous," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/ news/2017/11/20/443139/not-just-rich-famous/.
- 263 Ibid
- 264 Chai Feldblum and Victoria Lipnic, "Select Task Force on the Study of Harassment in the Workplace," (Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, 2016), available at https://www.eeoc.gov/eeoc/task_force/harassment/ upload/report.pdf
- 265 Elizabeth Nash and others, "Policy Trends in the States: 2017" (New York: Guttmacher Institute, 2018), available at https://www.guttmacher.org/article/2018/01/policytrends-states-2017.
- 266 "An Overview of Abortion Laws," (New York: Guttmacher Institute, 2018), available at https://www.guttmacher. org/state-policy/explore/overview-abortion-laws.
- 267 National Partnership for Women and Families, "The Patient Trust Act: Model Legislation for Getting Politics out of the Exam Room," available at http://www. national partnership.org/research-library/repro/badmedicinecoalition-to-protect/patient-trust-act-modellegislation-for-getting-politics-out-of-the-exam-room.
- 268 House Bill Number 1105 (Pennsylvania General Assembly, 2015), available at http://www.legis.state.pa.us/ cfdocs/billInfo/billInfo.cfm?sYear=2015&sInd=0&body= H&type=B&bn=1105.
- 269 Ohio House of Representative Minority Caucus, "Rep. Clyde Introduces Doctor-Patient Relationship Protection Act, The Ohio House of Representatives, June 13, 2014, available at http://www.ohiohouse.gov/ democrats/press/rep-clyde-introduces-doctor-patientrelationship-protection-act.
- 270 Gary J. Gates, "In U.S., More Adults Identifying as LGBT," Gallup, January 11, 2017, available at http://news.gallup.com/poll/201731/lgbt-identification-rises.aspx.
- 271 Andrew Satter and Sarah McBride, "Their Baby Was Denied Access to Care Because They Are Gay," Center for American Progress, video, July 21, 2015, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/lgbt/ news/2015/07/21/117765/video-their-baby-wasdenied-access-to-care-because-they-are-gay/.
- 272 Caitlin Rooney and Laura E. Durso, "The Harms of Refusing Service to LGBTQ People and Other Marginalized Communities" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/lgbt/reports/2017/11/29/443392/ harms-refusing-service-lgbtq-people-marginalizedcommunities/ See also: Institute of Medicine of the National Academies, "The Health of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender People: Building a Foundation for Better Understanding" (2011), available at https://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK64806/pdf/Bookshelf_ NBK64806.pdf; David J. Lick, Laura E. Durso, and Kerri L. Johnson, "Minority Stress and Physical Health Among Sexual Minorities," Perspectives on Psychological Science 8 (5) (2013): 521-548, available at http://journals. sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1745691613497965.
- 273 Sejal Singh and Laura Durso, "Widespread Discrimination Continues to Shape LGBT People's Lives in Both Subtle and Significant Ways" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/lgbt/ news/2017/05/02/429529/widespread-discriminationcontinues-shape-lgbt-peoples-lives-subtle-significantways/.

- 274 Movement Advancement Project, "Non-Discrimination Laws," November 9, 2017, available at http://www. lgbtmap.org/equality-maps/non_discrimination_laws; Movement Advancement Project, "Local Non-Discrimination Ordinances," November 9, 2017, available at http://www.lgbtmap.org/equality-maps/non_discrimination ordinances: For more information about local protections against discrimination and other local actions that have supported LGBTQ equality, see: Laura E. Durso and others, "Advancing LGBTQ Equality Through Local Executive Action" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/lgbt/reports/2017/08/25/437280/ advancing-lgbtq-equality-local-executive-action/.
- 275 Movement Advancement Project, "Non-Discrimination
- 276 Ashe McGovern, Sarah McBride, and Sharita Gruberg, "Nondiscrimination Protections for LGBTO Communities" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https://cdn.americanprogress.org/content/ uploads/2016/12/07070731/LGBTQnondiscriminationreport.pdf

277 Ibid.

- 278 For cases that found that discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation is included in Title VII discrimination on the basis of sex, see, for example, Hively v. Ivy Tech Community College, 830 F.3d 698 (7th Cir. 2016); Brief of the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission As Amicus Curiae in Support of Hively's Petition for Rehearing and Suggestion for Rehearing En Banc, U.S. Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit (2016) (No. 15-1720), available at http://files.eqcf.org/wp-content/ uploads/2016/11/42-Amicus-Brief-of-EEOC-iso-Rehearing.pdf; Baldwin v. Dep't of Transp., EEOC Appeal No. 0120133080 (July 15, 2015). For cases that found that discrimination on the basis of gender identity is included in Title VII discrimination on the basis of sex, see, for example, Macy v. Dep't of Justice EEOC 0120120821 (2012); Smith v. City of Salem, 378 F.3d 566 (6th Cir. 2004).
- 279 9 New York Code of Rules and Regulations §466.13, "Discrimination on the Basis of Gender Identity," January 20, 2016, available at https://www.governor.ny.gov/ sites/governor.ny.gov/files/atoms/files/466.13_NYCRR_ Discrimintation_GenderIdentity.pdf.
- 280 Moira Bowman and others, "Making Paid Leave Work for Every Family" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/lgbt/reports/2016/12/01/292886/ making-paid-leave-work-for-every-family/.
- 281 Katherine Gallagher Robbins and others, "People Need Paid Leave Policies that Cover Chosen Family" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/poverty/ reports/2017/10/30/441392/people-need-paid-leavepolicies-that-cover-chosen-family/.
- 282 A Better Balance, "New Jersey Becomes 10th State to Pass Paid Sick Time," April 18, 2018, available at https:// www.abetterbalance.org/new-jersey-becomes-10thstate-to-pass-paid-sick-time/
- 283 § 5 CFR 630.803, "definitions," available at https://www. law.cornell.edu/cfr/text/5/630.803.

- 284 Moira Bowman and others, "Making Paid Leave Work for Every Family" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/lgbt/reports/2016/12/01/292886/ making-paid-leave-work-for-every-family/; A Better Balance, "Momentum Swells for Expanded Definition of Family as Three Largest U.S. Cities Recognize Chosen Family in Paid Sick Days Policies," November 7, 2017, available at https://www.abetterbalance.org/resources/ momentum-swells-for-expanded-definition-of-familyas-three-largest-u-s-cities-recognize-chosen-family-inpaid-sick-days-policies/; Family Values @ Work, "Austin City Council Passes First Paid Sick Time Policy in Texas. U.S. South," February 16, 2018, available at http:// familyvaluesatwork.org/media-center/press-release/ austin-city-council-passes-first-paid-sick-time-policytexas-u-s-south.
- 285 The language typically used in this standard is covering "an individual related by blood or affinity to the employee whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of a family relationship..." see Bowman and others, "Making Paid Leave Work for Every Family"; A Better Balance, "Momentum Swells for Expanded Definition of Family as Three Largest U.S. Cities Recognize Chosen Family in Paid Sick Days Policies."
- 286 Black's Law Dictionary, "Affinity," last accessed December 19, 2017, available at http://thelawdictionary.org/ affinity/.
- 287 City of Chicago, Office of the City Clerk, "Amendment of Municipal Code Chapter 1-24 and Chapter 2-25 by including paid sick leave provisions within Chicago Minimum Wage Ordinance," April 13, 2016, available at http://www.schiffhardin.com/Templates/media/ files/Other%20PDFs/Chicago%20Paid%20Sick%20 Leave%20Ordinance.pdf.
- 288 DREAM Act of 2017, S. 1615, 115 Cong. 1 sess. (Government Printing Office, 2017), available at https://www. congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/1615
- 289 Daniel Gonzalez and Dan Nowicki, "How we got here: The many attempts to reform immigration, secure the border," azcentral, January 22, 2016, available at https:// www.azcentral.com/story/news/politics/immigration/2016/01/22/how-we-got-here-many-attemptsreform-immigration-secure-border/78802092/
- 290 Amy B. Wang and Maria Sacchetti, "A chemistry professor got his kids ready for school. Then ICE arrested him on his front lawn.," The Washington Post, February 5, 2018, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/ news/post-nation/wp/2018/02/04/a-chemistry-professor-got-his-kids-ready-for-school-then-ice-arrestedhim-on-his-front-lawn/?noredirect=on&utm_term=. a6f7345b5f14
- 291 Scott Neuman and John Burnett, "10 Year Old Girl Is Detained by Border Patrol After Emergency Surgery,"NPR. October 26, 2017, available at https://www.npr.org/ sections/thetwo-way/2017/10/26/560149316/10-yearold-girl-is-detained-by-ice-officers-after-emergency-
- 292 Katie Mettler, "'This is really unprecedented': ICE detains woman seeking domestic abuse protection at Texas courthouse," The Washington Post, February 16, 2017, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/ morning-mix/wp/2017/02/16/this-is-really-unprecedented-ice-detains-woman-seeking-domestic-abuseprotection-at-texas-courthouse/?noredirect=on&utm_ term=.c6e9a917ed39

- 293 Vivian Yee, "A Marriage Used to Prevent Deportation. Not Anymore.," The New York Times, April 19, 2018, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2018/04/19/us/ immigration-marriage-green-card.html
- 294 Randy Billings, "Protesters say immigrants are welcome here' as 1,500 rally in Portland to oppose Trump's order," Portland Press Herald. February 1, 2017, available at https://www.pressherald.com/2017/02/01/ portland-crowd-protests-trumps-immigration-orders/; Associated Press, "Chicago seeks to assure immigrants they're welcome in city," The Washington Times, May 22, 2017, available at https://www.washingtontimes. com/news/2017/may/22/chicago-seeks-to-assureimmigrants-theyre-welcome-/; Kate Morrissey, "San Diego wants to be more welcoming to immigrants," The Los Angeles Times, February 3, 2018, available at http://www.latimes.com/local/lanow/la-me-san-diegoimmigration-20180203-story.html;
- Michelle Jamrisko and Eric E. Bloomberg, "Immigrants are very welcome in St. Louis- and much of the Rust Belt," St. Louis Post-Dispatch, March 17, 2017, available at http://www.stltoday.com/business/local/immigrants-are-very-welcome-in-st-louis-and-much-of/ article_b20abb98-9594-5213-8a39-62e201f1b3fe.html; Jim Mendoza, "Amid immigration crackdown, Hawaii seeks sanctuary status," Hawaii News Now, April 18, 2017, available at http://www.hawaiinewsnow.com/ story/35183050/hawaii-closer-to-becoming-welcoming-state; Jazmine Ulloa, "California becomes 'sanctuary state' in rebuke of Trump immigration policy," The Los Angeles Times, October 5, 2017, available at http:// www.latimes.com/politics/la-pol-ca-brown-californiasanctuary-state-bill-20171005-story.html.
- 295 Lisa C. Gee, Matthew Gardner, Misha E. Hill, and Meg Wiehe, "Undocumented Immigrants' State and Local Tax Contributions" (Washington: The Institute on Taxation and Economic Policy, 2017), available at https://itep. org/wp-content/uploads/ITEP-2017-Undocumented-Immigrants-State-and-Local-Contributions.pdf
- 296 New American Economy, "Taxes and Spending Power" (2018), available at https://www.newamericaneconomy.org/issues/taxes-spending-power/
- 297 Derek Hawkins, "A Michigan father, too old for DACA, is deported after three decades in the U.S.," Washington Post, January 16, 2018, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/morning-mix/wp/2018/01/16/ too-old-for-daca-a-michigan-father-is-deported-afterthree-decades-in-the-u-s/?utm_term=.bce41a92cd00.
- 298 Esther Yu Hsi Lee, "Mother of detained 10-year-old girl with cerebral palsy speaks out: 'This is like torture,"' Think Progress, October 26, 2017, available at https:// thinkprogress.org/rosa-maria-mother-speaks-out-8ab8ad55e218/.
- 299 Mehreen Kasana, "Who is Jorge Garcia? The ICE Deported Him After 30 Years in the States," Bustle, January 2018, available at https://www.bustle.com/p/who-isjorge-garcia-the-ice-deported-him-after-30-years-inthe-states-7914251.
- 300 Wang and Sacchetti, "A chemistry professor got his kids ready for school. Then ICE arrested him on his front
- 301 Richard Gonzales, "ICE Detains Alleged Victim of Domestic Abuse at Texas Courthouse," NPR, February 16, 2017, available at https://www.npr.org/sections/ thetwo-way/2017/02/16/515685385/ice-detains-avictim-of-domestic-abuse-at-texas-courthouse.

- 302 Maura Ewing, "Should Taxpayers Sponsor Attorneys for Undocumented Immigrants?" The Atlantic, May 4, 2017, available at https://www.theatlantic.com/politics/ archive/2017/05/should-taxpayers-sponsor-attorneysfor-undocumented-immigrants/525162/ and Sophia Tareen and Amy Taxin, "Cities, counties plan immigrant legal aid after Trump's win." Associated Press. December 19, 2016, available at https://apnews.com/d128dc5 1f06941ef8d327647843b322c/cities-counties-mullimmigrant-legal-fund-after-trumps-win.
- 303 Ingrid Eagly and Steven Shafer, "Access to Counsel in Immigration Court" (Washington, D.C.: American Immigration Council, 2016), available at https://www. americanimmigration council.org/research/accesscounsel-immigration-court.
- 304 Transactional Records Access Clearinghouse, "Children: Amid a Growing Court Backlog Many Still Unrepresented," September 28, 2017, available at http://trac.syr. edu/immigration/reports/482/.
- 305 Eagly and Shafer, "Access to Counsel in Immigration
- 306 New York City, Office of the Mayor, "Fact Sheet: Mayor de Blasio Releases Executive Budget for Fiscal Year 2018," April 26, 2017, available at http://www1.nyc.gov/ office-of-the-mayor/news/267-17/fact-sheet-mayor-deblasio-releases-executive-budget-fiscal-year-2018#/0.
- 307 City of Los Angeles, "Mayor Garcetti Announces Legal Fund to Fight for Immigrant Rights," December 19, 2016, available at https://www.lamayor.org/mayorgarcetti-announces-legal-fund-fight-immigrant-rights.
- 308 New York State, "Governor Cuomo Announces Passage of the FY 2018 State Budget," April 10, 2017, available at https://www.governor.ny.gov/news/governor-cuomoannounces-passage-fy-2018-state-budget.
- 309 City of Chicago, Office of the Mayor, "Mayor Emanuel Creates Legal Protection Fund with National Immigrant Protection Center, Pledges \$1 Million to Start the Fund," December 2, 2016, available at https://www. cityofchicago.org/city/en/depts/mayor/press_room/ press_releases/2016/december/National-Immigrant-Protection-Center.html.
- 310 Washington, D.C., Executive Office of the Mayor, "Mayor Bowser Announces Immigrant Justice Legal Services Grant Program," January 9, 2017, available at https:// mayor.dc.gov/release/mayor-bowser-announcesimmigrant-justice-legal-services-grant-program.
- 311 New York State, "Governor Cuomo Announces Passage of the FY 2018 State Budget."
- 312 Jenny Jarvie, "As Trump and Texas crack down on illegal immigration, the city of Austin rebels," Los Angeles Times, April 14, 2017, available at http://www.latimes. com/nation/la-na-immigration-austin-20170414-story. html.
- 313 City of Los Angeles, "Mayor Garcetti Announces Legal Fund to Fight for Immigrant Rights."
- 314 Liz Robbins, "Mayor and City Council Make Deal on Lawyers for Immigrants," New York Times, July 31, 2017, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2017/07/31/ nyregion/mayor-and-city-council-make-deal-onlawyers-for-immigrants.html.

- 315 Vera Institute of Justice, "SAFE Cities Network Launches: 11 Communities United to Provide Public Defense to Immigrants Facing Deportation," November 9, 2017, available at https://www.vera.org/newsroom/pressreleases/safe-cities-network-launches-11-communitiesunited-to-provide-public-defense-to-immigrantsfacing-deportation.
- 316 California Community Foundation, L.A. Justice Fund, n.d., available at http://www.calfund.org/lajusticefund/.
- 317 The Bronx Defenders, "New York Immigrant Family Unity Project," n.d., available at https://www.bronxdefenders.org/programs/new-york-immigrant-familyunity-project/ (last accessed March 2018).
- 318 Washington, D.C., Executive Office of the Mayor, "Mayor Bowser Announces Immigrant Justice Legal Services Grant Program."
- 319 U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services, "Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals: Response to January 2018 Preliminary Injunction," February 14, 2018, available at https://www.uscis.gov/humanitarian/deferred-actionchildhood-arrivals-response-january-2018-preliminaryinjunction (last accessed March, 2018).
- 320 Robert Warren, "The US Undocumented Population Fell Sharply During the Obama Era: Estimates for 2016," (New York: Center for Migration Studies, 2016), available at http://cmsny.org/publications/warrenundocumented-2016/.
- 321 U.S. Department of Homeland Security, "REAL ID," available at https://www.dhs.gov/real-id (last accessed February 2018). Also see, REAL ID Act of 2005, Public Law 109-13, 109th Congress (January 4, 2005), available at https://www.dhs.gov/xlibrary/assets/real-id-act-text. pdf.
- 322 U.S. Department of Homeland Security, "REAL ID Frequently Asked Questions for the Public," available at https://www.dhs.gov/real-id-public-fags (last accessed February 2018).
- 323 National Immigration Law Center, "State Laws Providing Access to Driver's Licenses or Cards, Regardless of Immigration Status," available at https://www.nilc.org/ wp-content/uploads/2015/11/drivers-license-accesstable.pdf (last accessed February 2018).
- 324 Silva Mathema, "Providing Identification to Unauthorized Immigrants: The State and Local Landscape of Identification for Unauthorized Immigrants," (Washington DC: Center for American Progress, 2015), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ immigration/reports/2015/11/24/126082/providingidentification-to-unauthorized-immigrants/.
- 325 Michele Waslin, "Impacts of Licensing Unauthorized Immigrants: An overview of available research," (Washington D.C.: Pew Charitable Trusts), available at http:// www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/analysis/2015/09/10/impacts-of-licensing-unauthorizedimmigrantsanalysis.
- 326 Mathema, "Providing Identification to Unauthorized Immigrants: The State and Local Landscape of Identification for Unauthorized Immigrants."
- 327 Richmond City ID, "What is the Richmond City ID Prepaid MasterCard?", available at http://www.richmondcityid.com (last accessed February 2018).
- 328 Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Labor Force Statistics from the Current Population Survey," available at https:// www.bls.gov/cps/aa2016/cpsaat49.htm (last accessed February 2016).

- 329 Linda Rabeen, "Credential Recognition in the United States for Foreign Professionals," (Washington DC: Migration Policy Institute, 2013), available at https://www. migrationpolicy.org/research/credential-recognitionunited-states-foreign-professionals.
- 330 Jeanne Batalova, Michael Fix, and James D. Bachmeier, "Untapped Talent: The Costs of Brain Waste among Highly Skilled Immigrants in the United States," (Washington DC: Migration Policy Institute, 2016), available at https://www.migrationpolicy.org/research/untappedtalent-costs-brain-waste-among-highly-skilled-immigrants-united-states.
- 331 National Council of State Legislatures, "Professional and Occupational Licenses for Immigrants," available at http://www.ncsl.org/research/immigration/professional-and-occupational-licenses-for-immigrants.aspx (last accessed February 2018)
- 332 Patrick A. McLaughlin, Matthew D. Mitchell, and Anne Philpot, "The Effects of Occupational Licensure on
- Competition, Consumers, and the Workforce," (Arlington: Mercatus Center, 2017), available at https://www.mercatus.org/system/files/mclaughlin_mitchell_and_philpot_-_mop_-_the_effects_of_occupational_licensure_ comments_for_the_ftc_-_v1.pdf. Also see, Matthew D. Mitchell, "Occupational Licensing and the Poor and Disadvantaged," (Arlington: Mercatus Center, 2017), available at https://www.mercatus.org/publications/ occupational-licensing-and-poor-and-disadvantaged.
- 333 Catholic Legal Immigration Network, INC., "Professional licenses for undocumented immigrants," available at https://cliniclegal.org/resources/professional-licensesundocumented-immigrants (last accessed February 2018).
- 334 National Council of State Legislatures, "Professional and Occupational Licenses for Immigrants."
- 335 Martha Stoddard, "Nebraska Legislature considers adopting resolution supporting DACA." Omaha World-Herald, March 24, 2017, available at http://www. omaha.com/news/legislature/nebraska-legislatureconsiders-adopting-resolution-supporting-daca/ article_d946c2a1-9a83-5eb6-aa13-aa7124a390de.html.
- 336 Tony Cook and Arika Herron, "New practice in Indiana: No professional licenses for DACA recipients," IndyStar, February 27, 2018, available at https:// www.indystar.com/story/news/politics/2018/02/27/ new-practice-indiana-no-professional-licenses-dacarecipients/373717002/.
- 337 Tony Cook, "Holcomb backs legislative effort to allow DACA recipients to get professional licenses," IndyStar, February 27, 2018, available at https://www.indystar. com/story/news/crime/2018/02/27/lawmakersmove-allow-daca-recipients-get-professional-licenses/377232002/.
- 338 U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services, "Approximate Active DACA Recipients: As of March 31, 2018," available at https://www.uscis.gov/sites/default/files/ USCIS/Resources/Reports%20and%20Studies/Immigration%20Forms%20Data/All%20Form%20Types/ DACA/DACA_Expiration_Data_Mar_31_2018.pdf (last accessed April, 2018).
- 339 Matthew Friedman, Ames Grawert, James Cullen, "Crime Trends: 1990-2016" (Washington: Brennan Center for Justice, 2017), available at https://www.brennancenter.org/publication/crime-trends1990-2016.

- 340 Jeremy Travis, Bruce Western, and Steve Redburn, The Growth of Incarceration in the United States: Exploring Causes and Consequences (Washington: The National Academies Press, 2014), available at https://www.nap. edu/read/18613/chapter/15.
- 341 James Cullen, "The United States is (Very) Slowly Reducing Incarceration," Brennan Center for Justice, January 18, 2017, available at https://www.brennancenter.org/ blog/united-states-very-slowly-reducing-incarceration.
- 342 Peter Wagner and Alison Walsh, "States of Incarceration: The Global Context 2016," Prison Policy Initiative, June 16, 2016, available at https://www.prisonpolicy.org/ global/2016.html.
- 343 Peter Wagner and Wendy Sawyer, "Mass Incarceration: The Whole Pie 2018," Prison Policy Initiative, March 14, 2018, available at https://www.prisonpolicy.org/ reports/pie2018.html.
- 344 Rebecca Vallas and Sharon Dietrich, "One Strike and You're Out" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2014), available at https://cdn.americanprogress.org/ wp-content/uploads/2014/12/VallasCriminalRecordsReport.pdf.
- 345 Betsy Pearl and Ed Chung, "Resisting 'Tough on Crime': Smarter Ways to Keep American Cities Safe" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/criminaljustice/news/2018/02/01/445678/resisting-tough-crimesmarter-ways-keep-american-cities-safe/.
- 346 Zirui Song, "Mortality Quadrupled Among Opiod-Driven Hospitalizations, Notable Within Lower-Income and Disabled Populations," Health Affairs, December 2017, available at https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/ abs/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.0689.
- 347 Caroline Grueskin, "Justice reform bills pass the Legislature," Bismarck Tribune, April 20, 2017, available at http://bismarcktribune.com/news/state-andregional/justice-reform-bills-pass-the-legislature/ article 1c0b86f2-473c-5e0b-9548-c35b73f8bcff.html.
- 348 Wagner and Sawyer, "Mass Incarceration: The Whole Pie 2018."
- 349 Peter Wagner, "Jails matter. But who is listening?" Prison Policy Initiative, August 14, 2015, available at https:// www.prisonpolicy.org/blog/2015/08/14/jailsmatter/
- 350 Christopher Lowenkamp, Marie VanNostrand, and Alexander Holsinger, "The Hidden Costs of Pretrial Detention," (Washington: The Arnold Foundation, 2013), available at http://www.arnoldfoundation.org/ wp-content/uploads/2014/02/LJAF_Report_hiddencosts_FNL.pdf.
- 351 Andrew Kahn and Chris Kirk, "What It's Like to Be Black in the Criminal Justice System," Slate, August 9, 2015, available at http://www.slate.com/articles/news_and_ politics/crime/2015/08/racial_disparities_in_the_crimi $nal_justice_system_eight_charts_illustrating.html$
- 352 Nick Pinto, "The Bail Trap," The New York Times, August 13, 2015, available at https://www.nytimes. com/2015/08/16/magazine/the-bail-trap.html
- 353 Ann E. Marimow, "When it comes to pretrial release, few other jurisdictions do it D.C.'s way," The Washington Post, July 4, 2016, https://www. washingtonpost.com/local/public-safety/when-itcomes-to-pretrial-release-few-other-jurisdictions-doit-dcs-way/2016/07/04/8eb52134-e7d3-11e5-b0fd-073d5930a7b7_story.html?utm_term=.4b38378cd838.

- 354 Alysia Santo, "Kentucky's Protracted Struggle to Get Rid of Bail," The Marshall Project, November 12, 2015, available at https://www.themarshallproject. org/2015/11/12/kentucky-s-protracted-struggle-toget-rid-of-bail
- 355 Brentin Mock, "How New Jersey Is Leading the Post-Bail Revolution," CityLab, November 2, 2017, available at https://www.citylab.com/equity/2017/11/how-newjersey-is-leading-the-post-bail-revolution/544691/.
- 356 Pretrial Integrity and Safety Act, S. 1593, 115 Cong. 1 sess. (Government Printing Office, 2017), available at https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senatebill/1593/text?q=%7B%22search%22%3A%5B%22Pretr ial+integrity+and+Safety+Act%22%5D%7D&r=1
- 357 Vallas and Dietrich, "One Strike and You're Out."
- 358 Rebecca Vallas and others, "Removing Barriers to Opportunity for Parents With Criminal Records and Their Children: A Tw-Generation Approach" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2015), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/poverty/ reports/2015/12/10/126902/removing-barriers-toopportunity-for-parents-with-criminal-records-andtheir-children/.
- 359 Rebecca Vallas and others, "Removing Barriers to Opportunity for Parents With Criminal Records and Their Children"; The Federal Interagency Reentry Council, "Children on Incarcerated Parents" (U.S. Department of Justice, 2016), available at https://csgjusticecenter.org/ wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Children-of-Incarcerated-Parents.pdf.
- 360 Cherrie Bucknor and Alan Barber, "The Price We Pay: Economic Costs of Barriers to Employment for Former Prisoners and People Convicted of Felonies," (Washington: Center for Economic and Policy Research, 2016), available at http://cepr.net/images/stories/reports/ employment-prisoners-felonies-2016-06.pdf.
- 361 Alfred Blumstein, Kiminori Nakamura, "Extension of **Current Estimates of Redemption Times: Robustness** Testing, Out-of-State Arrests, and Racial Differences," National Criminal Justice Reference Service, November 2012, available at https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/ grants/240100.pdf
- 362 Center for American Progress analysis of Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Injury Prevention & Control: Data & Statistics (WISQARS): Fatal Injury Data," available at http://www.cdc.gov/injury/wisqars/ fatal_injury_reports.html (last accessed April 2018).
- 363 Center for American Progress analysis of Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Injury Prevention & Control: Data & Statistics (WISQARS): Nonfatal Injury Data," available at https://www.cdc.gov/injury/wisqars/ nonfatal.html (last accessed April 2018).
- 364 Center for American Progress analysis of Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Injury Prevention & Control: Data & Statistics (WISQARS): Fatal Injury Data."
- 366 Ibid. We considered gun homicides and population from 2006 to 2015.
- 367 J.C. Campbell and others, "Risk factors for femicide within physically abuse intimate relationships: results from a multi-state case control study," American Journal of Public Health 93 (2003): 1089-97.

- 368 Petrosky E, Blair JM, Betz CJ, Fowler KA, Jack SP, Lyons BH. Racial and Ethnic Differences in Homicides of Adult Women and the Role of Intimate Partner Violence -United States, 2003-2014. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2017; 66:741-746. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/ mmwr.mm6628a1
- 369 Erin Grinshteyn and David Hemenway, "Violent Death rates: The US Compared with Other High-income OECD Countries, 2010," The American Journal of Medicine 129 (3) (2016): 267.
- 370 Jason Hanna and Lawrence Davidson, "Vermont governor signs sweeping gun control measures," CNN, April 11, 2018, available at https://www.cnn. com/2018/04/11/us/vermont-gun-control/index.html; Ovetta Wiggins, "What passed in Maryland during the legislative session, and what didn't," The Washington Post, April 10, 2018, available at https://www. washingtonpost.com/local/md-politics/what-passedin-maryland-during-the-legislative-session-and-whatdidnt/2018/04/10/969fd29c-3cbb-11e8-974f-aacd-97698cef_story.html?utm_term=.10dbc4e238f9; Ray Sanchez and Holly Yan, "Florida Gov. Rick Scott signs gun bill," CNN, March 9, 2018, available at https://www. cnn.com/2018/03/09/us/florida-gov-scott-gun-bill/ index.html; Connor Radnovich, "Oregon governor signs 'boyfriend loophole' gun bill," Statesman Journal, March 6, 2018, available at https://www.statesmaniournal. com/story/news/politics/2018/03/05/oregon-governorsigns-boyfriend-loophole-gun-bill/397876002/.
- 371 Chelsea Parsons and Eugenio Weigend, "America Under Fire" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ guns-crime/reports/2016/10/11/145830/americaunder-fire/.
- 372 Chelsea Parsons, Arkadi Gerney, and Tim Daly, "Framework for Action" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2015), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/gunscrime/reports/2015/12/15/127399/framework-for-action/.
- 373 18 U.S.C. § 922(g).
- 374 "Make Extreme Risk Protection Orders Available in Every States," (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/guns-crime/reports/2018/03/23/448347/makeextreme-risk-protection-orders-available-every-state/.
- 375 David Montgomery, Richard A. Oppel Jr., and Jose A. Delreal, "Air Force Error Allowed Texas Gunman to Buy Weapons," The New York Times, November 6, 2017, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2017/11/06/us/ texas-shooting-church.html.
- 376 Cynthia Roldan, "Families of Charleston church shooting victims, survivors sue the FBI," The State, July 1, 2016, available at http://www.thestate.com/news/local/ crime/article87238597.html; Michael Luo, "Cho's Mental Illness Should Have Blocked Gun Sale," The New York Times, April 20, 2007, available at http://www.nytimes. com/2007/04/20/us/20cnd-guns.html.
- 377 For more information on the need for prevalidating gun-prohibiting records, see Arkadi Gerney and Chelsea Parsons, "Women Under the Gun: How Gun Violence Affects Women and 4 Policy Solutions to Better Protect Them" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2014), available at https://www.americanprogress. org/issues/guns-crime/reports/2014/06/18/91998/ women-under-the-gun/.
- 378 Bureau of Justice Statistics, "National Criminal History Improvement Program," available at https://www. bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=tp&tid=47; Bureau of Justice Statistics, "2017 NICS Act Record Improvement Program (NARIP)," available at https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/ pdf/FY17NARIPsol.pdf.

- 379 Center for American Progress, "Progressive Policy Wins in the Omnibus," March 23, 2018, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/general/ news/2018/03/23/448398/progressive-policy-winsomnibus/
- 380 Giffords Law Center, "Background Check Procedures," available at http://lawcenter.giffords.org/gun-laws/ policy-areas/background-checks/background-checkprocedures/.
- 381 Everytown for Gun Safety, "Latest Gun Violence Research: States With Background Checks Have Fewer Domestic Violence Homicides, Fewer Police Killed by Guns," available at https://everytown.org/press/latestgun-violence-research-states-with-background-checkshave-fewer-domestic-violence-homicides-fewerpolice-killed-by-guns/.
- 382 Twelve states have enacted laws that either authorize or require surrender of guns following a conviction for a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence: Giffords Law Center, "Domestic Violence & Firearms," available at http://lawcenter.giffords.org/gun-laws/policy-areas/ who-can-have-a-gun/domestic-violence-firearms/.
- 383 Daniel Webster, Jon Vernick, Maria Bulzacchelli, "Effects of a gun dealer's change in sales practices on the supply of guns to criminals," Journal of Urban Health 83 (2006): 778-787.
- 384 For more information about evidence-based violence reduction programs, see Law Center to Prevent Gun Violence, PICO National Network, "Healing Communities in Crisis" (2016), available at http://lawcenter. giffords.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Healing-Communities-in-Crisis-URL.pdf.
- 385 Small Arms Survey (SAS) "The largest civilian firearms arsenals for 178 countries," available at http://www. smallarmssurvey.org/fileadmin/docs/A-Yearbook/2007/ en/Small-Arms-Survey-2007-Chapter-02-annexe-4-EN. pdf; William J. Krouse, "Gun Control Legislation," Congressional Research Service, available at https://fas.org/ sgp/crs/misc/RL32842.pdf.
- 386 Authors' analysis of data from Federal Bureau of Investigation, Uniform Crime Reporting Program Data: Property Stolen and Recovered, 2015 (U.S. Department of Justice, 2017), available at https://www.icpsr.umich. edu/icpsrweb/ICPSR/studies/36792; Federal Bureau of Investigation, Uniform Reporting Program Data: Property Stolen and Recovered, 2014 (U.S. Department of Justice, 2016), available at http://www.icpsr.umich. edu/icpsrweb/NACJD/studies/36392; Federal Bureau of Investigation, Uniform Reporting Program Data: Property Stolen and Recovered, 2013 (U.S. Department of Justice, 2015), available at http://www.icpsr.umich. edu/icpsrweb/NACJD/studies/36123; and Federal Bureau of Investigation, Uniform Reporting Program Data: Property Stolen and Recovered, 2012 (U.S. Department of Justice, 2014), available at http://www.icpsr. umich.edu/icpsrweb/NACJD/studies/35022. In order to estimate the number of firearms based on the value of stolen guns, the authors used an average price of \$450 for every stolen gun. Using this figure results in approximately 300,000 guns stolen each year, which is consistent with findings from David Hemenway and others, "Whose guns are stolen? The epidemiology of Gun theft victims" Injury Epidemiology 4 (11) (2017): 1-5, available at https://injepijournal.springeropen.com/ articles/10.1186/s40621-017-0109-8.
- 387 Center for American Progress analysis of U.S. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, "Federal Firearms Licensees (FFL) Burglary and Robbery Statistics Calendar Year 2012-2016," available at https://www. atf.gov/resource-center/federal-firearms-licensees-fflburglary-and-robbery-statistics-calendar-year-2012.

- 388 U.S. Department of the Treasury and U.S. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, Following the Gun: Enforcing Federal Laws Against Firearms Traffickers (2000), p. 11, table 2, available at http://everytown.org/ wp-content/uploads/2014/08/Following-the-Gun Enforcing-Federal-Laws-Against-Firearms-Traffickers.pdf.
- 389 Center for American Progress analysis of U.S. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, FFL Theft/Loss Reports Matching Firearms Subsequently Recovered and Traced (U.S. Department of Justice, 2014), available at https://www.atf.gov/about/firearms-tracedata-2015; U.S. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, FFL Theft/Loss Reports Matching Firearms Subsequently Recovered and Traced (U.S. Department of Justice, 2013), available at https://www.atf.gov/ about/firearms-trace-data-2015; U.S. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, FFL Theft/Loss Reports Matching Firearms Subsequently Recovered and Traced (U.S. Department of Justice, 2012), available at https:// www.atf.gov/about/firearms-trace-data-2015; U.S. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, FFL Theft/Loss Reports Matching Firearms Subsequently Recovered and Traced (U.S. Department of Justice, 2011), available at https://www.atf.gov/about/firearms-tracedata-2015; U.S. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, FFL Theft/Loss Reports Matching Firearms Subsequently Recovered and Traced (U.S. Department of Justice, 2010), available at https://www.atf.gov/about/ firearms-trace-data-2015.
- 390 ATF is the only federal agency with jurisdiction to provide regulatory oversight over the gun industry and is responsible for issuing licenses to gun dealers as well as ensuring continuing compliance with all federal laws and regulations. However, there is nothing in the current statutory or regulatory authority granted to ATF to allow the agency to require licensed gun dealers to implement any specific security measures.

- 391 Nine states and Washington, DC have enacted laws to require gun dealers to implement some specific security measures: California, Connecticut, Massachusetts, Minnesota, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, and West Virginia: http://lawcenter.giffords.org/gunlaws/policy-areas/gun-sales/gun-dealers/.
- 392 For example, states could implement a voluntary program in which gun stores that implement certain security measures receive a reduction in certain business-related fees or taxes.
- 393 Four states have enacted laws that require secure storage in at least some circumstances: Massachusetts, California, Connecticut, and New York: See Law Center To Prevent Gun Violence, "Safe Storage," available at http:// lawcenter.giffords.org/gun-laws/policy-areas/childconsumer-safety/safe-storage/. 27 states have enacted laws designed to prevent children from accessing guns in the home that generally impose criminal liability on adults who fail to prevent child gun accidents; See Law Center To Prevent Gun Violence, "Child Access Prevention," available at http://lawcenter.giffords.org/ gun-laws/policy-areas/child-consumer-safety/childaccess-prevention/.
- 394 For a more detailed explanation about how the lack of a stolen gun reporting requirement enables gun trafficking, see Daniel Webster, Jon Vernick, Maria Bulzacchelli, "Effects of a gun dealer's change in sales practices on the supply of guns to criminals," Journal of Urban Health, 83 (2006): 778-787.

Our Mission

The Center for American Progress is an independent, nonpartisan policy institute that is dedicated to improving the lives of all Americans, through bold, progressive ideas, as well as strong leadership and concerted action. Our aim is not just to change the conversation, but to change the country.

Our Values

As progressives, we believe America should be a land of boundless opportunity, where people can climb the ladder of economic mobility. We believe we owe it to future generations to protect the planet and promote peace and shared global prosperity.

And we believe an effective government can earn the trust of the American people, champion the common good over narrow self-interest, and harness the strength of our diversity.

Our Approach

We develop new policy ideas, challenge the media to cover the issues that truly matter, and shape the national debate. With policy teams in major issue areas, American Progress can think creatively at the cross-section of traditional boundaries to develop ideas for policymakers that lead to real change. By employing an extensive communications and outreach effort that we adapt to a rapidly changing media landscape, we move our ideas aggressively in the national policy debate.

Center for American Progress